Public Document Pack
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services - Executive Members & Corporate Director Meetings Department
Friday, 21 January 2022 / 2.00 pm

AGENDA

1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interest

3

Exclusion of the public from the meeting during consideration of item(s) # on the grounds
that it/they each involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
paragraph(s) # of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to information)(Variation) Order 2006

Items for Corporate Director decision
4

Whitby Swing Bridge - Review of proposal to close the Swing Bridge
to Road Traffic, with complementary restrictions in neighbouring
Whitby Town Centre by means of an Experimental Traffic Order
(Pages 3 - 66)

Helen Watson

5

Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for
Progression (Pages 67 - 118)

Emily Mellalieu

6

Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council (Pages 119
- 130)

Allan McVeigh

7

Opposed Footpath No. 35.5 23 South Duffield Road to Sand Lane
(Pages 131 - 146)

Penny Noake

8

Opposed Bridleway No. 25.121-027 & Footpath No. 25-121-028 Head
House Farm, Hartoft Diversion Order 2021 (Pages 147 - 154)

Penny Noake

9

Integrated Passenger Transport Fees and Charges (Pages 155 - 176)

Cathy Knight

Items for Executive Member decision
10

Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme
– Business Case Submission - report for publication (Pages 177 200)

Cathy Knight

11

NSIP A66 Northern Trans Pennine - National Highways (Pages 201 218)

Michael Reynolds

Any Other Business
12

Page 1
OFFICIAL

Circulation:
Executive Members
Derek Bastiman
Don Mackenzie

Officer attendees
Karl Battersby
Jane Connolly

Page 2
OFFICIAL

Presenting Officers
Helen Watson
Emily Mellalieu
Allan McVeigh
Penny Noake
Cathy Knight
Michael Reynolds

Agenda Item 4
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 January 2022
Whitby Swing Bridge – review of proposal to close the swing bridge to road traffic,
with complementary restrictions in neighbouring Whitby town centre streets, by
means of an experimental traffic order.
New Quay Road, Bridge Street (Whitby Bridge/‘Whitby swing bridge’), Grape Lane, St
Ann’s Staith, Haggersgate, Pier Road and Khyber Pass, Whitby
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of report

1.1

To present the findings of a review of the experimental traffic scheme which
commenced on 2 April 2021.

2.0

Background

2.1

During 2020, the general need to provide for socially distanced pedestrian access to
respond to the Covid pandemic highlighted an already existing issue of conflict
between pedestrian and vehicular use of Whitby Swing Bridge. A multiagency task
group, which included the police, borough and county councils, met regularly and
recommended the swing bridge should be closed to all motorised and non-motorised
vehicular traffic between 10:30am to 6pm every weekend to facilitate social
distancing. The task group also considered that it was necessary to place a traffic
operative at the entrance to St Ann’s Staith/Pier Road every day, to enforce the
existing restrictions there, which stipulate that only vehicles requiring essential
access are permitted between 10:30am to 6pm between 23 March and 30
September. These Covid-related actions were implemented by the local highways
office in Whitby through a Temporary Traffic Order which remained in force until the
end of October last year.

2.2

The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 S122 places a duty on the council as the
Traffic Authority to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of
vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians). Prior to the pandemic it had
already been recognised by the police and the local highways office that changes
were likely to be needed in this location.

2.3

Whitby Swing Bridge is an historic structure that the County Council is responsible for
the maintenance of, it is wide enough for one way traffic only and is currently
controlled by traffic signals. There are footways on either side but these are narrow.
Numbers of pedestrians can often be so great that the narrow footways are
inadequate, even at only moderately busy times, and pedestrians overspill into the
carriageway area. Even at quieter times, where pedestrians are two abreast, anyone
wishing to pass needs to step into the carriageway to do so.

2.4

In 2019 and years previous the County Council via its local highways office, with the
support of the police, regularly closed Whitby swing bridge to vehicular traffic using a
Traffic Order, in the interests of highway safety at times of heavy pedestrian footfall.
For example, in 2019 the swing bridge was closed to traffic on 13 weekends. The
closures have often happened with short notice to highway users. It is acknowledged

Page 3

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

that closures at short notice can be inconvenient for the people and businesses of
Whitby and its visitors as well as being cumbersome to manage for the County
Council. A more consistent approach to controlling use of the swing bridge is
considered desirable in a practical sense and is indeed essential if the local highway
authority is to continue to fulfil its duties to secure safe movement for highway users.
3.0

Commencement of the Experimental Order

3.1

On 12 March 2021, an experimental traffic regulation order (ETRO) was approved,
which would take effect on street once appropriate signage was in place, enacting
the following restrictions which are shown on the plan at Appendix A.
a)
St Ann's Staith, Haggersgate, Pier Road and Khyber Pass - the previous
seasonal (23 March to 30 September) ‘access only’ traffic regulation order,
prohibiting all motorised vehicles except for access between 10:30am and
4:00pm, would be amended and extended to apply all year round. Access
would continue to be permitted for buses, taxis, loading & emergency vehicles,
and for residents of properties and businesses that can only be accessed using
St Ann’s Staith. Blue badge holders would be able to access the disabled
parking bays on St Ann’s Staith, Pier Road and Khyber Pass.
b)
Swing Bridge - prohibition of all vehicles including ridden cycles between
10:30am and 4:00pm weekends and bank holidays only. Enforcement was to
be by means of cameras and penalty notices issued via the post for any drivers
who pass over the swing bridge in contravention of the restrictions.
c)
Grape Lane – proposed ‘pedestrian zone’ a prohibition of all motorised vehicles
between 10:30am and 4:00pm every day.

3.2

For all of the above, it should be noted that emergency vehicles would have a
general exemption from any restrictions on vehicular use.

3.3

A report to Business and Environmental Services Executive Members on 12 March
2021 provides further background and reasoning for the commencement of this
experimental scheme.

3.4

Item b) was implemented on Good Friday, 2 April 2021. The signage for the changes
to a) St Ann's Staith, Haggersgate, Pier Road and Khyber Pass and c) Grape Lane
have not been erected, and so these parts of the experiment have not been
implemented.

3.5

Drivers wishing to avoid the swing bridge restrictions approaching from the west side
can turn at Langborne Road roundabout. Approaching from the east side, there was
nowhere for drivers to turn.

3.6

Whilst not part of the highway, with permission from the Borough Council, the permitholders-only car park at Tin Ghaut (potato market) was repurposed as a turning area
for the east side, with loading, disabled and taxi bays marked out. Tin Ghaut permit
holders were accommodated in the Borough Council’s Church Street pay and display
car park adjacent, although this resulted in the loss of 35 pay and display parking
spaces that ordinarily would be open to members of the public.

3.7

As detailed in the report dated 12 March 2021, issues surrounding the impact the
closure of the swing bridge may have had on the local bus service had not been
resolved at that time. This was a major factor in commencing the experimental
closures of the swing bridge incrementally, beginning on 2 April 2021 with weekend
and bank holiday only, which allowed time for the issues surrounding the local bus
service to be resolved.

Page 4

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.0

Progression of the experimental order to daily closures to traffic for the swing
bridge

4.1

A briefing note to the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental Services
dated 29 July 2021 examined reasoning for proceeding with varying the experimental
closures of the swing bridge to seven days a week commencing 20 August 2021, but
with an exemption for the local service bus and for those responding to an
emergency call-out.

4.2

Accordingly, on 29 July 2021, an amendment to the experimental traffic regulation
order (ETRO) was approved, which would take effect on street once appropriate
signage was in place, enacting the following restrictions which are shown on the plan
at Appendix B.
a)
Swing Bridge – extend the existing ‘prohibition of vehicles’ weekend/bank
holiday 10:30am to 4:00pm traffic regulation order to seven days a week until
and including 31 October 2021, with an exemption for buses and vehicles
travelling to attend an emergency, seven days a week. From 1 November
2021, the swing bridge element of the experimental scheme would then revert
to weekends and bank holiday closures for the remainder of the trial period.
b)
Tin Ghaut turning area – to introduce advisory spaces for two taxis for the use
of Hackney Carriages
c)
Grape Lane, Whitby - introduce a ‘prohibition of waiting at any time’ and a
‘prohibition of loading’ seven days a week from 10:30am to 4:00pm restriction.
Both restrictions to extend the full length of Grape Lane, both sides

4.3

Items a) and b) have been implemented. The signs for item c) have not been
erected, so c) has not been implemented.

4.4

A summary of the various restrictions put in place on the swing bridge between 2
April and 31 October is shown in table 1.

Table 1:
Start date
Swing bridge;
closures to
traffic 10:3016:00
2 April 2021 'Weekend and
bank holiday only'
closures.
No exemptions
(all vehicles
prohibited
including local
service bus and
call-out
volunteers)

Dates of closure (all
2021)

Method used to sign road
closure.

April 2, 3, 4, 5
Easter weekend

Roadworks style signs, (see
Appendix C) placed at
10:30am, attended for the
duration of the closure by
North Yorkshire County
Council highways contractors
and removed at 16:00.

April 10,11
April 17,18
April 24, 25
May 1, 2, 3
May 8, 9
May 15, 16
May 22, 23,
May 29, 30, 31
June 5, 6
June 12, 13
June 19, 20
June 26, 27
July 3, 4

Roadworks style signs placed
at 10:30am by North
Yorkshire County Council
highways contractors, no
personnel in attendance
during the day, contractors
attended at 16:00 to remove
road closure signs.

Page 5

On busy days, highways
contractors attended from
16:00 until as late as 18:00 in
order to leave road closure

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

July 10, 11
July 17, 18
July 24, 25
July 31, August 1
August 7, 8
August 14, 15
20 August
2021

2 October
2021

Daily swing
bridge closures.
All vehicles
prohibited
EXCEPT local
service bus and
call-out
volunteers

'Weekend and
bank holiday only'
closures.
All vehicles
prohibited
EXCEPT local
service bus and
call-out
volunteers

August 20,
August 21, 22, 23 Whitby
Regatta,
August 24, 25, 26, 27, 28,
29, August 30 bank
holiday weekend,
August 31, September 1,
2, 3, 4, 5
September 6, 7, 8, 9
September 10, 11, 12
September 13, 14, 15, 16,
17, 18, 19
September 20, 21, 22, 23,
24, 25, 26
September 27, 28, 29, 30

on for longer when high
footfall made this necessary.
Decisions on time of reopening made by local
highways team.
An example of exceptionally
high pedestrian numbers
affecting the reopening time
is August bank holiday
weekend. The bridge was
kept closed to traffic to 17:30
on Saturday 28 August and
18:00 on Sunday 29 August.

Electronic, trailer-mounted
variable message signs (see
Appendix D)

October 2, 3, 9, 10, 16, 17, Electronic, trailer-mounted
23, 24, 30, 31 Goth
variable message signs (see
Weekend
Appendix D)

5.0

Swing Bridge road closure management 2 April – 15 August 2021

5.1

From 2 April until 15 August 2021, at the point of closure, metal ‘road closed’ signs
were used with ‘road closed ahead’ signs in advance (see Appendix C). For the
Easter weekend, the closure points were attended to ensure compliance, but having
established a good level of compliance, contractor attendance between 10:30 and
16:00 was ceased after Easter Monday. Having operatives in attendance is costly
and this was a factor considered.

5.2

From 10 April onwards, the ‘roadworks’ type road closure signs were placed at 10:30
by North Yorkshire County Council highways contractors and removed at 16:00. On
busy days, highways contractors attended from 16:00 until as late as 18:00 in order
to leave road closure on for longer when high footfall made this necessary.
Decisions on the time of the re-opening of the highway were made by the local
highways team. This arrangement continued until 15 August 2021.

5.3

‘Roadworks’ type signing, suited to emergency closures has always been used in the
past for swing bridge road closures, which in all previous years has been undertaken
on an emergency basis, rather than a planned basis. It was necessary to use this
type of signing whilst the local highway team worked on the design of permanent
signing.

Page 6

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.4

As enforcement of moving traffic offences is the jurisdiction of the police, any
permanent signage needs to be clear to drivers as well as comply with legislation for
the design of signs. It took some time to achieve both those aims. The local
highways team, in consultation with the police, settled on a map-type sign which was
capable of indicating the varying prohibitions and which could be changed as the
restrictions changed.

5.5

Closing the swing bridge effectively makes the East and West sides of Whitby cul-desac, with the only exception being for traffic on the west side which has a legitimate
access need to travel onward to St Ann’s Staith, Haggersgate, Pier Road and Khyber
Pass.

5.6

Given all alternative routes adjacent the swing bridge also have restrictions, drivers
needed to be given advance warning of;

St Ann’s Staith (time sensitive prohibition of driving except for access);

The swing bridge (structural weight limit and time sensitive prohibition of
driving); and

Upper Church Street (time sensitive weight limits, prohibition of driving except
for access)

5.7

However, lead–in times for manufacture and installation of signing, capable of
displaying messages that can indicate the changing prohibitions according to the time
of day and day of the week, meant that the permanent signs required by the police to
back up any enforcement could not be provided within the timescales of the
experiment. Two temporary, trailer mounted electronic signs were used instead for
this purpose from 20 August, see Appendix D.

5.8

Automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the swing bridge
restriction, or red light camera enforcement were both explored, and although neither
could be implemented within the lifetime of the experiment, having automatic
enforcement of some kind remains a goal. It would be of benefit each time the swing
bridge needs to be closed to traffic, whether this was on a pre-planned or reactive
basis. There are no outstanding data protection issues. It is recognised that this will
need to be reviewed if/when camera enforcement of the swing bridge restrictions are
taken forward.

6.0

Car park management 2 April – 31 October 2021

6.1

The Borough Council’s off-street car parks in Whitby fall into 3 geographical sectors,
and fill according to their proximity to the town centre. Harbour car parks fill first, then
West Cliff and lastly Abbey Headland on the east side. The County Council’s Park
and Ride is located on the western outskirt of Whitby, on Guisborough Road. The
Park and Ride would tend to become full after Westcliff car parks but before Abbey
Headland.

6.2

With the swing bridge closed, once the harbour car parks become full it is not easy
for visitors to find their way to the alternative car parks at West Cliff and Abbey
Headland. At busy times in the past, Bagdale and Langborne Road can become
heavily congested with vehicles queueing hoping to find harbour parking
spaces/leaving when they find it is full.

6.3

Visitors who know the area and who have driven to the harbour area car parks only
to find they are full may be tempted to ignore the ‘prohibition of driving except for
access’ restrictions on St Ann’s Staith/Pier Road/Haggersgate/Khyber Pass in order
to access West Cliff car parks. Additionally, the closure of the swing bridge makes
the route to Abbey Headland longer and more circuitous to navigate.

Page 7

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

6.4

It was important therefore that, when the swing bridge is closed, as car parks fill up
drivers are informed well in advance of the closest available parking and directed to
their destination along as short a route as possible, along routes which avoid the
swing bridge and St Ann’s Staith/Pier Road/Haggersgate/Khyber Pass.

6.5

The County Council’s Park and Ride site was not included in the experimental car
park management signing scheme. This was because all drivers arriving in Whitby
will already have had the opportunity to choose Park & Ride, as there are multiple
static signs on the outskirts of Whitby alerting drivers to the presence of it as an
option.

6.6

From 2 April 2021, five trailer mounted variable message signs were used to direct
drivers to the nearest available car park sector. (Appendix C showing VMS
placement and messaging) Display of messages was not automatic, ie numbers of
arriving/leaving vehicles were not being counted by equipment, as would be the case
for a permanent scheme, as there was not time or the available budget to implement
such a scheme. Instead, Scarborough Borough Council’s civil enforcement officers
notified a member of the highways team when harbour car parks became full, and
again when West Cliff car parks became full, and the variable message sign displays
were then changed by a member of the local highways team.

6.7

From May 2021 onwards, Scarborough Borough Council’s civil enforcement officers
were able to control the variable message signs themselves in order to direct drivers
to the most appropriate car park. A member of the highways team was on hand to
check sign messages were displaying correctly and to reset all the signs at the end of
the day.

7.0

Swing Bridge Road closure management 20 August – 30 September 2021

7.1

Officers used the intervening time between 2 April and 30 July to observe driver
behaviour, and devise various changes to the set-up and signing of the experiment.
The intention of ending use of the ‘road closed’ and ‘road closed ahead’ metal signs
and the need for any personnel to be routinely attending site to place them or collect
them was resolved by moving to electronic versions of the permanent ‘map-type’
signs.

7.2

On 20 August two trailer-mounted variable message signs were put in place in
advance of the both sides of the swing bridge and displayed the map-type signs
giving drivers advance warning of the various prohibitions on the routes ahead.
These were timed/controlled to show the correct display according to time of day and
day of the week. See Appendix E.

7.3

The plate signs either side of the swing bridge were changed to reflect the changed
restrictions on the bridge; daily 10:30 to 16:00 prohibition of vehicles, with an
exemption for the local service bus.

7.4

The traffic signals on the swing bridge were re-configured so that they stayed on ‘allred’ between the hours of 10:30 and 16:00 each day.

7.5

A practical solution was required to the issue of providing the legal exemption for the
local service bus and those attending an emergency such as RNLI volunteers who,
unlike police/fire/ambulance, do not have authority to proceed though a red traffic
signal. Special fobs were given to the local bus service and to emergency
responders such as RNLI and coastguard, along with instructions for those with fobs
on how to use them. On arriving at the stop line, a driver with a fob should wait a few
seconds for the signals to change to green. They should then proceed to drive
carefully over the bridge.

Page 8

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

7.6

However, on the first of the daily closures (Friday 20 August 2021), the local
highways team observed that drivers were ignoring the new signs. Drivers were also
ignoring the red traffic signals and driving through. Some drivers were following the
local bus service when it received a green signal.

7.7

After speaking to a number of drivers about why they were not adhering to the
restriction, a decision was immediately taken to continue placing the metal ‘road
closed’ and ‘road closed ahead’ metal signs until an alternative method could be
found. Judging by some of the comments made by drivers, it was evident that some
had perhaps over recent years and months grown so used to seeing metal ‘road
closed’ and ‘road closed ahead’ signs each time the swing bridge was closed to
traffic, and were not expecting to have to look out for any other signage.

7.8

From 9 September 2021, additional trailer mounted variable message signs were
deployed that could be used to display an electronic ‘Road closed except buses’ and
‘road closed ahead’ message, and the use of the metal signs at the closure points
stopped. See Appendix F.

7.9

The electronic signs that were in place for the swing bridge closure and the guide to
car parks with spaces were used for other purposes than just the swing bridge road
closures. They were used to display bespoke messaging for;
Whitby Regatta’s closures of Pier Road, in advance of the closures and during
them.

Swing Bridge planned maintenance work, which necessitated one evening
closure for vehicles and another for vehicles and pedestrians. The county
council’s Bridges and Structures team have carried out regular maintenance
work to improve the resilience of the structure and to minimise the number of
breakdowns and the length of time that there is disruption when it does
unfortunately breakdown. However, like any complex mechanical system this
bridge can fail in service and there are arrangements in place that allow the
failure to be quickly identified and resolved. The signs were again used to give
advance warning of the upcoming evening disruption and to indicate when the
closure was live. A particular benefit was that as soon as the maintenance
works were complete, it was possible to remove all warning signs through the
town by changing the message on the signs remotely. Taking down warning
signs manually would have taken an hour or more and would have required
operatives to be on duty ready to carry out this task as it was not possible to
predict exactly when the bridge would be ready to be reopened to highway
users.

One instance of a swing bridge breakdown occurred in the daytime during the
trial period; the highways team were ready to deploy message wording to warn
drivers, but the issue with the swing bridge was remedied before the bridge
was due to reopen to traffic at 16:00 and so the messages were not needed.

8.0

Swing bridge road closure management 1 October – 31 October 2021

8.1

Following consultation with the local member Cllr Plant, the weekday element of the
experiment was ceased on 30 September. The weekend only closure arrangement
continued until 31 October 2021, which was the last day of swing bridge road
closures.

Page 9

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

9.0

Grape Lane Restrictions

9.1

Following the decisions to implement various new restrictions on Grape Lane, but
before the relevant signs were erected, the local highways office continued to receive
concerns from those with loading or access needs on Grape Lane, including the
Captain Cook Memorial Museum. The comments referred to the lack of availability of
the loading area at Tin Ghaut, partly due to the fact that it has not been possible to
apply enforceable restrictions to Tin Ghaut. This is because any restrictions within
Tin Ghaut would have to be administered by the Borough Council, and the legal
timeframe for doing so would have run outside the life of the experimental scheme.
Officers, working alongside officers from the Borough Council, would be able to
devise permanent and enforceable restrictions for Tin Ghaut as part of progressing
further design work.

10.0

Observations/Data Gathered During the Experimental Period

10.1

Traffic count surveys and pedestrian footfall snapshots were gathered on various
dates throughout the experimental period. It has not been possible to assess all the
data gathered, but a summary of the most pertinent data is given in Appendix F. In
due course, more of the gathered data will be used to inform the designers as part of
progressing further design work.

11.0

Whitby east side - effect on Spital Bridge junction

11.1

Table 2 – Turning Counts, measured in passenger car equivalents/units (PCUs) at
Spital Bridge Junction (see Appendix F) compares 10:30-16:00 on 5 August (a day
when the bridge was open to traffic) with 10:30-16:00 on 26 August (when the bridge
was closed). The following changes were observed for Spital Bridge:

Spital Bridge to Abbots Road saw a reduction in traffic by 17%

Spital Bridge to New Bridge saw an increase in traffic by 25%

Spital Bridge to Larpool Lane increased slightly by 5 vehicles.

Spital Bridge to Heredale Road decreased by 22% (likely to be due to the
eastbound trips which would normally have used the swing bridge)

Larpool lane to Spital Bridge saw a reduction of 28%

New Bridge to Spital Bridge saw an increase in traffic movements by 32% (219
movements)

Abbots Road to Spital Bridge saw a reduction in traffic by 28%

Heredale Road to Spital Bridge decreased by 30%.

11.2

Between the hours of 10:30 -16:00, the number of vehicles travelling south along
Spital Bridge to reach Helredale Road and New Bridge on the A171 on 5 August was
1273, increasing to 1301 when the bridge was closed on 26 August. Whilst this may
seem comparable, it should be noted that Whitby traction rally took place on 4, 5 and
6 August and this will have increased the traffic levels surveyed on 5 August.

11.3

The two-way traffic flow on A171 Helredale Road remained consistent on both survey
days.

11.4

Looking at the traffic volumes travelling straight ahead on the A171 between the
hours of 10:30 -16:00 on 26 August 2021;

11.5

Inbound; 3492 vehicles travelled from Helredale Road to New Bridge, this equates to
1 vehicle every 6 seconds.

11.6

Outbound; 3650 vehicles travelled from New Bridge to Helredale Road; this equates
to 1 vehicle every 5.5 seconds.

Page 10

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

11.7

Between the hours of 10:30 -16:00 on 26 August, when the swing bridge was closed,
there was an increase in the number of vehicles turning right onto New Bridge (156
vehicles) and a decrease in the number of vehicles turning left onto Helredale Road
(125 vehicles)

11.8

Traffic turning out of the side roads Spital Bridge and Larpool Lane has to seek gaps
in the traffic flow on the A171 and, at busy times, this results in side road delay and
drivers perhaps taking risks if they feel they have been waiting a long time for a gap.

11.9

To summarise, the impact of the bridge closure has resulted in the number of
vehicles travelling from the Spital Bridge arm of the junction to New Bridge to
increase due to reallocation of traffic. This right turn movement is likely to have an
adverse impact on junction performance.

12.0

Whitby west side - effect on other routes

12.1

The turning counts at the Whitby Bridge / New Quay Road / Baxtergate junction have
been analysed in order to compare the traffic flows when the bridge was open (5
August) and when the bridge was closed to traffic (26 August).

12.2

Table 3 in Appendix F summarises the data and provides a comparison. The data
illustrates that overall compliance with the road closure is being followed; it should be
noted that any vehicles travelling through the restriction may be emergency vehicles.
However, due to the road closure, traffic is re-distributed across the network, mostly
by vehicles making u-turns on New Quay Road (450% increase or 99 vehicles) or
along Baxtergate (increase of 18 vehicles).

12.3

The traffic from New Quay Road towards Pier Road decreased by 6.96% during the
closure period, therefore it can be concluded that for the day of survey on 26 August
the swing bridge being closed did not result in an increase in traffic using Pier Road
instead.

12.4

Prior to the start of the weekend/bank holiday only closures on 2 April 2021, and prior
to the subsequent change to daily closures on 20 August 2021, over 800 letters were
delivered to properties in the vicinity of the swing bridge, a notice was placed in the
press and a press statement was issued. The dedicated web page on the County
Council’s website was updated which contained a link to a free-text questionnaire for
responders to give their comments.

12.5

The consultation was open to all to give their views. Comments have been accepted
since 1 April 2021 and will continue to be accepted until the end of the consultation
period.

13.0

Consultation Outcome

13.1

Responses from Statutory consultees:-

13.2

Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA)
During the December 2020 consultation, the local area highways office had been
made aware by a driving instructor that all driving tests from Whitby used the swing
bridge as part of their routes.

Page 11 NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

13.2.1 When the swing bridge was being closed on weekends and bank holidays, this did
not affect driving tests, it was when the daily closures began that the local highways
office learned via social media that the driving test centre in Whitby had been closed,
with a comment that it would remain closed whilst the swing bridge was closed on
weekdays. Communication between the local highways office and the DVSA
confirmed that all candidates with affected tests had been relocated to Scarborough
test centre, with test dates and times not affected in most cases.
13.2.2 Officers from the local highways office met with representatives from the DVSA in
December 2021 to understand the difficulties the experimental scheme had caused
the driving test centre.
13.2.3 The driving test centre in Whitby operates one day a week, usually a Tuesday or
another weekday early in the week. Thursdays and Fridays would not usually be
used due to the DVSA finding that Whitby is generally more congested later in the
week. Seven tests would be carried out per day.
13.2.4 All the test routes begin by using either the swing bridge or Spital Bridge junction.
Therefore on days when the swing bridge is closed, only test routes that use Spital
Bridge junction can be driven and the delay as a result of build-up of additional traffic
at Spital Bridge junction reduced the time available within the test to such as degree
that it was not possible to carry out all the necessary aspects of the driving test within
a 30 minute rolling time. It is not possible to devise alternative routes, as these would
not contain sufficient candidate challenge to comply with legal requirements.
13.2.5 The DVSA operates a booking system 24 weeks in advance, so would ideally would
require at least this much notice of any scheduled road closures in order to avoid
rescheduling driving test appointments.
13.2.6 As the frequency of travel over the swing bridge would be low, providing the driving
examiner with a fob to operate the signals (as has been provided to the bus
company) may be a solution. However, officers would need to determine whether an
exemption could be legally made in the traffic regulation order.
13.2.7 Officers agreed to keep in regular contact with the DVSA representative’s when/if
design work progresses, with the aim of the local highway office finding a solution for
the swing bridge scheme which protects the future continuation of driving tests in
Whitby.
13.3

Arriva, RNLI and Coastguard
During the December 2020 consultation, Arriva expressed significant concerns that
the number 95 bus service would be at risk, if it was prohibited from using the swing
bridge. Likewise, RNLI and Coastguard expressed concern that their volunteers
would be unable to travel quickly to an emergency call out if they were prohibited
from using the swing bridge.

13.3.1 A remedy was found to this before daily closures of the swing bridge commenced by
providing Arriva, RNLI and the Coastguard with special key fobs which allow them to
call a green signal when the swing bridge is closed to all other traffic and the traffic
signals rest on ‘all red’.

Page 12

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

13.3.2 Arriva have commented that ‘The change had to happen for safety purposes due to
foot traffic alone not counting the traffic. The congestion into Whitby (for the number
95 service) through the town was a lot better (during the experiment) than it has ever
been, with the fobs there were teething errors but these were corrected straight away
and worked as they meant to. Routine and communication was key to the success
and this happened. The experiment worked a lot better than expected. Customers
on board accepted then liked the change purely due to less congestion.’
13.3.3 Negatives were; ‘locals, taxis and delivery vans following buses through (when buses
called a green signal), extra signage/information to drivers may be needed out there
on Church Street end. Swing Bridge opening for river traffic, at times can be
repeatedly opened which can cause delays for us.’
13.3.4 RNLI and Coastguard would naturally be unlikely to need to use their fobs often,
there have been no concerns raised by either organisation to date.
13.4

Scarborough Borough Council Licencing Services
Licencing services have received comments from taxi drivers and would welcome the
local highway authority reviewing whether it is appropriate to make any exceptions for
taxis, particular Hackney carriages if/when the scheme designs are taken further.

13.5

No other comments from Statutory consultees have been received.

13.6

County Councillor
The local county member for Whitby Town is Cllr Plant. Cllr Plant has made number
of points and these are detailed in paragraphs 13.6.1 to 13.6.6 below;

13.6.1 I said at the beginning closing the swing bridge to traffic during this experiment was
always going to raise challenges and it has proved the case, but It was right to carry
out the experiment, which has allowed everyone to see the effects in practice, and I
am grateful that we had such a large and detailed response from everyone who
contacted the council with their views.
13.6.2 I support the recommendation to bring the experiment to an end, and to continue with
the design work to find an appropriate long-term solution.
13.6.3 The problems that occur at the swing bridge at busy times are not going to go
away. Officers will be able to draw on all the information collected during the
experiment as they develop the scheme further.
13.6.4 I feel it is important that an improvement to Spital Bridge junction is included in any
further discussions, as the data gathered quite clearly shows there has clearly been
an impact there.
13.6.5 The report also shows that we need the improvement for the Spital Bridge junction in
place before any appropriate long term solution is found, otherwise I feel we will end
up with the same result.
13.6.6 I also request that there is a further consultation with the public if and when the
design is worked up and their views are taken into account like they have on this
occasion.

Page 13 NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

13.6.7 Officer comment
Cllr Plant’s views are welcomed and noted. However, whilst it may seem ideal to
implement a junction improvement for Spital Bridge ahead of any long term solution
for the swing bridge being found, it is unlikely that funding could be made available
for Spital Bridge junction in isolation. Any funding would need to be part of an
approved package of measures that also included the swing bridge and, if
appropriate, surrounding streets.
13.7

Comments received from members of the public
At the time of writing this report, a total of 530 responses had been received between
2 April 2021 and 5 January 2022. 457 responses (86%) were received via the
questionnaire on the dedicated webpage.
The remaining 73 responses (14%) were received by email or post at the local
highways office at Whitby. As the consultation period is still live, any responses
received after 5 January 2022 will be reported verbally at the meeting.

Of those responding, 393 (75%) identified themselves as being a local resident.

86 (16%) identified themselves as representing a local business.

60 (11%) as visiting/on holiday

17 (3%) as none of the above, some were owners of property in Whitby or past
residents of Whitby.

14 respondents (3%) identified themselves as having a disability. It should be
noted that the questionnaire did not specifically ask respondents if they had a
disability.

Appendix F contains the 29 main themes mentioned by members of the public,
number of respondents mentioning those themes in their responses, together
with officer comment.

13.7.1 Copies of all the responses received can be made available at the meeting for the
members to view
13.8

It can be seen from Appendix F that the six most often cited themes/comments (with
frequency of mention in brackets) were;

(312) Junction improvement needed for Spital Bridge

(162) Detrimental effects on congestion and journey times

(106) A view that the needs of visitors are being placed ahead of local people

(91) Supportive of weekend /bank holiday/some closures

(65) A view that pedestrians should stay on the footpaths on swing bridge, that
guardrail could be added to the footways to keep pedestrians off the road/ that
pedestrians should adhere to one way (Covid) signage

(56) Full support/support for ongoing daily closures

13.9

It is worth noting that a significant number of respondents suggested alternative
measures should be put in place, with many respondents suggesting the same or
similar solutions.

13.10 The most frequently mentioned alternative solutions (with frequency of mention in
brackets) were;

(65) A view that pedestrians should stay on the footpaths on swing bridge, that
guardrail cold be added to the footways to keep pedestrians off the road/ that
pedestrians should adhere to one way (Covid) signage

(43) Pressures on parking in residential streets/need more Park & Ride/need
more parking/why were drivers not directed to P&R

(20) Why can’t taxi's be allowed across the bridge as buses are/higher taxi
fares/effect on taxis

(19) Construct a new wider bridge/a new pedestrian only bridge

Page 14

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE




(13) Would like to see a larger traffic-free area (the majority mention St Ann’s
Staith/Pier Road)
(6) Suggests a one way system for traffic over the bridge East to West

13.11 See Appendix G for officer comment on the suitability of these suggestions.
13.12 Furthermore, there were 20 further responses which mentioned a variety of other
solutions, and although these were mentioned with very low frequency, the
suggestions and officer comment can be seen at Appendix J.
14.0

Conclusion

14.1

The experimental order period has provided a great deal of new information about
the public’s views, driver behaviour, and actual data on vehicle and pedestrian
movement patterns throughout a summer ‘season’. The experiment has worked well
in terms of giving greater priority to pedestrians at times of heavy footfall in the
interests of safety.

14.2

The period of weekend /bank holiday only closures, followed by daily closures and
then a further period of weekend only closures has enabled a variety of useful data to
be collected.

14.3

Given the popularity of Whitby as a tourist destination, at times the swing bridge will
always require closure to traffic to secure the safety of pedestrians, whether that is
due to public events or times of exceptionally high pedestrian footfall.

14.4

32% of the 527 respondents voiced support for the scheme. These were made up of;

17% (91) Supportive of weekend /bank holiday/some closures (but not daily)

11% (56) Full support/support for ongoing daily closures and

4% (23) Support for scheme as long as improvements made to Spital Bridge

14.5

However, the experiment highlighted that some groups are more adversely impacted
than others. The main groups appear to be;
Local residents, businesses and those making deliveries - inconvenienced by
having to drive the alternative route when the swing bridge is closed.

Those using taxis/taxi drivers - higher fares, longer journeys.

Those driving to reach recipients of care - longer journeys, higher costs.

Driving instructors, driving lesson pupils, driving test pupils – lack of driving
tests at Whitby during the weekday closures of the swing bridge, leading to
pupils having to reschedule their driving tests or travel elsewhere to an
unfamiliar town to take their test there.

Those who would usually seek parking in Church Street car park, and those
locals who are perhaps seeing the effect of parking displaced from the car park
to adjacent residential streets. Anglers who embark to charter fishing boats
from the east side were one clear group voicing this view.

Bus passengers – between 2 April and 15 August the local service bus was
unable to travel across the swing bridge. However, a remedy for this was
implemented commencing 20 August when the local service bus was exempted
from the swing bridge restrictions.

14.6

One point worth noting is that it appears many drivers have come to expect the
red/white ‘road closed’ messages, as these has been historically used every time the
swing bridge has been closed to traffic for the past 5+ years.

Page 15 NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

14.7

The survey of Whitby Bridge / New Quay Road Junction on 5 August 2021 confirmed
that a large number of vehicles disregarded the ETRO signage on the approach to
Whitby Swing Bridge from New Quay Road evidenced by the large increase in
vehicles who made a U-turn movement; the data shows that U-turn movements
increased by 450% (from 22 to 121) during the closure period.

14.8

Additionally, drivers in Whitby, particularly visitors, are faced with many visual
distractions, advertisements, and large numbers of pedestrians and may also be
following sat nav instructions. The consequence of this is that whilst drivers have a
responsibility to observe and adhere to road signs, the potential for them to be
missed exists. This explains the high numbers of drivers arriving at the swing bridge
when it was closed, particularly on the west side, only to then have to turn around or
break the restriction on St Ann’s Staith to travel towards West Cliff.

14.9

Whilst the experimental scheme has allowed road users to contact the local highways
office with their views on the benefits and disbenefits of closing the swing bridge to
traffic, officers do not recommend that the scheme is made permanent in its current
form.

14.10 If a future version of the scheme is to be taken forward, and if funding is made
available to implement it, it would be beneficial to all road users if any future scheme
did not rely so heavily on signing alone. A scheme involving a change to the
streetscape or the re-routing of ‘through’ traffic so that it does not naturally approach
the swing bridge or St Ann’s Staith or Church Street would appear to be more
intuitive.
14.11 Whilst it is preferable to settle on regular times for road closures to provide
consistency, there are occasions when highways does have to react to certain events
or footfall. Good weather is probably the biggest factor apart from school holidays in
predicting heavy footfall.
14.12 Officers anticipate that further data analysis and design work will be necessary, as
well as further engagement with groups representing those with protected
characteristics, before being able to recommend one or more potential solutions
which would then be the subject of further consultation.
14.13 Officers propose that an appropriate further scheme is developed, with a further
report brought to the Corporate Director BES prior to any future proposals to trial a
new experimental scheme or to propose a permanent TRO for this area.
14.14 Officers therefore recommend that the current experimental TRO is ceased and the
Order revoked.
14.15 In the meantime, any closures of the swing bridge in 2022 would be managed by
means of the local highways office’s powers to enact an emergency closure or
planned closure on highway safety grounds.
15.0

Legal Procedures and Implications

15.1

The consultation period for the Experimental traffic regulation order approved on 12
March 2021 with amendments approved on 29 July 2021 runs until 27 February
2022. The Experimental order expires on 9 October 2022. If the resolution is not to
continue with the Experimental Order, then a Revocation Order will need to be made.

Page 16

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

16.0

Equalities Implications

16.1

The Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) completed in February 2021, prior to the
implementation of daily closures has not yet been updated and is included at
Appendix H, but the issues which have arisen during the consultation (2 April 2021 to
date) are discussed here.

16.2

The consultation questionnaire did not ask respondents whether they had a disability
or whether they had a protected characteristic or not; but some respondents
indicated that they had a disability as part of their answers.

16.3

24 respondents (5%) mentioned difficulties for those who are disabled, the elderly or
those caring for them.

16.4

For the disabled / elderly who rely on other people (relatives, taxis) the journey times
and costs are further compounded if they have to travel across the river, using the
alternative route of Bagdale, Mayfield Road traffic signal junction, A171 and high
level bridge (‘New Bridge’) Spital Bridge and Church Street to reach their destination.

16.5

As part of considering the effects on people with protected characteristics, from 20
August 2021 when daily closures began, buses were granted an exemption. This
was done by providing the bus drivers with a fob for the traffic signals on the swing
bridge. The signals were configured to stay on ‘all red’ whilst the bridge was closed
to traffic, but the fobs activated a green signal to allow the bus to lawfully use the
bridge.

16.6

The hourly bus service provides a vital facility for people without access to a private
car to get to destinations including supermarkets, doctors, dentists, etc.

16.7

The effect on private hire vehicles and hackney carriages, longer journey times,
distances, higher taxi fares is noted.

16.8

Ideally, a scheme to enhance safety for pedestrians at times of high footfall would
exclude all vehicles. The exemptions made for the local bus service is minimal, as
the bus crossed the bridge once per hour, the bus driver could control the traffic lights
and be confident that they would not encounter any other oncoming vehicle, so could
concentrate on manoeuvring through the crowds carefully.

16.9

If more vehicles are granted exemptions then the premise of the scheme is diluted;
pedestrians may not be expecting to find vehicles on the bridge and it has been
noted that non-authorised vehicles follow authorised vehicles through, although this
could be deterred by installing an enforcement system.

16.10 However, whether or not an exemption could be granted at certain times for Hackney
carriages, which are public service vehicles, would be re-examined if/when further
design work is progressed. On weekends and bank holidays between 2 April and 15
August 2021 no exemptions were made for buses and they were not able to use the
swing bridge or serve Church Street on days when they could not drive over the
swing bridge.
16.11 When daily closures commenced, in an attempt to assist Hackney carriages, three
taxi rank spaces were added to Tin Ghaut, alongside the three disabled car parking
spaces which were provided from April 2021.

Page 17 NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

16.12 Should further funding become available and it is decided to take this scheme
forward, as further plans are developed for consultation, equalities implications would
be considered as part of the scheme design with a further Equalities Impact
Assessment carried out at that time.
16.13 It is acknowledged that the consultation did not specifically obtain the views of those
with protected characteristics, and that any future consultations need to gather better
information in this regard. Should further design work be progressed, then during the
design phase officers would engage with local groups representing those with
protected characteristic such as the Yorkshire Coast and Ryedale Disability Forum.
17.0

Climate Change

17.1

The Climate Change Impact Assessment (CCIA) completed in January 2021, prior to
the implementation of daily closures has not been updated and is included at
Appendix I, but the issues which have arisen during the consultation (2 April 2021 to
date) are discussed here.

17.2

The consultation questionnaire did not prompt respondents on any points, and so it
did not prompt respondents to think about climate change or the different
environmental consequences of various modes of transport.

17.3

Although 162 (31%) of respondents mentioned congestion/delay for vehicles whilst
using the alternative route when the bridge is closed, only a relatively small number
commented on the resultant pollution caused by vehicles waiting in traffic or driving
the longer route compared with the much shorter journey of going over the bridge.

17.4

17 respondents (3%) mentioned that road closures encourage other modes of travel,
which would be better for the environment, and/or that the experience for pedestrians
was enhanced when the bridge was closed to traffic.

17.5

13 respondents (2%) commented that they would like to see a larger traffic-free area,
with the majority naming St Ann’s Staith/Pier Road. Whilst the scheme was intended
to enhance safety at times of high pedestrian footfall, it also had environmental
benefits. Increasingly the population is becoming more aware of the causes and
effects of climate change, and cutting down on travel by diesel/petrol driven private
vehicles is to be encouraged. Walking and cycling, although Whitby is hilly, are to be
encouraged, especially for short trips such as those from one side of town to the
other.

17.6

Should further funding become available and it is decided to take this scheme
forward, as further plans are developed for consultation, any future questionnaires
should include reference to climate change issues so that better understanding can
be gathered regarding consultee’s opinions of how this issue relates to Whitby.
Climate change implications would also be considered as part of the scheme design
with an updated Climate Change Impact Assessment carried out at that time.

18.0

Financial Implications

18.1

There are no financial considerations associated with this decision other than the
costs of advertising and revoking the order which can be met from existing budgets.
Ongoing costs of emergency road closures will continue to be met from the existing
local highways office highway maintenance budgets.

Page 18

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

19.0

Recommendations

19.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director BES, in consultation with the
Executive Member for Access:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Acknowledges the outcome of the public consultation to date on the
Experimental Scheme;
Approves the proposal to cease and revoke the experimental traffic regulation
order (ETRO)
Authorises officers to carry out further design work to identify appropriate
alternate options and report back to a future meeting
Notes that any closures of the swing bridge in 2022 would be managed by
means of the local highways office’s powers to enact an emergency closure or
planned closure on highway safety grounds.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director Highways and Transportation

Authors of report: Helen Watson, Ged Lyth

Background documents: Report to Business and Environmental Services Executive
Members on 12 March 2021

Page 19 NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /17

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix A

Page 20
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /18

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix B

Page 21
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /19

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX C
Details of signs deployed from 2 April 2021

Electronic signs used for advance
warning/notification of swing bridge closures and
car park management in use from 2 April 2021.
‘ROAD CLOSED’ and ‘ROAD CLOSED AHEAD’
boards were placed daily 10:30 – 16:00 for the
road closure itself.

– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
22Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /20

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX C
Plan (this page) showing locations of electronic variable message signing (VMS) and
photographs on the following 2 pages showing examples of sign displays in use in
connection with experimental scheme at Whitby from 2 April 2021.

ghghgh

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 23
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /21

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX C

– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
24Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /22

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX C

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 25
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /23

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX D
Details of signs deployed from 20 August 2021
The photograph shows the electronic variable message sign (VMS) deployed on Whitby
west side, outside the railway station, from 20 August 2021. (A car park management sign
can also be seen in the background).

Details of alternative messages displayed by this sign according to time of day/day of week
are shown in the drawing below;

– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
26Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX D
A corresponding VMS was positioned on Whitby east side, in Church Streer car park.
Details of alternative messages displayed by the east side sign according to time of day/day
of week are shown in the drawing below;

From 20 August 2021 the traffic signals were also configured to stay on ‘all red’ between the
hours of 10:30 and 16:00 during road closures, unless bus driver/emergency volunteer’s key
fob called a green signal.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 27
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /25

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX E
Photographs show electronic variable message signs (VMS) used during the hours of
closure to traffic 10:30-16:00 at Whitby swing bridge from 9 September to 31 October 2021.

These signs replaced the metal ‘road
closed’ and ‘road closed ahead’ metal
signs for the swing bridge road
closure.
The traffic signals were configured to
stay on ‘all red’ between the hours of
10:30 and 16:00 during road closures
unless bus driver/emergency volunteer’s key fob called a green signal.

– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
28Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /26

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX E
Photographs show variable message signs used for road closures and car park
management. Not pictured, but these signs were also used for special messaging before
and during Whitby Regatta and swing bridge planned maintenance.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 29
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /27

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX F

Traffic survey data
Table 2 – Turning Counts (PCUs) at Spital Bridge Junction
From

To

Total (10:30-16:00)
Bridge
open to
traffic

Bridge
closed to
traffic

5th
August
2021

26th
August
2021

Net
Diff

Daily Total (12 hour)

% Diff

Bridge
open to
traffic all
day

Bridge
closed to
traffic
10:30-16:00

5th
August
2021

26th
August
2021

Net
Diff

% Diff

Page 30

Larpool Lane

Helredale Rd

61

99

38

62.30%

136

169

33

24.26%

Larpool Lane

Spital Bridge

92

66

-26

-28.26%

189

161

-28

-14.81%

Larpool Lane

Abbots Road

4

3

-1

-25.00%

6

14

8

133.33%

Larpool Lane

New Bridge

380

385

5

1.32%

850

814

-36

-4.24%

New Bridge

Larpool Lane

319

302

-17

-5.33%

677

631

-46

-6.79%

New Bridge

Helredale Rd

3711

3650

-61

-1.64%

6969

6779

-190

-2.73%

New Bridge

Spital Bridge

678

897

219

32.30%

1340

1518

178

13.28%

New Bridge

Abbots Road

39

0

-39

-100.00%

86

24

-62

-72.09%

Abbots Road

New Bridge

31

12

-19

-61.29%

71

56

-15

-21.13%

Abbots Road

Larpool Lane

1

4

3

300.00%

7

9

2

28.57%

Abbots Road

Helredale Rd

33

21

-12

-36.36%

61

38

-23

-37.70%

Abbots Road

Spital Bridge

43

31

-12

-27.91%

92

59

-33

-35.87%

Spital Bridge

Abbots Road

46

38

-8

-17.39%

89

64

-25

-28.09%

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /28

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX F

From

To

Total (10:30-16:00)
Bridge
open to
traffic

Bridge
closed to
traffic

5th
August
2021

26th
August
2021

Net
Diff

Daily Total (12 hour)

% Diff

Bridge
open to
traffic all
day

Bridge
closed to
traffic
10:30-16:00

5th
August
2021

26th
August
2021

Net
Diff

% Diff

Page 31

Spital Bridge

New Bridge

614

770

156

25.41%

1116

1346

230

20.61%

Spital Bridge

Larpool Lane

48

53

5

10.42%

134

136

2

1.49%

Spital Bridge

Helredale Rd

565

440

-125

-22.12%

1194

1008

-186

-15.58%

Helredale Rd

Spital Bridge

619

431

-188

-30.37%

1194

952

-242

-20.27%

Helredale Rd

Abbots Road

5

0

-5

-100.00%

9

0

-9

-100.00%

Helredale Rd

New Bridge

3405

3492

87

2.56%

6472

6540

68

1.05%

Helredale Rd

Larpool Lane

89

127

38

42.70%

171

243

72

42.11%

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /29

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX F

Table 3 – Turning Counts (PCU) at Whitby Bridge / New Quay Road Junction
From

To

Total (10:30-16:00)
Bridge
open to
traffic

Bridge closed
to traffic

5th August
2021
Observed

26th August
2021
Observed

Net Diff

Daily Total (12 hour)

% Diff

Bridge open
to traffic all
day

Bridge
closed to
traffic
10:3016:00

5th August
2021
Observed

26th
August
2021
Observed

Net
Diff

% Diff

Page 32

New Quay
Road

Baxtergate

2

20

18

900%

181

209

-28

-15%

New Quay
Road

New Quay
Road (Pier
Road)

359

334

-25

-7%

851

803

48

6%

New Quay
Road

Whitby
Bridge

753

4

-749

-100%

1671

663

1008

60%

New Quay
Road

U turn - New
Quay Road

22

121

99

450%

47

142

-95

-202%

Whitby Bridge

Baxtergate

3

0

-3

-100%

37

38

-1

-3%

Whitby Bridge

New Quay
Road (Pier
Road)

21

0

-21

-100%

52

38

14

27%

Whitby Bridge

U turn Whitby
Bridge

1

0

-1

-100%

2

3

-1

-50%

Whitby Bridge

New Quay
Road

759

29

-730

-96%

1559

600

959

62%

New Quay
Road (Pier
Road)

Baxtergate

0

2

2

0.00%

0

2

-2

0.00%

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /30

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX F

Page 33

New Quay
Road (Pier
Road)

U turn - New
Quay Road

0

0

0

0.00%

0

0

0

0.00%

New Quay
Road (Pier
Road)

Whitby
Bridge

0

0

0

0.00%

0

0

0

0.00%

New Quay
Road (Pier
Road)

New Quay
Road

0

0

0

0.00%

0

0

0

0.00%

Baxtergate

U turn Baxtergate

0

0

0

0.00%

0

0

0

0.00%

Baxtergate

New Quay
Road (Pier
Road)

2

4

2

100%

3

5

-2

-67%

Baxtergate

Whitby
Bridge

1

0

-1

-100%

1

0

1

100%

Baxtergate

New Quay
Road

2

7

5

250%

2

9

-7

-350%

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /31

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G

29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021
Spital Bridge junction
improvements
are needed

1

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

312

59%

Page 34

The most frequently mentioned comment was in relation to the delays at this junction when the
swing bridge was closed to traffic.
During the recent consultation, many asked for a roundabout or traffic lights at this junction. It is
possible that traffic signals or a roundabout, if crossing facilities for pedestrians could be included
would be appropriate solutions. Some people said that trying to get out of the junction during busy
times was more dangerous than going along the swing bridge. Drivers currently have to judge for
themselves when there is a suitable gap in the traffic on the main road before they pull out at times
of high traffic flow on the A171, this can be difficult.
Any improvements at this junction are however dependant on further funding becoming available.
The local highways office is aware of longstanding calls from the public for an improvement at this
junction, many years before the experimental scheme began.

2

Congestion/delay 162
for vehicles
whilst using the
alternative route
when the bridge
is closed

31%

In addition to the time taken to exit the junction from Spital Bridge onto the A171 along the only
other realistic alternative route, congestion was also reported on the rest of the route; A171 over
the new bridge, through Mayfield Road traffic lights, down Prospect Hill and along Bagdale. This
route can be congested during busy summer days even if the swing bridge is available. The traffic
signals at Mayfield Road use a detection system that continually adjusts the timings for vehicle
speeds and volumes. At times when peak visitor numbers are experienced, traffic approaching
Whitby from the south on the A171 is so heavy that it can queue back beyond the traffic signals at
Sainsbury’s. Likewise, traffic approaching Whitby from Guisborough Road can queue back beyond
Four Lane Ends roundabout and towards the Park & Ride. This can occur whether or not the swing
bridge is closed to traffic.
A small number commented on the pollution caused by vehicles waiting in traffic compared with the
much shorter journey of going over the bridge.
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /32

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G

3

4

Page 35
5

29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021
Needs of locals
placed second to
visitors

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

106

20%

Some of the comments received were from local people who feel as though the experiment was
primarily to help keep visitors safe and help the tourist economy at the expense of the local people
being inconvenienced. The principle achievement of the experiment was to gather information on
the effects of the trial as well as improving highway safety, regardless of whether road users were
visitors or local.

Supportive of
weekend /bank
holiday/some
closures

91

17%

Against Tin
75
Ghaut
changes/the
relocation of
permit holders
parking from Tin
Ghaut to Church
Street car park
and the resulting
loss of 35 spaces

14%

In previous years, the reactive closures of the bridge were needed when the pedestrian numbers
increased beyond a safe levl to allow vehilcs as well as pedestrians to use the bridge. These were
mainly during school holidays and for special events but could simply be if the weather was good. It
is extremely difficult to predict every occasion when the crowds of pedestrians get to that level
where it becomes imperative to close the bridge to traffic. However, as visitor numbers appear to
grow each year, coupled with people taking ‘staycations’ as a result of the pandemic, it has now got
to a stage where the school summer holiday weekends are a virtual certainty that this will happen.
Even if a pattern of upcoming closure dates/times is agreed upon/published in advance, which
would help to give drivers greater certainty of whether the route is available, the system will always
need to be adaptable to deal with special events or the regular maintenance of the swing bridge.
Parking spaces in the centre of Whitby during the season are in high demand. The arrangement in
the Tin Ghaut area, before the experiment, provided 39 permit holders only spaces. It had a barrier
and was maintained and enforced by Scarborough Borough Council (SBC). The permits each cost
in the region of £700 per annum. In order to provide a turning area for all sizes of vehicles, the
spaces for permit holders were transferred into SBC’s neighbouring Church Street car park at the
expense of losing 35 public pay and display spaces from Church Street car park. Although some
vehicles use other areas of Church Street and other junctions to turn around, the Highway Authority
recommends that Tin Ghaut is the safest place to make such a manoeuvre if it is available,
especially for large vehicles.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /33

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G
29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021
in Church Street
car park

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

If it is recognised that if the regular closures of the Swing bridge are to continue on more than just
an emergency basis, and if further funding is made available to continue with the scheme in some
form, then designs would be worked up to improve the temporary arrangement, for example by
landscaping and proposing enforceable restrictions.

Page 36

Similarly, Church Street and Bridge Street could have different arrangements proposed for bus
stops, taxi bays, loading bays, and time limited/controlled on street parking bays to help provide
appropriate facilities to load/unload, wait or park.

6

Whilst there has been a loss of off-street parking spaces, the east side of Whitby has gained a
loading bay capable of accepting articulated vehicles. This serves the immediate area and will
have contributed to a reduction in vehicles entering the cobbled part of (Upper) Church Street.
Church Street is unsuitable for large vehicles, there are various time sensitive weight limits in place
to try to manage this, but until the Tin Ghaut turning area was provided, drivers would have no
choice but to load/unload on upper Church Street or Bridge Street. The arrangements at Tin Ghaut
will have contributed to an improved environment for highway users on Upper Church Street.
26 of the respondents identified themselves as anglers with heavy gear, sailing from East side, who
were no longer able to park close by. The boats offering day trips for anglers to go out to sea
operate from the pontoon near the Church Street car park. The reduction of off-street spaces in this
area has meant it is much more difficult for these visitors to find a car parking space close to the
boats. The anglers usually arrive early in the morning for the trips with large amounts of heavy
equipment. The people responding say this did not used to be an issue until the reduction in 35
spaces from the public car park at Church Street.
Visitors should
stay on the
footpaths on

65

12%

Although the footways on the Swingbridge were widened slightly some years ago, their current
width is 1.63m. There is a 3.7 metre width of carriageway for vehicles, which travel in one direction
at a time under the control of the traffic signals.
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /34

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G

Page 37
7

29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021
swing bridge/add
guardrail to the
swing bridge to
keep pedestrians
off the
road/pedestrians
should adhere to
one way (Covid)
signage

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

During a busy day, the sheer number of pedestrians means it is impracticable for them to keep to
the narrow footways. Placing a barrier on the kerbline, as many people have suggested, is not
desirable as at busy times, pedestrians would walk in front of the barriers and be at risk of crushing
collisions with vehicles.
The swing bridge mechanism is finely balanced and any additional weight could prevent it from
operating.
Even if a barrier could be safety fixed to the bridge deck without affecting the swinging operation or
damaging its structure, a railing or barrier would reduce the width of the footway significantly as it
would need to be placed a minimum of 0.3m away from the kerb edge.

Full
support/support
for ongoing daily
closures

56

11%

During Covid, social distancing restrictions signs were placed on the bridge to encourage
pedestrians to use the footways on the bridge in a one way system by keeping to the left. Whilst a
lot of people obeyed these guidelines, not all adhered.
Even if it were possible to enforce one-way walking this would still not be enough to safely manage
the high pedestrian footfall at busy times.
The level of support is noted. Many respondents did not elaborate on their answer.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /35

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G
8

Pressures on
parking in
residential
streets/need
more Park &
Ride/need more
parking/why
were drivers not
directed to P&R

43

8%

It is recognised that at busy times the demand for parking in Whitby outstrips supply.
On the east side of Whitby, Church Street and adjacent residential streets such as The Ropery are
not part of the Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) and the local highways office are preparing plans
and documents for new consultations proposing two potential extensions of the CPZ, one on the
east side and one in the Fishburn Park area.
In order to provide a fit-for-purpose experimental turning area at Tin Ghaut which included a
loading area capable of accepting articulated vehicles, along with 2 disabled parking spaces and 3
taxi spaces, 35 public car parking spaces within Church Street car park were effectively lost when
permit parking was relocated from Tin Ghaut to Church Street car park.

Page 38

Drivers are already directed to the Whitby Park and Ride site using permanent signs on the
outskirts of the town. If drivers are in the town centre, they had already ignored those signs. Whilst
there were spaces in the town centre car parks, the local highways team felt it was more
appropriate to direct drivers already in the town centre to the nearest town centre car park with
spaces.
One issue is that SBC’s Abbey Headland park car, whilst providing 415 car parking spaces, is
located at the top of ‘99 steps’ adjacent to Whitby Abbey and so for anyone with young children or
those with a disability this car park is not a feasible option if wishing to visit Whitby town centre and
harbour area.
Given the potential forthcoming developments for Whitby which may have a further displacement
effect on public parking, it would seem prudent for the county council working in conjunction with
Scarborough Borough Council to consider re-examine the case for alternative car parking and/or
the feasibility of a second Whitby Park and Ride service. It should be noted however that a park
and ride service needs to operate without requiring a large subsidy from the taxpayer.

9

No support (if no
explanation
given)

38

7%

The principle objectives of the experimental scheme were to improve highway safety, give drivers
some certainty of when traffic was or was not permitted over the swing bridge and to gather
information and views during the experimental period.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /36

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G
29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021
Electronic signs
were an
eyesore/drivers
ignored
signs/signs
placed in wrong
locations

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

25

5%

The different signs that were put in place during the experiment ranged from metal A-frame
temporary signs to trailer-mounted electronic signs, which required pedestrian barriers to be placed
around them.

11

Trips for
disabled/elderly
affected/carers
have a much
longer day/not
enough disabled
parking spaces

24

5%

For anybody making a journey in a private vehicle or taxi that would normally go via the swing
bridge, the distance, journey duration and costs would have increased if the swing bridge was
closed to traffic.
For the disabled / elderly who rely on other people (relatives, taxis) the journey times and costs are
further compounded if they have to travel across the river, using the alternative route of Bagdale,
Mayfield Road traffic signal junction, A171 and high level bridge (‘New Bridge’) Spital Bridge and
Church Street to reach their destination.
The experimental scheme has added 2 additional disabled car parking spaces and three taxi rank
spaces to Tin Ghaut.

12

Support for
scheme as long
as improvements
made to Spital
Bridge

23

4%

Noted. See officer’s comments for theme 1 in this table.

10

Page 39

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /37

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G

13

Page 40

29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021
Why can’t taxi's
be allowed
across the bridge
as buses
are/higher taxi
fares/effect on
taxis

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

20

4%

Ideally, a scheme to enhance safety for pedestrians at times of high footfall would exclude all
vehicles. The exemptions made for the local bus service is minimal, as the bus crossed the bridge
once per hour, the bus driver could control the traffic lights and be confident that they would not
encounter any other oncoming vehicle, so could concentrate on manoeuvring through the crowds
carefully.
If more vehicles are granted exemptions then the premise of the scheme is diluted; pedestrians
may not be expecting to find vehicles on the bridge and it has been noted that non-authorised
vehicles follow authorised vehicles through, although this could be deterred by installing an
enforcement system.

14

Alternative
suggestions
made

20

4%

15

Construct a new
wider bridge/a
new pedestrian
only bridge

19

4%

However, whether or not an exemption could be granted at certain times for Hackney carriages,
which are public service vehicles, will be re-examined if/when further design work is progressed.
Please see Appendix J for details

A pedestrian only bridge, in principle, would likely be a popular choice amongst the population of
Whitby.
The county council’s Bridges and Structures team have confirmed that the swing bridge structure
with the current weight restriction in place should be serviceable for another 75 years. The current
bridge is positioned in the best location for the shortest span across the river.
A new bridge in the current location would require a footbridge to be provided which was capable of
opening to river traffic, otherwise the removal of the existing bridge would lock the port and marina
upstream of the swing bridge for a number of months. A new bridge for traffic in another location
would be of a longer span and be more expensive. The performance of the bridge is good for a
bridge operating in a difficult location open to a highly corrosive atmosphere and flooding and is in
fact better than that of some of the county’s other mechanical bridges which do not operate with the
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /38

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G
29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

same intensity as this bridge does because of its importance to the economy of Whitby and the
Port.
16

Page 41

17

18

Road closures
encourage other
modes of travel,
better for the
environment, on
foot experience
is enhanced etc
Commercial
deliveries are
made difficult

17

3%

Noted. Whilst the scheme was intended to enhance safety at times of high pedestrian footfall, it
also had environmental benefits. Increasingly the population is becoming more aware of the
causes and effects of climate change, and cutting down on travel by diesel/petrol driven private
vehicle is to be encouraged. Walking and cycling, although Whitby is hilly, are to be encouraged,
especially for short trips such as those from one side of town to the other.

15

3%

It is accepted that some classes of driver were disproportionately inconvenienced by the
experimental scheme.
There are many towns where there are restrictions on vehicles during the core hours of the day.
However, if improvements to the alternative route can be achieved, such as the improvements to
Spital Bridge junction, this may lessen the impact to some degree.

Would like to see
a larger trafficfree area (the
majority mention
St Ann’s
Staith/Pier Road)

13

2%

A larger traffic-free area on the west side would allow traffic signage on the west side to be a lot
simpler, as the point where vehicles need to take an alternative route would be Langborne Road
roundabout. This would be likely to help drivers who, during the experiment, found themselves
having to make a u-turn at the closed swing bridge.
However, a larger area would affect many more properties that currently rely on vehicular access.
These include residential properties, small businesses, major businesses (e.g. Fishing) and
proposed businesses such as the Lobster hatchery. Emergency vehicles would be exempt to be
able to access areas along the existing ½ mile long 1 way system towards Khyber Pass. Other
exemptions would need to be carefully considered, such as disabled parking facilities and tourist
bus routes.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /39

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G

19

29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021
Drivers are
ignoring
restrictions on St
Ann’s Staith/Pier
Road

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

12

2%

The traffic survey of 5 August, which surveyed all turning movements at the swing bridge, St Ann’s
Staith, New Quay Road and Baxtergate, showed that 65 vehicles per hour travelled along St Ann’s
Staith from New Quay Road during hours when the ‘access only’ restriction was in place. This
increased to 75 vehicles per hour when the restrictions were not in place ie 07:00 to 10:30 and
16:00 to 19:00

Page 42
20

21

For the restrictions for access only on the one way system starting at St. Ann’s Staith to be
enforced would require an operation including many staff over a set time period, to identify those
vehicles which have driven through rather than having stopped to carry out legitimate business.

It is reported that many motorists already ignore this existing restriction and reportedly the bridge
being closed increases this because some drivers have ignored the signs and driven up to the
bridge to see if it is actually closed.

Tin Ghaut turning 10
area - lack of
parking
restrictions
/enforcement
Driving lessons
9
and driving tests
affected

2%

2%

Comparing the traffic survey of 5 August (bridge open) to the traffic survey of 26 August (bridge
closed) found there was very little difference in the numbers of vehicles using St Ann’s Staith
whether or not the swing bridge was open or closed to traffic.
If it is recognised that the regular closures of the Swing bridge are to continue on more than just an
emergency basis, and if funding for a future scheme is made available, then designs would be
worked up to improve the temporary arrangement, for example by landscaping and proposing the
introduction of enforceable restrictions.
All the existing driving test routes that originate from Whitby driving test centre go over the swing
bridge or use Spital Bridge junction, and the closure of the swing bridge on weekdays was the
reason given by the test centre when it closed on 20 August until 30 September.
Officers from the local highways office met with DVSA representatives I December 2021 to explore
potential remedies.
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /40

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G
29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

Local highways officers have agreed to keep in regular contact with the DVSA representatives
when/if design work progresses, with the aim of the local highway office finding a solution for the
swing bridge scheme which protects the future continuation of driving tests in Whitby.
22

Page 43
23

Concern for
emergency
responders eg
coastguard and
emergency
services

8

2%

Whilst emergency vehicles were exempt from the road closure from the start of the experiment, on
weekends and bank holidays between 2 April and 19 August no exemptions were made for
volunteers travelling to an emergency such as RNLI or coastguard volunteers.
From 20 August 2021, the traffic signals on the swing bridge were configured to stay on ‘all red’
whilst the bridge was closed to traffic.
A system was introduced on 20 August during the experiment where buses, coastguard staff and
lifeboat staff have a device which can override the red traffic lights on the swing bridge to give them
passage. This was required for the emergency volunteers vehicles as the majority would not be
fitted with blue lights and or sirens.

Why are buses
being allowed
over the
bridge/buses
must be allowed
over the bridge

7

1%

On weekends and bank holidays between 2 April and 19 August no exemptions were made for
buses and they were not able to use the swing bridge or serve Church Street on days when they
could not drive over the swing bridge.
As part of considering the effects on people with protected characteristics, from 20 August 2021
when daily closures began, buses were granted an exemption. This was done by providing the bus
drivers with a fob for the traffic signals on the swing bridge. The signals were configured to stay on
‘all red’ whilst the bridge was closed to traffic, but the fobs activated a green signal to allow the bus
to lawfully use the bridge.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /41

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G
29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

Some residents do not have facilities to drive across the A171 bridge. This could be for a number of
reasons: disability, elderly, financial. The hourly bus service provides a vital facility for these people
to get to destinations including supermarkets, doctors, dentists, etc.
24

Page 44

25

26

27

Suggests a one
way system for
traffic over the
bridge
No injury
collision history
so why has the
experiment gone
ahead
Harms
trade/traders
don’t support
Reopening
bridge to traffic at
16:00 is too early

6

1%

Whilst this may reduce the amount of conflict between opposing directions of traffic, it would not
significantly reduce traffic levels to a level that would be acceptable at times of heavy pedestrian
footfall.

6

1%

Having a record of a proven casualty history is one reason why the highway authority would take
action at a location but another reason is to address an existing or significant highway safety issue.

6

1%

4

1%

There is evidence to suggest that pedestrianised streets make the pedestrian experience more
pleasant, and drivers arriving in the town complete the last part of their journey to local business
premises on foot.
Experience from the reactive swing bridge closures has shown that 16:00 is generally sufficient
apart from in extreme circumstances such as events and bank holidays.
If it is recognised that if the regular closures of the Swing bridge are to continue on more than just
an emergency basis, and if further funding is made available, then designs would be worked up
and consideration of the justification for the times of days of any pre-determined pattern of closure
considered.
Baxtergate has a no motor vehicles restriction traffic order that is enforced by the placing of
bollards across the narrow road. This is in place all days between 10:30 and 16:00.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /42

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX G
29 comment
/themes raised
by those
responding to
consultation
2 April to
8 November
2021

Number of
Percentage
Officer comment
respondents of 530
mentioning
respondents
mentioning

St Ann’s Staith is restricted to ‘access only’ also between 10:30 and 16:00. The intention was that
the swing bridge hours of restriction matched the neighbouring streets, to avoid
complication/confusion of having differing hours.
28

Page 45

29

Agree that
something
should be done
but not this
Grape Lane lack
of signs/ abuse
by drivers/ lack
of enforcement

3

1%

Self-explanatory showing that the respondents agree that there is an existing problem.

2

Less than
0.5%

A number of concerns have been raised during the consultation regarding access for loading, the
creation of temporary street cafes during Covid and access for those with mobility issues.
There have also been issues with providing an electrical supply for the signpost and erecting the
signage. None of the restrictions proposed for Grape Lane have been implemented to date.
The local highways office recommends that the proposed restrictions for Grape Lane are looked at
again, if/when the other restrictions for the swing bridge and St Ann’s Staith are being reviewed,
and if necessary a fresh set of proposals are drawn up for Grape Lane.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /43

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H

Equality impact assessment (EIA) form:
evidencing paying due regard to protected
characteristics
(Form updated April 2019)
Whitby Swing Bridge - proposal to close the swing bridge to motorised road traffic,
with complementary restrictions in neighbouring Whitby town centre streets, by
means of an experimental traffic order.
If you would like this information in another language or format such as Braille,
large print or audio, please contact the Communications Unit on 01609 53
2013 or email communications@northyorks.gov.uk.

Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) are public documents. EIAs accompanying
reports going to County Councillors for decisions are published with the committee
papers on our website and are available in hard copy at the relevant meeting. To help
people to find completed EIAs we also publish them in the Equality and Diversity
section of our website. This will help people to see for themselves how we have paid
due regard in order to meet statutory requirements.
Name of Directorate and Service Area
Lead Officer and contact details
Names and roles of other people involved
in carrying out the EIA
How will you pay due regard? e.g. working
group, individual officer

BES Area 3 Highways
Helen Watson
Ged Lyth

When did the due regard process start?

October 2020

Examining the initial consultation responses
received in December 2020, considering the
effect of the scheme on various modes of
transport and the effects of those changes
on
highway
users
with
different
characteristics.

Section 1. Please describe briefly what this EIA is about. (e.g. are you starting a new
service, changing how you do something, stopping doing something?)
– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
46Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /44

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
The original proposal was to introduce an experimental traffic order to prohibit all motor
vehicles from travelling over Whitby Swing Bridge from 10:30am to 4:00pm, every day.
As a result of considering the impacts on people with protected characteristics, the
proposals have been changed to;
Introduce an experimental traffic order prohibiting all motor vehicles from travelling over
Whitby Swing Bridge from 10:30am to 4:00pm on Saturdays, Sundays and bank
holidays.
The start date of the trial is expected to be 1st April 2021, continuing until approximately
December 2021 to allow sufficient observations to be made to report back on the
implications this will have had.
There would be a further EIA carried out and a further committee report before a decision
is taken whether to make any proposals permanent or not. This proposal is for the trial
only.

Section 2. Why is this being proposed? What are the aims? What does the authority
hope to achieve by it? (e.g. to save money, meet increased demand, do things in a
better way.)
During 2020 the general need to provide for socially distanced pedestrian access
because of the Covid pandemic highlighted an already existing issue of conflict between
pedestrian and vehicular use of Whitby swing bridge. Under powers specifically
introduced to tackle Covid, a multiagency task group which included the police, borough
and county councils, made the short term emergency decision to close the swing bridge
to all motorised and non-motorised vehicular traffic between10:30am to 6pm every
weekend. The task group also decided that it was necessary to place a traffic operative
at the entrance to St Ann’s Staith/Pier Road every day, to enforce the existing
restrictions, which stipulate that only vehicles requiring essential access are permitted
between 10:30am to 6pm between 23 March and 30 September. These Covid-related
actions remained in force until the end of October last year.
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 S122 places a duty on the council as the Traffic
Authority to secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement of vehicular and
other traffic (including pedestrians). Pre-Covid, it had already been recognised by the
police and the local highways office that change is likely to be needed.
In 2019 and years previous the County Council via its local highways office, with the
support of the police, regularly closed Whitby swing bridge to vehicular traffic using
either planned closures under section 21 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 or
emergency closures under section 14(2) (b) (as amended) of the Road Traffic
Regulation Act 1984, in the interests of highway safety at times of heavy pedestrian
footfall. For example, in 2019 the swing bridge was closed to traffic on 13 weekends.
The closures have often happened with short notice to highway users. It’s
acknowledged that closures at short notice can be inconvenient for the people and
businesses of Whitby and its visitors as well as being cumbersome to manage for the
County Council. A more consistent approach to controlling use of the swing bridge is
considered desirable in a practical sense and is indeed essential if the local highway
authority is to continue to fulfil its’ duties to secure safe movement for highway users.
2.4 Whitby swing bridge, an historic structure that the County Council is responsible for
the maintenance of, is only wide enough for one way traffic and is currently controlled by
traffic signals. There are footways on either side but these are narrow. Numbers of
pedestrians can often be so great that the narrow footways are inadequate, even at only
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 47
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /45

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
moderately busy times, and pedestrians overspill into the carriageway area. Even at
quieter times, where pedestrians are two abreast, anyone wishing to pass needs to step
into the carriageway to do so.
A more predictable and cheaper to implement system has been required for some time.
Covid and the need for social distancing has exacerbated the existing issues.
The proposals support two of the objectives in the Whitby Town Deal Investment Plan;
objective 5 Create a walkable town to better connect all that is on offer, and objective 7
Provide opportunities to live lighter in our environment.

Section 3. What will change? What will be different for customers and/or staff?
An experimental trial of;
No motorised vehicles permitted to travel over Whitby swing bridge between the hours of
10:30am - 4:00pm on Saturdays, Sundays and bank holidays. No exemption would be
made for buses or taxis.
The existing ‘prohibition of motor vehicles except for loading, buses, taxis and permit
holders’ summer restrictions 10:30am – 4:00pm for St Ann’s Staith, Haggersgate, Pier Road
and Khyber pass would be extended to every day.

Section 4. Involvement and consultation (What involvement and consultation has been
done regarding the proposal and what are the results? What consultation will be needed
and how will it be done?)
A public consultation took place 30th November to 24th December 2020. Given the funding
timescales, there has not been sufficient time to carry out more in depth
studies/consultation with affected groups. However, the trial is designed to act as an
extended consultation period where any unforeseen difficulties can be appreciated and if
necessary, amendments could be made to the trial and it can be continued. In extreme
circumstances, the trial could potentially be paused whilst issues are dealt with and then
continued with, or ended early.

Section 5. What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost
neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result.
Should the trial be approved to proceed, the funding for the trial would be made available
from a government award of £400,000 to Whitby Town Deal Board.
The provision of signs and equipment, which will be installed as part of the trial, will save
the local highway authority revenue budget in coming years. This is because the new
equipment will be able to be used in the future to close the road when required on a
temporary basis, even if the conclusion of the trial is that this scheme, or one similar to it,
is not continued with.

– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
48Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /46

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
Section 6. How
will this
proposal affect
people with
protected
characteristics?
Age
Disability
People on a low
income

No
impact

Make
things
better

Make Why will it have this effect? Provide
things evidence from engagement,
worse consultation and/or service user data
or demographic information etc.

X

X

For pedestrians walking across the
swing bridge at busy times, pedestrian
safety would be greatly improved. The
pedestrian experience would be
enhanced, air quality improved and
conditions in the town centre generally
more conducive to walking and cycling.
The proposals are part of the Town Deal
for Whitby, aimed at increasing
prosperity and assisting economic
recovery from Covid for the whole town.
The proposals will mean the 95 service
bus run by Arriva will not be able to serve
Church Street on Saturdays, Sundays
and bank holidays.
Church Street is on the east side of
Whitby and many town centre amenities
such as bus station, train station,
supermarket, banks are located over the
swing bridge on the west side.
Arriva North East (ANE) operate a local
bus service 95, the route is a one-way
loop connecting Sainsburys – Eskdale –
Whitby – Sleights – Grosmont –
Lealholme – Sainbury’s, which crosses
over Whitby Swing Bridge ½ hourly
Monday to Saturday, hourly Sunday, from
Church Street to New Quay Road. 10
journeys a day would be affected based
on the current schedule and ANE have
reported that on average 41 passengers
in a week board the service on the three
stops on Church Street. Alighting data is
not available, therefore the number of
passenger alighting at these stops is
unknown.
The service between Sainsbury’s and
Sleights operates commercially, without
financial support from the authority. ANE
have expressed concern about the effect
the closure of the bridge will have on
service 95, as they consider the service to
be very marginal under normal
circumstances.
ANE believe that a diversion into Church
Street during the closure is not something
that could be sustained within the current
limits of the service schedule. ANE have
indicated that they are likely to look at
amending the route on days when the

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 49
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /47

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
Section 6. How
will this
proposal affect
people with
protected
characteristics?

No
impact

Make
things
better

Make Why will it have this effect? Provide
things evidence from engagement,
worse consultation and/or service user data
or demographic information etc.

swing bridge is closed (weekends and
bank holidays) to operate from
Sainsbury’s via Helredale Road and
Bagdale. This would leave Church
Street area with no local bus service
during the closure of the bridge. The
walking distance from the middle bus
stop on Church Street to the bus
station is approximately 750m and to
the alternative bus stop on A171 is
approximately 800m.
If the service bus is unavailable, users
may need to take a taxi instead at a
greater cost than the bus service (older
bus passengers will be entitled to use a
free bus pass). They may also use
community transport, which again, would
not be free to the user.
As the 95 service is a loop service,
anecdotally most passengers walk back,
or use alternatives, taxis, lifts etc. Some
passengers will ride the whole loop route
via Sainsbury’s and get off on Church
Street on the way back to town. Those
living in the Church Street area with
disabilities, the elderly or those on a low
income may be more likely to take a taxi
back, see below for effects on taxis.
Initial discussions have taken place with
ANE to consider the feasibility and cost
implications of options to serve Church
Street during the closure of the bridge.
These include;
(a) Adding additional resources to the
service to maintain the ½ hourly
frequency and accommodate the
diversion into Church Street on
journeys from Sainsbury’s to
Whitby. This would be inefficient,
require additional vehicle and staff
time and the cost is likely to be
considerable.
The traffic scheme may be able to
provide a bus subsidy budget of up to
10% of the total scheme value.
– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
50Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /48

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
Section 6. How
will this
proposal affect
people with
protected
characteristics?

No
impact

Make
things
better

Make Why will it have this effect? Provide
things evidence from engagement,
worse consultation and/or service user data
or demographic information etc.

Given the funding for
a
subsidised, diverted bus route
would not be feasible beyond the
end of the trial, as no funding for a
continuing subsidy would be likely
to be available, the value in
establishing if this is a feasible
solution becomes unhelpful in the
longer term
(b) Reducing the frequency of the
service to accommodate the
diversion into Church Street on
journeys from Sainsbury’s to
Whitby. This would adversely
affect the attractiveness of the
regular ½ hourly service that
currently exists between Whitby
and Eskdale. The service would
suffer a reduction in journeys to
accommodate Church Street,
which is less well used than other
sections of the route. This would
have a negative effect on service
revenue, on what is already a
marginal service and could
threaten the future of the service
(or part of) from a commercial
point of view.
ANE have indicated that the closure of the
Swing Bridge and subsequent required
diversion of the inbound journeys as a
result, could mean that the service needs
to be withdrawn from Sainsbury’s in order
to re-apportion the time required to
facilitate this additional mileage. This
would have a negative effect on service
revenue, on what is already a marginal
service and could threaten the future of
the service (or part of) from a commercial
point of view.
There is an alternative service along the
A171 Stainsacre Lane but the stop is
350m from Sainsbury’s and so less
attractive than the existing service 95.
The IPT budget for supported bus
services is already fully committed and
the criteria for funding excludes funding
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 51
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /49

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
Section 6. How
will this
proposal affect
people with
protected
characteristics?

No
impact

Make
things
better

Make Why will it have this effect? Provide
things evidence from engagement,
worse consultation and/or service user data
or demographic information etc.
for ‘town services’, any additional funding
does not fit within the budget criteria.
.

Age
Disability
People on a low
income

X

Sex
Race

X
X

Gender
reassignment

X

Sexual
orientation

X

Religion or belief

X

Pregnancy or
maternity

X

Marriage or civil
partnership

X

Section 7.
How will this
proposal
affect people
who…
..live in a rural
area?
…have a low
income?
…are carers
(unpaid family
or friend)?

..live in a rural
area?

No
impact

Make
things
better

X

X

Make
things
worse

If taxis are not be permitted across the
swing bridge, this will have the effect of
increasing the length of taxi journeys (and
so the fare and the time taken) for
passengers.

Why will it have this effect? Provide
evidence from engagement,
consultation and/or service user data
or demographic information etc.
For pedestrians walking across the swing
bridge at busy times, pedestrian safety will
be greatly improved. The pedestrian
experience will be enhanced, air quality
improved and conditions in the town
centre generally more conducive to
walking and cycling. The proposals are
part of the Town Deal for Whitby, aimed at
increasing prosperity and assisting
economic recovery from Covid for the
whole town.
The further people live away from the
swing bridge, located in the urban centre
of Whitby, the less cost/time should be

– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
52Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /50

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H

…have a low
income?

X

associated with adjusting their journey to
take an alternative route.
If the bus service did not serve Church
Street, users from the Church Street area
would need to walk, take a taxi or
community transport or rely on lifts at
weekends or on bank holidays. People on
a low income are likely to be more reliant
on buses and taxis, for example to do their
weekly supermarket shopping or attend
doctor or hospital appointments.
Taxi fares and community transport fares
can be more costly than bus fares. This is
particularly true for those on low income
who are entitled to a free bus pass.

…are carers
(unpaid family
or friend)?

X

If using taxis when the swing bridge is
closed, the taxi fare would increase as the
journey would be substantially longer.
It may create longer, more costly journeys
if carers are travelling by vehicle between
the east and west sides of Whitby at times
when the swing bridge is closed (10:30am
– 4:00pm Saturdays, Sundays and bank
holidays).

Section 8. Geographic impact – Please detail where the impact will be (please tick all
that apply)
North Yorkshire
wide
Craven district
Hambleton district
Harrogate district
Richmondshire
district
Ryedale district
Scarborough district
Selby district

√

If you have ticked one or more districts, will specific town(s)/village(s) be
particularly impacted? If so, please specify below.
Whitby town, where people wish to travel by motor vehicle between two locations either
side of the swing bridge.

Section 9. Will the proposal affect anyone more because of a combination of
protected characteristics? (e.g. older women or young gay men) State what you think
the effect may be and why, providing evidence from engagement, consultation
and/or service user data or demographic information etc.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 53
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /51

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
Older people with a disability who are on a low income will be affected more. This is
because of the likely effect on the local bus service and taxis if neither is permitted to use
the swing bridge between 10:30am and 4:00pm.
To lessen the detrimental effects on people with protected characteristics, particularly those
who who rely on buses and taxis, the proposals have been amended from seven days a
week to Saturdays, Sundays and bank holidays only.

Section 10. Next steps to address the anticipated impact. Select one of the Tick
following options and explain why this has been chosen. (Remember: we
option
chosen
have an anticipatory duty to make reasonable adjustments so that disabled
people can access services and work for us)
1. No adverse impact - no major change needed to the proposal. There is
no potential for discrimination or adverse impact identified.
2. Adverse impact - adjust the proposal - The EIA identifies potential
√
problems or missed opportunities. We will change our proposal to reduce or
remove these adverse impacts, or we will achieve our aim in another way
which will not make things worse for people.
3. Adverse impact - continue the proposal - The EIA identifies potential
problems or missed opportunities. We cannot change our proposal to reduce
or remove these adverse impacts, nor can we achieve our aim in another
way which will not make things worse for people. (There must be compelling
reasons for continuing with proposals which will have the most adverse
impacts. Get advice from Legal Services)
4. Actual or potential unlawful discrimination - stop and remove the
proposal – The EIA identifies actual or potential unlawful discrimination. It
must be stopped.
Explanation of why option has been chosen. (Include any advice given by Legal
Services.)
We recognise the disadvantages the proposals in their original format pose to people with
protected characteristics who rely on the local bus service and/or taxis.
The experimental scheme can still proceed with the adjustments recommended.

Section 11. If the proposal is to be implemented how will you find out how it is
really affecting people? (How will you monitor and review the changes?)
The scheme, if approved, would be on an experimental basis only and people will be invited
to send us their comments from April 2021 for the first six months of the scheme.
Ideally we will receive correspondence from affected persons. We will actively publicise
that we want to hear from everyone affected by the trial but that we particularly want to hear
from people who would normally travel over the swing bridge using buses or taxis. We
appreciate we must not rely on this method.
We will contact groups likely to be affected and groups who will be aware of the change in
passenger behaviour. Eg bus company, Scarborough Borough Council taxi licencing (who
have a working relationship with the local taxi firms), day centres, adult services.

Section 12. Action plan. List any actions you need to take which have been identified in
this EIA, including post implementation review to find out how the outcomes have been
achieved in practice and what impacts there have actually been on people with protected
characteristics.
– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
54Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /52

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
Action

Lead

By when

Apply the
recommendations
described below.

Helen
Watson

Prior to the trial
commencing

Closely monitor public
comment and seek
comment from
authorities/organisations
with knowledge of the
affected groups.
Report findings and
further
recommendations in a
further EIA to be
represented to the
decision makers

Helen
Watson

Whilst the trial is
ongoing, expected
to be April 2021 to
October/November
2021

Helen
Watson

Expected
November 2021,
before any
decision is taken
on whether the trial
or parts of it are to
be made
permanent.

Progress

Monitoring
arrangements

Section 13. Summary Summarise the findings of your EIA, including impacts,
recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal advice, and next
steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The original proposal to prohibit all traffic from the swing bridge 10:30am – 4:00pm every
day would have a disproportionately adverse impact on a relatively small number of people
with protected characteristics who need to access one side of the swing bridge from the
other. Those who may be older and/or have disabilities, who are on a low income and who
rely on buses and/or taxis would be affected more than most. This is because their access
to and from the town centre may be made more expensive and/or the opportunity for
journeys may be reduced.
It is acknowledged that the goal of the trial is to prevent all traffic (except emergency
services) from the swing bridge at the busiest times of pedestrian footfall.
Also that the speed with which the funding has become available, and the requirements for
spending it within the same financial year mean there has not been sufficient time for the
usual traffic impact studies to be made, and that the trial itself is being used as an extended
consultation period.
It is acknowledged that to wholly exempt buses and taxis from the restrictions may create
pedestrian safety issues, particularly at weekends, and would dilute the environmental
benefits that the proposals are designed to provide. The police traffic bureau have
confirmed that for automatic enforcement to be carried out, the existing traffic signals on the
bridge would need to be switched to ‘all red’. This effectively rules out giving any vehicles
an exemption, as the exempt vehicles would need to pass through a red signal and could
find themselves head-on with another vehicle as there is no line of sight between the two
sides of the swing bridge.
To reduce the impact on these people, it is recommended that a way is found to allow
service 95 to continue serving Church Street for the majority of the week and, if it is
necessary to prohibit taxis, that the prohibition is for a substantially less number of
hours per week than in the original proposals.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
Proposed 55
Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /53

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX H
Section 14. Sign off section
This full EIA was completed by:
Name: Helen Watson
Job title: Improvement Manager
Directorate: BES
Signature: Helen Watson
Completion date:16th February 2021
Authorised by Barrie Mason, Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 18/02/21

– 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Page
56Trial forNYCC
Proposed
Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /54

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX I
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our aspiration
to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify projects which will
have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision making
process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk
Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment

Page 57

However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Proposed experimental pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge, 10:30am to
4:00pm daily, starting 31 March 2021
A trial to prohibit vehicles from using the swing bridge each day during the
peak times associated with pedestrian movements, with associated traffic
restrictions on adjacent streets.
Business and Environmental Services
Highways
Ged Lyth
Helen Watson
Dec 2020

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /55

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX I

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.
The options for excluding buses and taxis have been weighed up in Appendix 3 of the committee report.
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

Page 58

The funding is being sourced from the Whitby Town Deal bid. However, the maintenance of the proposed apparatus will need to be sourced from
elsewhere.
The County Council Highways have reacted to various events culminating in the swing bridge being closed to traffic over the last few years. Initially this was
introduced due to the good weather attracting crowds of people visiting the town. Other incidents causing the bridge to be closed to traffic have included
maintenance and breakdowns of the mechanisms of the swing bridge. In 2020, a large proportion of the summer saw the bridge closed to traffic to help assist
pedestrians keep greater distances from each other during the Covid guidelines and restrictions for social distancing. All of these temporary closures have
included setting up and taking down of temporary signs. On some of these occasions, it has been necessary to have highways staff deployed at the closure
points to prohibit drivers from venturing through the barriers. Occasionally, SBC parking services staff or The Police have assisted with this role but generally it
was arranged and paid for from the Highways budgets. On each occasion to set up the signs, staff the barriers and remove the signs, the costs would likely be
in the region of £1,000 per day. If approved, this scheme will not require temporary signs to set up and will not require the closure points to be staffed.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /56

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.

Emissions
from travel

X

Page 59

reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

X

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

1. Increase length of journeys.
2. Increase length of time, vehicles would
wait at the Spital Bridge / A171 junction.

3. Remove the vehicles waiting for the
lights on the swing bridge in an area that
is regularly busy with pedestrians.
4. Remove the vehicles travelling over the
swing bridge at low speeds and very
close proximity to pedestrians.
5. Encourage more pedestrian journeys to
be made by making the congested part
of the route a traffic free route.

APPENDIX I
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

1a. Install direction signs
to inform drivers of the
revised routes to take.
1b. Installation of a
turning area for vehicles
to turn around.
2. Monitor the junction in
the initial period to
evaluate whether any
alterations and
improvements are
required.
3 and 4a. Install signage
at the Langborne Road
junction to inform drivers
that the bridge is closed.
3 and 4b. Install signage
at the A171 Spital Bridge
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /57

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Page 60

6. The signage associated with the scheme
showing where car parks are full or have
spaces available is anticipated to reduce
the number of car journeys that normally
take place by visitors circling around the
town looking for an available parking
space.

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

X

APPENDIX I
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

junction to inform drivers
that the bridge is closed.
6. Install signs
showing numbers of
parking spaces
available at various
car parking locations

Negligible

X

X

X

of single use plastic
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /58

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Reduce water consumption

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

APPENDIX I
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X
X

X

Page 61

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

See above comments about reducing traffic
queues at one location but increasing at others.

It is envisaged that
drivers of vehicles will
have greater certainty on
their routes to get to
specific destinations,
whether it is a delivery
vehicle wanting to get
from one side of the river
to the other or somebody
looking for a parking
space.

X

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /59

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Enhance conservation and wildlife

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

APPENDIX I
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

X

Page 62

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

X

Other (please state below)

X

The Whitby Swing Bridge structure is a
distinctive feature and is recognised as one of
the principle attractions to the town. The
proposals are not expected to have any
detrimental impact on the maintenance or the
functionality of the bridge.

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.
None we are aware of.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /60

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX I
Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

The details mentioned above show both positive and negative impacts. On balance, the local Highway Authority anticipate that the positive impacts will
outweigh the negative impacts. It is planned to monitor the Spital Bridge junction during the experimental period and if the data gathered shows a significant
negative impact, it is anticipated that the funding will allow improvements to be made at this junction which will help reduce the waiting times of vehicles at this
junction and thus reduce the negative impacts even further.

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:

Page 63

Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Ged Lyth
Project Engineer
Highways
BES
G Lyth
15/1/20

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature):
Date:

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /61

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX J
Comment /theme

1

Trial should have started later in the year (eg June)

2

Closing the swing bridge whether or not it is busy
relieves Highways from having to both monitor
pedestrian levels at busy times and have staff on duty
when the bridge in closed (implication is Highways
should always monitor and close only when necessary).
Why not put a toll charge on non-resident pedestrians
using the bridge?

1

The aim is also to give drivers some degree of advance warning when the
bridge is to be closed so that they can plan their journeys.

1

As the bridge forms part of the highway maintainable at public expense, it is
not appropriate to charge for its use.
Any restrictions would need to apply to all pedestrians, not just to visitors.

Page 64

Number of
Officer comment
respondents
mentioning
1
The trial aimed to cover the busy Easter period and began with weekend and
bank holiday only closures. Daily closures did not start until 20 August.

Restricting traffic for tourists in town!!
This could be eased if tourist cars and camper vans are
kept out of the town's streets
Town should be made local traffic only
Making the bridge local access only
Make Whitby local traffic only

5

It could involve extending the ‘prohibition of driving except for access’
restriction currently on St Ann’s Staith/Pier Road to more of the town’s roads.
The restrictions would apply to all drivers, not just to visitors.

6

Why not also provide a park and ride but on bikes,
someone could open a bike hire shop visitors could then
cycle into town from the East as there is space to make
a cycle lane on this route or through a field ....to help
ease traffic and keep us fit and healthy.

1

Noted, although there are no plans to take this forward at the present time.

8

There are a number of elderly residents in that area who
cannot walk far and use taxis, you don't even invest in
decent bus services which might also help the
congestion.

2

Effort was made to ensure that when daily closures of the swing bridge
commenced, the 95 service could continue travelling over the swing bridge to
continue provision of this service.

3

5

Some form of restriction will be required to be part of any future scheme.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /62

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

9

Making the park and ride car park more appealing by
having it open overnight for tourists to park there whilst
staying in town would help? And making it bigger if it is
already filling up too quickly

1

APPENDIX J
There is a planning condition currently prevents overnight use of the park
and ride.
The park and ride is adequately sized for the majority of the year. During the
pandemic we have seen unprecedented numbers of visitors. Providing more
park and ride spaces for Whitby is constantly under review, but any new site
or additional bus provision would need to be self-financing for the majority of
the year, otherwise the cost falls to the taxpayer.

1

Drivers are already directed to the Whitby Park and Ride site using
permanent signs on the outskirts of the town. If drivers are in the town
centre, they had already ignored those signs. Whilst there were spaces in
the town centre car parks, the local highways team felt it was more
appropriate to direct drivers already in the town centre to the nearest town
centre car park with spaces.

11 Make the (Park and Ride) bus free but charging to park
a car regardless of the number of people in it.

1

For the park and ride bus service to continue to operate, it would need to be
self-financing for the majority of the year, otherwise the cost falls to the
taxpayer. Charging per car could be investigated, but would be likely to cost
more than one adult bus fare. Charging per car may dissuade drivers of
vehicles with fewer occupants from using the service.

12 At weekends and high season have wardens in place to
enforce a new regulation and install ANPR cameras to
detect and fine amber gamblers as well as drivers
touring town more than, say, twice, to find free parking

1

Should the scheme progress to implementation, it is intended some form of
enforcement would be included. It may not be possible to distinguish
between drivers with a genuine reason to be passing a location twice or three
times (for example deliveries, carers), and those who are simply driving
around looking for parking.

13 There used to be small buses running round town
providing a town service, known as clippers, these small
buses are much easier to navigate the town rather than
the large buses that provide the service now. Little and
often rather than large and not very often.

1

This comment is noted. However, the provision of the type bus is determined
by the bus company and is dependent on a number of factors including cost.

Page 65

10 You should be making every effort to reduce the traffic
into Whitby. I have not seen a single message on the
matrix boards directing traffic to the Park and Ride, they
seem to send the traffic from one car park to another
causing traffic chaos and then when they can’t find a
space they then end up at the Park and Ride

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /63

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

14 Would it be possible to change the sequencing of the
pedestrian crossing (on Helredale Road which is
adjacent Spital Bridge) so that
a) both directions show a red light at the same time, and
b) the timing is lengthened to allow pedestrians to cross
the entire road in one go, rather than as a staggered
crossing across the two lanes independently as it is
now.
This would avoid the risk of visitors not understanding
the lights
It would also provide potential gaps in the main road
traffic so that a few vehicles could exit Spital Bridge at
busy times.

1

APPENDIX J
At present, the crossing operates in four Phases – Vehicles / Peds E/B, and
Vehicles / Peds W/B. It is in effect two crossings side by side. This
arrangement allows vehicles to always flow in one direction when people
cross. It does however mean that it takes longer for people to cross, as they
must wait on the centre island.
Having split crossings is safer for pedestrians because they only need to look
out for vehicles on one approach at a time. Often when vehicle flows are
light, they can cross without activating the signals.
If the crossings were to be changed to always operate at the same time, so
that vehicles are shown a red light on both approaches, the pedestrian
crossing period would need to be increased considerably. The crossing time
would need to cater for both lanes of the carriageway, and for the time it
takes for people to negotiate the island.

Page 66

The increase in pedestrian crossing time would inevitably have an effect on
vehicle queues. It is likely that longer queues would block the side road from
Spittle Bridge. I therefore doubt that there will be more gaps in the traffic
created by any change to the operation of this crossing.
The light sequence, and the operation of the red man and green man signals,
is exactly the same as at all other Puffin Crossings nationally.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Proposed Trial for Pedestrianisation of Whitby Swing Bridge /64

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 5
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 January 2022
Upper Dales Villages Flood Risk Management Project Update and
Preferred Options for Progression
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose Of Report

1.1

To inform the Corporate Director, BES and BES Executive Members of the
outcomes of the feasibility studies commissioned, which looked at potential flood
mitigation actions in a variety of villages and locations in Wensleydale and
Swaledale.

1.2

To seek approval to progress development of the preferred options identified from
those studies.

1.3

To seek approval for expenditure of up to £50k from the Flood Risk Management
Base Budget to permit further detailed work in the development of the preferred
options over Q4 21/22 and into financial year 22/23.

2.0

Background to the report

2.1

In July 2019 unprecedented rainfall in the west of the county saw devastating
flooding impacts. Richmondshire was hardest hit by the events, which saw
approximately 238 individual properties internally flooded, bridges providing vital links
to some remote communities destroyed, watercourses obstructed by tonnes of debris
and several significant landslips impacting on the highway network.

2.2

Given the scale of the flooding and the impacts on the community a formal
investigation was undertaken by NYCC in its role as Lead Local Flood Authority
(“LLFA”) under Section 19 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (“the 2010
Act”).
The investigation focussed on Reeth, Arkengarthdale, Leyburn and Bellerby given
these were locations which saw the most significant effects, although the resulting
reports acknowledged that flooding was experienced elsewhere.

2.3

2.4

The report concluded that all risk management authorities had undertaken their
duties appropriately and made a number of recommendations for future work to
reduce risk and increase community resilience.

2.5

Shortly following the publication of the report in February 2020 an opportunity was
secured for work to inform potential future project delivery, in the Upper Dales
through the growth fund.

2.6

In addition to those locations investigated in the Section 19 report, officers recognise
that additional local villages have suffered historic repeat flood incidents that had
been previously investigated by NYCC in its role as the LLFA. The locations share a
geographic commonality and flood mechanism, being impacted by repeated surface
water flooding events. The locations all featured on the NYCC forward plan for
delivery of flood prevention works in future years, but the opportunity afforded by the

Page 67

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

growth fund bid has permitted this work to be brought forward as one project, with
efficiencies likely to be gained from a grouped delivery.
2.7

Overall the locations included in the studies were Reeth and Fremmington,
Arkengarthdale, Bellerby, Leyburn, West Witton, Bainbridge, Hawes and Gayle,
Redmire and Spennithorne.

2.8

It should be noted that Grinton was initially scoped out of the flood studies given the
relative low number of properties affected by flooding. The main issues in Grinton
related to structural damage issues, debris and river channel stability. In the
intervening period issues have continued to be raised with respect to channel
morphology and the persistent amounts of debris being deposited. A separate study
looking at a long term channel management option to be implemented with the parish
council is being prepared separately. The management of the gill concerned would
be undertaken using existing permissive powers under the 2010 Act.

3.0

Feasibility Studies

3.1

Our partner consultant, WSP was commissioned to identify mitigation options for
each of the locations, coupled with indicative costings, to permit an evaluation of the
cost benefits. This is particularly critical given the relatively low number of properties
impacted meaning that more expensive mitigation options would be unlikely to be
financially feasible.

3.2

The studies did not involve any detailed design but presented outline options, based
on the physical geography of the villages, consideration of watercourses and the
topography and based on the local understanding of flood mechanisms, observed
during flood events.

3.3

The scope did not consider certain potential constraints to delivery such as obtaining
landowner agreement or cost, although the identification of preferred options
following the receipt of the reports has then taken this into consideration. For the
preferred options, these factors are intended to be explored during the next phase of
the work.

3.4

In undertaking the studies, NYCC Officers and consultants undertook site visits with
community representatives identified by local parish councils. When consultants had
collected all evidence, meetings were arranged with parish councils to present the
draft information to them to ensure it was accurate and that the community was kept
informed of the work.

3.5

Once draft reports arising from the studies were finalised, further meetings were
arranged with parish councils to make them aware of the content of the reports, prior
to a planned week of public engagement, where the local community will be able to
drop in and discuss options with officers at venues in Leyburn and Reeth.

3.6

Whilst all options will be presented to the community, it is intended to present
preferred options to be progressed, alongside a rationale for those preferences, given
that some of the discounted options are unlikely to demonstrate the appropriate cost
benefits.

3.7

The full reports are available to view by Members on request.

4.0

Preferred options

4.1

A full description of all options identified by WSP, alongside officer comment is
presented in Appendix 1 of this report.

Page 68

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.2

NYCC Officers have identified preferred options to be progressed to delivery from the
feasibility studies. This is represented in table two below. This selection has been
based on the following considerations.

4.3

Timescales
The LLFA will seek to prioritise options where schemes can be implemented as quick
solutions in a short period. Where option scoring is close, the LLFA would seek to
promote the schemes with shorter lead in periods to work on the ground taking place.
The options have therefore been considered applying the following weighting (the
higher the score the greater the priority):
1 = Significant planning and design work and long lead in times 12 months+
2 = Medium Term 6+ months
3 = Short Term 3+ Months

4.4

Partnership Working
The LLFA will seek to deliver efficiencies and improvements, in particular by working
in partnership with other relevant authorities in accordance with its role under the
2010 Act. The LLFA will always seek to align projects with current national and local
flood risk management strategies and projects. There are a number of projects that
could run compliment or supplement catchment wide projects such as Natural Flood
Management works currently undertaken by other partner organisations in both
Swaledale and Wensleydale catchments. Where options provide multifunctional
benefits to properties, highway users or takes advantage of partnership working, the
LLFA will seek to promote these schemes. The following weighting has been applied
to account for these factors:
1 = Little prospect of working in partnership
2 = Work in partnership within council services
3 = Work in partnership with other external organisations such as Dales to Vales
Rivers Network, the Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority and others.

4.5

Environmental Benefits
The LLFA will seek to promote options that align with NYCC policies and position
statements on environmental factors such as climate change, carbon capture,
increased biodiversity and habitat creations. The following weighting has therefore
been applied to cover this:
1 = Little to no environmental benefits
2 = Improvements in water quality and habitat creation
3 = Significant multifunctional benefits

4.6

Project Resilience
Resilience index: this measures the extent to which each option satisfies the
following criteria, which are considered desirable from a long-term resilience
perspective;

Passive – low reliance on energy and operator intervention

Self-sufficient – not reliant on performance of other systems

Fail-soft / Fail-safe – won’t fail catastrophically nor worsen situation if design
standard exceeded / system failure occurs

Flexible and adaptive – can be adapted to take account of evolving changes in
circumstance / climate

No regrets – won’t close off potentially attractive alternatives

Self-reinforcing – work with, rather than against, natural processes, supporting
ecosystem integrity

Diverse and distributed – not reliant on a single technology / technique in one
location.

4.7

This index was scored as follows:
3 = 6 or 7 resilience criteria met
2 = 4 or 5 resilience criteria met

Page 69

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

1 = 2 or 3 resilience criteria met
0 = 0 or 1 resilience criteria met

4.8

Potential for further partnership funding opportunities
The LLFA will always seek to align projects with current national and local flood risk
management strategies and projects. There are a number of projects that could run
compliment or supplement catchment wide projects such as NFM works currently
undertaken by other partner organisations in both Swaledale and Wensleydale
catchments. The LLFA also prioritise projects which may attract other alternative
sources of funding, such as LEP funding secured for the initial stage of the Upper
Dales feasibility work. The following weighting is applied:
0 = Negative cost benefit – no funding
1 = Funding from FRM Capital
2 = Funding from one source in addition to FRM capital
3 = Funding from multiple sources.

4.9

Cost Benefit
In order to be promoted as a preferred option and to have any prospect of a
successful business case, the scheme must demonstrate value for money. In
accordance with the Environment Agency’s Partnership Funding calculator, the
simple project cost benefit ratio irrespective of any contributions or additional benefits
has been used to derive a cost benefit for each option. This can be refined later if a
scheme is considered to have marginal cost benefits. A negative cost benefit ratio
renders a scheme unviable. Appropriate weighting has been applied to reflect the
importance of this element. Depending therefore on the cost benefits ratio of each
option a varying score of between -15 and +15 is applied as per the table below.
Table One Cost Benefit Table
Project cost
Score
benefit x:1
>5
15
4-5
10
2-4
5
1-2
0
<1
-15

4.10

Property Flood Protection scores highly in all locations, so is a “do minimum” option
in all cases. When further analysis has been undertaken on the options, this will be a
potential delivery mechanism, where some of the other options may prove with
further work to be unviable.

Page 70

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Table Two Preferred Options List
Option No.

Location

Approx.
Scheme
costs

Cost
Benefit

Option
Score

Engineer Input

21

Limited protection offered to properties on the left bank of Arkle
Beck. Unlikely to align with National Park Authority’s heritage and
conservation policies etc. Routine vegetation management and
minor reinstatement works. Does not align with any highway works
Significantly lower construction cost results in a cost benefit ratio
of >5. Limited funding opportunities given that hard engineered
solutions do not align with current practices and aspirations.

21

Could be delivered at speed to elevate initial flooding issues
Unlikely to conflict with National Park Authority’s requirements.
Could be implemented as part of highways improvements. Trash
screen would be installed on NYCC asset. Could attract highways
funding

14

Some maintenance and monitoring required – predominantly by
land owners. Aligns with some aspirations of the National Park
Authority. In line with national and local strategy. Various funding
streams available for NFM

12

Significant off highway works which will require National Park
planning and significant land owner buy in. Some maintenance
responsibilities on NYCC. Does not align with other work streams
therefore unlikely to alight with other funding opportunities.

Arkengarthdale

1c - Implement a
flood embankment
along the north-west
of the town to provide
a barrier to flows.

A

Page 71

6 - Undertake
essential
maintenance to clear
culvert and
C
implement modern
trash screen to
prevent future
blockage.
14 - Undertake a
series of land use
changes/interventions A,B,C,D,E
in order to reduce
rate of hillslope runoff
3 - Regrade area of
Booze Road above
the field in the east of
the village in order to B
divert surface water
flows along Booze
Road into the field.

£51, 200

£7, 800

Unknown

£35, 500

15

10

Unknown

5

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.
10 - A newly
excavated collection
channel would collect
surface water runoff
from hillsides and
convey flows away
from buildings.

Location

E

Total

Page 72

Bainbridge
1 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment –
agricultural land
upstream of The
Crescent.
6 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment –
agricultural land
upstream of
Sycamore Hall.
Total

Approx.
Scheme
costs

Cost
Benefit

Option
Score

Engineer Input

6

Significant off highway works which will require securing planning
permission and significant land owner buy in. Some maintenance
responsibilities on NYCC. Does not align with other work streams
therefore unlikely to align? with other funding opportunities.
Unlikely to progress due to costs. Very low cost benefit ratio

£87,600

0

£182,100

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

A

Unknown

B

Not Currently
known

£0

0

13

Some maintenance and monitoring required – predominantly by
land owners. Aligns with some aspirations of the National Park
Authority. In line with national and local strategy. Various funding
streams available for NFM

13

Some maintenance and monitoring required – predominantly by
land owners. Aligns with some aspirations of the National Park
Authority. In line with national and local strategy. Various funding
streams available for NFM

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.

Location

Approx.
Scheme
costs

Cost
Benefit

Option
Score

Engineer Input

Bellerby
3 - Remove old
flap/gate style trash
screen and
implement new fixed
trash screen and
maintenance platform
at A6108 culvert inlet.

Page 73

A,D
5 - Remove wall in
garden at Aston
House. May also
require regrading of
road to ensure flows
are routed towards
the watercourse.
D
9 - Undertake a
series of land use
changes/interventions
in order to reduce
rate of hillslope
runoff.
A,C,D,E,F
10 - Undertake a
series of land use
changes/interventions
in order to reduce
rate of hillslope
runoff.
B, E

£9,300

15

27

Existing screen is not fit for purpose and is a NYCC maintenance
liability. A well designed trash screen will significantly improve the
current maintenance liability. Would involve work on adjacent
property for fixing points. Protects existing NYCC culvert. Could
attract NYCC highways revenue/capital funding. FRM and others
may be able to act in a short space of time in order to deliver trash
screen

£1,600

15

23

Relatively simple intervention. Significant land owner buy in
required as it involves removal of a 3rd party wall. Unlikely to attract
any funding or align with other NYCC priorities

Currently Not
Known

N/A

13

Significant landowner buy in? will be required. Unknown costs
involved.

Currently Not
Known

N/A

13

Significant landowner buy in? will be required. Unknown costs
involved

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.

Location

1 - 5No. on-line
attenuation features
located upstream of
Bellerby on the
alignment of the flow
path over the Bellerby
Beck culvert.

Approx.
Scheme
costs

Cost
Benefit

Option
Score

Engineer Input

12

BPC are currently working with landowners, to progress this
option. Whilst the cost benefit appears marginal, the committed
land owner buy in and providing the required land, the parish
council maintaining the structure for the lifetime of the scheme and
additional external funding from the Two Ridings fund, this project
provides and attractive proposition and the LLFA will seek to
support where it can. Either through officer time of financial
support.

£253,500

0

£264,400

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

£40,000

15

A,B,C,D,E,F

Page 74

Total
Hawes and Gayle
6 - Removal of
railway bridge
remains in Gayle
Beck to reduce water
levels within the
watercourse.
5 - Implement 3 No.
floodplain
embankments to
enhance upstream
floodplain.
1 - Implement flow
collection channel of
approx. 36m to route
surface water around
property.
8 - Undertake
floodplain tree
planting.

B

26

Buy in from YDNPA will be needed alongside other landowners.
Excellent cost benefit ratio

B

£165,000

15

23

Significant buy in from landowners required. Will need to adhere to
Reservoirs Act 1975 as amended by the 2010 Act. Very good cost
benefit ratio could attract funding. Whether the cost benefit out
weights the liability of maintaining the structure would need to be
explored further.

A

£3,000

15

21

Significant buy in from landowners required.

B

£1,366,000

0

14

Significant buy in from landowners required. Needs to be explored
further. Could be linked with other schemes

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.

Page 75

9 - Undertake a
series of land use
changes/interventions
across the catchment
upstream of Hawes &
Gayle (approx.
15km2) in order to
reduce rate of
hillslope runoff.
Total
Leyburn
15 - Review the
design of the trash
screen at the inlet of
the culvert upstream
of Bishopdale Close.
17 - Identify
opportunities to
improve drainage;
such as the
installation of
additional gullies or
upsizing of drainage
runs.
12 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment (Dale
Grove)

Location

Approx.
Scheme
costs

B

D

E

C

Option
Score

Engineer Input

Not Known

14

Significant buy in from landowners required. Could be linked with
other schemes

£1,574,000

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

Unknown

15

Unknown

Unknown

Cost
Benefit

5

0

24

Review of the trash screen could be undertaken promptly, with any
recommendations to improve resilience and maintainability
considered a quick win. Good Cost benefit ratio.

16

Could be implemented quickly in partnership with LHA. However
any additional work will likely have significant cost implications.
Work considered to be highway related matters and could be dealt
with as BAU. Option therefore discounted.

14

Initial stages could be implemented quickly whilst working with
partner organisations to deliver environmental benefits and
increase resilience shows this option to align well with other
aspirations. Once an understanding of scheme costs is obtained a
cost benefit can be derived and option overall option score
improved.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.

Page 76

21 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment –
agricultural land north
of Dale Grove.
land/soil
management and
revegetation are
commended.
5 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment (Mount
Drive)
14 - Formalisation of
area to store flows
when the culvert is
surcharged – this
would be achieved by
constructing a 120 m
long bund on the
south east corner of
the playing field of
The Wensleydale
School.

Location

F

A

D

Approx.
Scheme
costs

£74,000

Not Known

£74,000

Cost
Benefit

0

0

5

Option
Score

Engineer Input

14

Initial stages could be implemented quickly whilst working with
partner organisations to deliver environmental benefits and
increase resilience shows this option to align well with other
aspirations. Once an understanding of scheme costs is obtained a
cost benefit can be derived and option overall option score
improved.

13

Initial stages could be implemented quickly whilst working with
partner organisations to deliver environmental benefits and
increase resilience shows this option to align well with other
aspirations. Once an understanding of scheme costs is obtained a
cost benefit can be derived and option overall option score
improved.

11

Design and feasibility, along with negotiation with the school is
likely to delay implementation. School is part of NYCC estates
therefore implementation should be relatively straight forward in
terms of land negotiations. Questions regarding the efficiency of
such an intervention when here is a significant overland flow
noted. May be ineffective if already full. Suggest scheme goes on
pipeline of projects to explore further.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.
1/7 - Upsize the
existing watercourse
culvert and drainage
system beneath
Bellerby Road.

Location

Approx.
Scheme
costs

Cost
Benefit

Option
Score

Engineer Input

6

Cost Benefit Ration 1.1 is unlikely to attract any external funding.
The may ameliorate some of the risk, but does not remove the risk
entirely give the risk of blockage or event beyond the design
capacity of the culvert. Could be linked with a potential HW
Scheme

Page 77

A,B

£130,000

0

Total
Redmire
1 - Undertake a
series of land use
changes/interventions
A, B
in order to reduce
rate of hillslope
runoff.

£278,000

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

Unknown

0

Total

£0

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

£2,400

15

Reeth and Fremmington
9 - Construct a 17m
kerb on the propertyB
side of the highway
off Alpine Terrace.
17 - Enhancement of
existing features in
the landscape to
produce 3 no.
attenuation areas in
A,C,D
the Arkle Beck
catchment upstream
of Reeth and
Fremington.

£155,000

15

15

The option will need to be explored further with landowners.

25

Attractive cost benefit ratio. Could be delivered quickly in a short
time scale to improve exceedance planning and improved
resilience.

23

The option illustrates large attenuation structure, that may have to
comply with the Reservoirs Act 1975. Increase risk of breach,
which given the catchment characteristics could cause significant
risk. No modelling undertaken therefore size of attenuation
required no established. Further work required to establish if this
option has any merit.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.

Page 78

1 - Construction of a
bund approximately
85 m in length along
a current flow path to
divert surface water
flow.
3 - The installation of
a drainage feature
(i.e. grid) to collect
surface water flow
down Mill Lane.
13 - The construction
of 2 no. bunds
adjacent to the left
bank of Arkle Beck at
locations where Arkle
Beck is reported to
overtop.
4 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment (Mill Lane)
15 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological

Location

A

A

D

A

D

Approx.
Scheme
costs

£23,500

£42,000

£174,000

Unknown

Unknown

Cost
Benefit

15

15

10

0

0

Option
Score

Engineer Input

22

A medium timescale for implementation that could provide robust
mitigation. Little opportunity for partnership working or provide
environmental benefits, limited resilience as an engineered
structure. Very good cost benefit ratio.

21

A medium timescale for implementation that could provide robust
mitigation. Little opportunity for partnership working or provide
environmental benefits, limited resilience as an engineered
structure. Very good cost benefit ratio.

16

Medium timescale with a good cost benefit ratio. Does not align
with environmental and resilience objectives. Residual risk of
breach. Good cost benefit ratio. Scheme could be considered for
further economics and design considerations.

15

Can be implemented in a short space of time with opportunities to
with NFM delivery partners to provide flood risk and environmental
benefits. Could explore various funding mechanisms.

15

Some maintenance and monitoring required – predominantly by
land owners. Aligns with some aspirations of the National Park
Authority. In line with national and local strategy. Various funding
streams available for NFM

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.

Location

Approx.
Scheme
costs

Cost
Benefit

Option
Score

Engineer Input

B

£126,000

0

9

Option considered as part of collaboration between National Parks
and NYCC highways. Collaboration could see the project improve
its cost benefit ratio through benefits in kind.

£522,900

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

catchment,
Fremington

Page 79

8 - Regrade a length
of the highway along
Silver Street to divert
flow into agricultural
land adjacent to it.
Total
Spennithorne
2 - Replace the trash
screen with a modern
style screen with
maintenance
platform. The new
trash screen would
be designed to a
modern standard with
a reduced risk of
blockage and
increased ease of
maintaining
4 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment
(Spennithorne).

A

A

£4,000

Unknown

15

26

Existing screen is not fit for purpose and is a NYCC maintenance
liability. A well designed trash screen will significantly improve the
current maintenance liability. Would involve work on adjacent
property for fixing points. Protects existing NYCC culvert. Could
attract NYCC highways revenue/capital funding. FRM and others
may be able to act in a short space of time in order to deliver trash
screen

14

Option is less intrusive than option 3. There may be scope to work
with the land owners and partner organisations. The project
provides increased resilience and potential environmental benefits.
There could be a number of funding sources available.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option No.

Location

Total
West Witton
7 - Replace pond
trash screen with
modern standard.

Page 80

2 - Regrade area of
land to slope from
north-east down to
south-west on the
upstream side of the
Mill Pond wall.
3 - Waterproofing
treatment applied
along south-west wall
of Pondside Barn
1 - Increase current
pond inlet.
9 - Introduction of
natural process to
slow the flow and/or
reduce runoff in the
headwaters of the
hydrological
catchment. (West
Witton)
Total
Grand Total

Approx.
Scheme
costs
£4,000

Cost
Benefit

Option
Score

Engineer Input

Plus NFM scheme costs tbc

C

£3,800

15

24

Existing screen is not fit for purpose and is a maintenance liability.
A well designed trash screen will significantly improve the current
maintenance liability. Excellent cost benefit ratio

A

£7,000

15

23

Relatively minor intervention that would direct water away from the
barn. Would require land owner permission and would be
preferable to option 3.

A

£6,400

15

23

Could be offered as part of PLP scheme.

A

£2,600

15

22

Relatively simple intervention. Would need to be implemented with
other measures to ensure the outlet of the pond is not inundated.

A,B,C

Unknown

0

13

Can be implemented in a short space of time with opportunities to
with NFM delivery partners to provide flood risk and environmental
benefits. Could explore various funding mechanisms.

£19,800

Plus NFM scheme tbc

£2,845,200

Plus 12 NFM Schemes that have not yet been apportioned a cost

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.0

Next steps

5.1

The team will be available in Leyburn and Reeth at various times during the week
commencing 31 January 2022 so that those impacted can discuss the preferred
options directly with officers. Property Flood Resilience (PFR) demonstration kit has
also been offered by the contractor contracted by NYCC to deliver the Malton, Norton
and Old Malton scheme which will provide a positive engagement tool for
demonstrating resilience opportunities.

5.2

Landowner engagement is also a critical next stage, to ensure there is buy-in for any
identified measures for progression and to engage those individuals and
organisations in the process. Whilst not in the scope of the feasibility studies, an
element of this has already happened naturally, with site visits having been delivered
with the MOD above Bellerby and with input through parish councils from relevant
interested landowners in the preparation of the feasibility studies. The next stage will
be to build on these established links and look to move towards detailed design for
schemes with the appropriate landowner consent in place.

5.3

In the majority of the villages, a Property Flood Resilience (PFR) measure is
identified for progression. There are other flood risk projects across the county at a
similar status requiring delivery, in the lower Aire and Rye villages. If these measures
become the option in any location the PFR could be procured on a county-wide
contract, to enable efficiency in delivery and potentially cost savings on the bulk
purchase of resilience products such as flood barriers.

5.4

Other options will require more technical analysis and design and business case
development. There is an indicative £400k allocated in the FRM capital budget, taken
from the annual base budget and accumulated reserves, to be spent over the next
three years to permit the delivery and development of this project. This will permit
external funding opportunities to be explored. Likely sources of funding are Flood
Defence Grant in Aid (FDGIA), the Regional Flood and Coastal Committee levy pot
and any potential local contributions. It is intended to utilise £50k of this allocation to
develop the preferred options further prior to commencing work on business cases.

5.5

Officers will work as part of this iterative process of business case preparation/project
development during the next financial year. During conversations with interested
parties and during the build-up of designs for more technical options, the direction
may be forced to change. Similarly, it may become clear that an appropriate level of
funding cannot be achieved to permit delivery. Any proposed significant changes in
direction will be brought for a decision of the Corporate Director, BES, in consultation
with BES Executive Members. Business case submission to any third party funders
will also require Corporate Director Sign off as per County Council policy.

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equalities impacts
arising from the recommendations of this report. A completed Equalities Impact
Assessment screening form is included in Appendix 2.

6.2

It is the view of officers that the recommendations included in this report do not have
any adverse impacts on any of the protected characteristics identified in the
Equalities Act 2010 or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics. However, it is
worth noting that fully developed schemes will require a full Equalities Impact
Assessment.

Page 81

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

7.0

Financial implications

7.1

The estimated cost of all the measures in the preferred options table, excluding
natural flood management, is £2,845,200. The next phase of the work will see the
preferred options rationalised and the cost estimates for the measures refined and
funding sources identified.

7.2

There is £400k in total indicatively allocated in the flood risk management forward
programme to the work in the Upper Dales over the next three years. This is not an
indication of full scheme costs but is a projection of an appropriate level of
contribution from the authority towards the works, based on the number of properties
likely to benefit from the schemes and the growth opportunities the work may
provide.

7.3

The FRM base budget permits approximately £200k per year to be allocated to FRM
projects, with the county-wide programme profile requires draw from the flood risk
reserve each year to permit the anticipated delivery. There is presently £1.37m in
the flood risk reserve.

7.4

As schemes progress, where required, third party funding would be sourced for any
projects which were not affordable within the NYCC indicative contribution. NYCC
Officers have successfully applied for funding over the past few years from funders
including the LEP, EA, RFCC, DEFRA and also from other Risk Management
Authority partners to enable scheme delivery.

8.0

Legal implications

8.1

In accordance with its statutory duties within the Flood and Water Management Act
2010 and the Flood Risk Regulations 2009, NYCC as LLFA is required to prepare
and maintain a strategy for local flood risk management. It must also investigate
significant local flooding incidents and publish the results, and also maintain a
register of flood risk assets.

8.2

As LLFA, North Yorkshire County Council has permissive powers under Section 14A
of the Land Drainage Act 1991 to undertake work to mitigate surface water flooding
or groundwater flooding if the work is considered desirable having regard to the local
flood risk management strategy. Section 14 of the 1991 Act gives the LLFA drainage
board powers for works carried out in pursuance of a scheme under section 18 for
drainage of small areas.

8.3

The LLFA also has permissive powers under Section 25 of the 1991 Act to require
works to maintain the free passage of flow on ordinary watercourses in accordance
with Section 23(8) in relation to a watercourse in an area outside an internal drainage
district.

8.4

Under the County Council’s Constitution, the Corporate Director BES has delegated
powers to exercise all functions of the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority under
the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 and the Land Drainage Act 1991,
including (but not limited to) the granting (or otherwise) of land drainage consents for
ordinary watercourses.

8.5

This report seeks to progress scheme development in the Upper Dales, in locations
already identified as a high priority to NYCC in which to exercise these powers. The
affordance of a priority to “high risk locations” is detailed in the NY Flood Risk
Management Strategy. It is acknowledged that further legal implications may arise at
the planning and implementation stages.

Page 82

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

8.6

Proper consideration as outlined in section 6 is being given to equalities issues that
are pertinent to these plans

9.0

Climate Change Implications

9.1

A Climate Change Impact Assessment is included as Appendix 3 of this report. No
significant impacts are anticipated resulting from the report, however flood mitigation
offers positive benefits to resilience to future climate change projections and can offer
secondary water quality and environmental benefits if delivered sympathetically.
Overall then, the proposals are therefore anticipated to have a positive impact in
response to climate change.

10.0

Recommendations

10.1

It is recommended that the BES Corporate Director, in consultation with the BES
Executive Member for Access:
i.
Note the outcomes of the Upper Dales feasibility studies
ii.
Approve the progression of the work towards the preferred options identified in
this report arising from the studies described and incurring the associated
indicative expenditure from the FRM budget.
iii.
Approve expenditure of up to £50k from the Flood Risk Management Base
Budget to permit further detailed work in the development of the preferred
options over Q4 21/22 and into financial year 22/23.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director Highways and Transportation

Author of Report: E Mellalieu, M Jones
Background Documents:
NY Flood Risk Strategy
Upper Dales Section 19 Report
Upper Dales Feasibility Reports

Page 83

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/17

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 1

Critical Analysis of Options

1

1

1

2

£51, 200

15

21

6

Undertake essential
maintenance to clear culvert and
implement modern trash screen
to prevent future blockage.

C

2

3

1

3

2

£7, 800

10

21

Project
Resilience

1

Engineer
Input

Option Score

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Environmenta
l Benefits

A

Timescales

Description

1c

Implement a flood embankment
along the north-west of the town
to provide a barrier to flows. This
will effectively ‘cut off’ the flow
path from the north, routing
flows into Arkle Beck to the
West. It is assumed a back
drainage system would not be
required for this option.

Location

Option No.

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

To be read in conjunction with the Upper Dales Feasibility Reports 2021

Arkengarthdale

Page 84

2

4

The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.

A

B

3

3

2

2

1

1

3

3

2

2

£70,315

£24, 180

5

5

Limited protection offered to properties on the left bank of
Arkle Beck. Unlikely to align with National Parks heritage
and conservation policies etc. Routine vegetation
management and minor reinstatement works. Does not
align with any highway works Significantly lower
construction cost results in a cost benefit ratio of >5.
Limited funding opportunities given that hard engineered
solutions do not align with current practices and
aspirations.
Could be delivered at speed to elevate initial flooding
issues Unlikely to conflict with National Parks
requirements. Could be implemented as part of highways
improvements. Trash screen would be installed on
NYCC asset. Could attract highways funding

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/18

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

7

Page 85

9

12

14

The installation measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks
The installation measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Undertake a series of land use
changes/interventions in order to
reduce rate of hillslope runoff.
Interventions may include tree
planting, leaky dams, removal of
formal land drainage, limiting
sediment transport. Aim to infill a
number of drains or ‘grips’ in the
upper catchment to slow
runoff/discharges to Arkle Beck.
Undertake peatland restoration
where erosion and degradation
of natural peatland has occurred

C

D

E

A,B,C
,D,E

3

3

3

2

2

2

2

3

1

1

1

3

3

3

3

3

2

2

2

3

£18, 140

£30, 225

£36, 270

Unknown

5

5

5

Unknown

Engineer
Input

Option Score

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Project
Resilience

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Timescales

Location

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

14

Some maintenance and monitoring required –
predominantly by land owners. Aligns with some
aspirations of the national park. In line with national and
local strategy. Various funding streams available for NFM

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/19

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

1b

Implement a flood wall along the
north-west of the town to provide
a barrier to flows. This will
effectively ‘cut off’ the flow path
from the north, routing flows into
Arkle Beck to the West. It is
assumed a back drainage
system would not be required for
this option.

E

A

1

2

1

1

1

1

2

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

1

£35, 500

£87,600

£255, 300

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Project
Resilience

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Timescales

Location
B

5

0

0

Engineer
Input

Page 86
10

Regrade area of Booze Road
above the field in the east of the
village in order to divert surface
water flows along Booze Road
into the field. At the southwestboundary of the field a
newly excavated collection
channel would collect surface
water flows and route water to
the southeast, around the
village. The proposedcollection
channel as outlined discharges
to the field at the southeast of
the village. However, alternative
discharges, such as to Arkle
Beck, SuDS pond or
soakaway,should be examined.
A newly excavated collection
channel would collect surface
water runoff from hillsides and
convey flows away from
buildings. Pipe outfalls would
take water from the collection
channel and discharge to Arkle
Beck.

Option Score

3

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

12

Significant off highway works which will require national
Parks planning and significant land owner buy in. Some
maintenance responsibilities on the County Council.
Does not align with other work streams therefore unlikely
to alight with other funding opportunities.

6

Significant off highway works which will require national
Parks planning and significant land owner buy in. Some
maintenance responsibilities on the County Council.
Does not align with other work streams therefore unlikely
to alight with other funding opportunities. Unlikely to
progress due to costs. Very low cost benefit ratio

5

Marginal cost benefit ratio of 1.09. Regular inspections
required to ensure defence is still fit for purpose.
Frequent inspection and clearance of back drainage
system to ensure effective operation. County Council
would require access in perpetuity to the structure.
Significant buy in from landowners required including
possible land owner compensation. Unlikely to align with
National Parks heritage and conservation policies etc.
Will not attract funding from partner organisation with.
Negative cost benefit

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/20

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 87
1

11

Project
Resilience

Funding
Opportunities

Approx.
Scheme costs

Cost Benefit

Option Score

2

3

1

1

0

£56, 000

-15

-8

Negative cost benefit ratio

D

2

3

1

1

0

£99, 000

-15

-8

Negative cost benefit ratio

Engineer
Input

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

C

Environmenta
l Benefits

Timescales

8

Replace the culvert under the
road to accommodate a higher
flow rate. Investigate influence
of Arkle Beck on the culvert
outlet and if necessary, raise the
culvert outlet to maintain free
flowing conditions when water
levels in Arkle Beck are high.
Replace the culvert under the
highway with a culvert of
equivalent or increased
capacity.
Implement a flood wall along the
north-west and south-west of the
village to provide a barrier to
flows. This will effectively ‘cut
off’ the flow path from the north,
routing flows into Arkle Beck to
the West. Protection would be
afforded to properties at risk of
flooding from Arkle Beck. A back
drainage system would be
required to provide drainage for
surface water runoff flowing into
the village from the north-east.
The section of wall at the west of
the village would need to be
constructed in residential
gardens, which may not be
acceptable for residents.
Implement a flood wall along the
bank of Arkle Beck to protect
against fluvial flooding. A back
drainage system would be
required to provide drainage for
surface water runoff flowing into
the village from the north-east.

Location

5

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

A

1

1

1

1

0

£1, 454,
500

-15

11

Negative cost benefit. Regular inspections required to
ensure defence is still fit for purpose. Frequent
inspection and clearance of back drainage system to
ensure effective operation. County Council would
require access in perpetuity to the structure. Significant
buy in from landowners required including possible land
owner compensation. Unlikely to align with National
Parks heritage and conservation policies etc. Does not
align with any highway works. Will not attract funding
from partner organisation with.

E

1

1

1

1

0

£430, 000

-15

11

Costings and maintenance render this option untenable

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/21

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option Score

1

0

£605, 000

-15

11

Engineer
Input

Cost Benefit

1

Approx.
Scheme costs

Partnership
Working
Opportunities
1

Funding
Opportunities

Timescales
1

Project
Resilience

Location
A,B,C
,D,E

Environmenta
l Benefits

Description

13

Implement floodplain
embankments in two areas of
existing floodplain upstream of
Whaw. The embankments
provide impediments to
floodplain flow, increasing water
levels within the floodplain, thus
increasing floodplain storage.
Increasing floodplain storage
means water is released more
gradually from the floodplain
back to the downstream
watercourse channel, reducing
peak flows in the watercourse.

Page 88

Option No.

Appendix 1

Significant landowner buy in needed. Maintenance
requirements would be high. Negative cost benefit ratio

Bainbridge

7

3

The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.

B

3

2

1

3

2

£15,900

15

26

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

A

3

2

1

3

2

£24,180

5

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/22

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Approx.
Scheme costs

3

3

2

Unknown

B

2

3

3

3

2

Not
Currently
known

B

2

1

1

2

1

£19,800

B

1

1

1

1

1

£104,200

Engineer
Input

Funding
Opportunities

3

Option Score

Project
Resilience

2

Environmenta
l Benefits

A

Cost Benefit

8

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

9

Timescales

Page 89

6

Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land upstream of
The Crescent. A range of
measures can be considered,
but given assumed land use and
watercourse character, land/soil
management and revegetation
are recommended.
Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land upstream of
Sycamore Hall. A range of
measures can be considered,
but given assumed land use and
watercourse character, land/soil
management and revegetation
are recommended.
Investigate the culvert under the
boundary wall to the south of
Sycamore Hall to potentially
upsize or install trash screen.
Diversion channel in the field
upstream of Sycamore Hall to
divert surface water toward the
River Bain. Total length of
approx. 300m with a 40m
cascading style channel over the
steep section towards the river.

Location

1

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

0

13

Significant buy in from landowners required.

13

Significant buy in from landowners required.

12

Could be added to capital projects

5

Significant buy in from landowners required. Unknown
capacity of current network. Issues with changing the
character and landscape. Off highway works. Unlikely to
attract additional funding with very low cost benefit

5

0

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/23

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4

Page 90
5

Cost Benefit

Option Score

Engineer
Input

2

Approx.
Scheme costs

1

Funding
Opportunities

1

Project
Resilience

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

A

Environmenta
l Benefits

Timescales

No. attenuation areas. 3 No.
earth embankments constructed
at field boundaries to store water
during intense rainfall events.
Culverts under embankments
proposed as flow controls,
though alternative methods of
flow control should be reviewed.
Regarding/landscaping of
gardens around the properties
along Bainbridge Haws to divert
flow toward a new culvert to the
east.
Replace current culvert with 2
No. open channel sections and
2 No. shorter culvert sections as
follows: 140m open channel
through the field south of the
A684, a 75m culvert beneath the
A684 draining to a 70m open
channel to the rear of properties
along Bainbridge Haws and a
90m culvert beneath the
residential gardens and road to
discharge to River Bain.

Location

2

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

1

0

£233, 900

-15

10

Unknown geology of the area, option would need to
adhere to the Reservoirs Act 1975. Negative cost benefit
ratio would not attract any funding.

Significant buy in from landowners required. Unknown
capacity of current network. Issues with changing the
character and landscape. Off highway works. Unlikely to
attract additional funding with negative cost benefit

A

1

1

1

2

0

£106,900

-15

10

A

1

1

1

1

0

£354,200

-15

11

Significant buy in from landowners required. Unknown
capacity of current network

27

Existing screen is not fit for purpose and is a NYCC
maintenance liability. A well designed trash screen will
significantly improve the current maintenance liability.
Would involve work on adjacent property for fixing points.
Protects existing NYCC culvert. Could attract NYCC
highways revenue/capital funding. FRM and others may
be able to act in a short space of time in order to deliver
trash screen

Bellerby

3

Remove old flap/gate style trash
screen and implement new fixed
trash screen and maintenance
platform at A6108 culvert inlet.
New headwall is assumed to be
required to facilitate construction
of trash screen

3

3

1

3

2

£9,300

A,D

15

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/24

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 91

12

14

15

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

1

2

1

£1,600

15

23

3

2

1

3

2

£33,250

5

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

3

2

1

3

2

£72,550

5

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

3

2

1

3

2

£12,090

5

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

3

2

1

3

2

£24,180

5

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

Cost Benefit

1

Project
Resilience

3

Relatively simple intervention. Significant land owner buy
in required as it involves removal of a 3rd party wall.
Unlikely to attract any funding or aligns with other NYCC
priorities

Timescales

Location

Engineer
Input

11

Remove wall in garden at Aston
House. May also require
regrading of road to ensure
flows are routed towards the
watercourse and away from
buildings.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.

Option Score

5

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

D

A

B

D

E
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/25

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

1

2

1

£16,150

5

13

2

3

3

3

2

Currently
Not Known

N/A

13

Significant landowner will be required. Unknown costs
involved.

2

3

3

3

2

Currently
Not Known

N/A

13

Significant landowner will be required. Unknown costs
involved

12

BPC are currently working with landowners, to progress
this option. Whilst the cost benefit appears marginal, the
committed land owner buy in and providing the required
land, the parish council maintaining the structure for the
lifetime of the scheme and additional external funding
from the Two Ridings fund, this project provides and
attractive proposition and the LLFA will seek to support
where it can. Either through officer time of financial
support.

12

There would be a requirement on either NYCC or the
land owner to maintain the diversion channel in
perpetuity. Potential loss of farmland may impede land
owner buy in. Off highway works therefore does not align
with any highway schemes.

Cost Benefit

1

Project
Resilience

Engineer
Input

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

3

Requires significant land owner buy in as work within
residential boundary. No future maintenance liabilities as
the works aim to improve flow paths through re-grading
of land. Cannot be linked to a highway scheme and
unlikely to attract external funding with a low cots benefit
score

Timescales

Location

Regrade land at residential
properties to prevent flow from
reaching property thresholds. 2
No. Areas outlined to protect
properties at a total of 235m2.

Option Score

6

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

D

9

Page 92
10

1

2

Undertake a series of land use
changes/interventions in order to
reduce rate of hillslope runoff.
Interventions may include tree
planting, leaky debris dams,
removal of formal land drainage,
and limiting sediment transport.
Undertake a series of land use
changes/interventions in order to
reduce rate of hillslope runoff.
Interventions may include tree
planting, leaky debris dams,
removal of formal land drainage,
and limiting sediment transport.
5No. on-line attenuation features
located upstream of Bellerby on
the alignment of the flow path
over the Bellerby Beck culvert.
Attenuation would be achieved
by implementing earth
embankments with a flow control
feature, such as a culvert / weir,
along the flow path described in
order to hold back high flows
during a flood event.
Channel diversion of Bellerby
Beck, from upstream of Heron
Tree Close, discharging to the
open channel south of Moor
Road, West of Bellerby Road.

A,C,D
,E,F

B, E

2

3

2

3

2

£253,500

0

A,B,C
,D,E,
F

2

1

2

1

1

£118,00

A,C,F

5

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/26

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Option Score

3

1

2

2

£48,000

0

11

Could be linked with a potential HW Safety Scheme

3

2

1

3

2

£48,360

0

11

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

3

2

1

3

2

0

11

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

3

1

1

1

0

£482,000

-15

-9

Significant maintenance liability and negative cost benefit
ratio

2

2

1

1

0

£42,000

-15

-9

Could be linked with a potential HW Scheme. Additional
highways maintenance of drainage system, but not
insurmountable. Negative Cost Benefit Ratio

Engineer
Input

Cost Benefit

3

Environmenta
l Benefits

Location

Approx.
Scheme costs

7

Implementation of 2 No.
Subsurface drainage gulley’s to
convey water from the road
surface to the Bellerby Beck

Funding
Opportunities

4

Project
Resilience

16

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Page 93

13

Regrade Runs Bank at the bend
in the road to divert surface
flows to the unnamed
watercourse at east of Bellerby.
Alternatively topographical
changes could be focussed on
diverting surface water flows
through the field to the east of
Bellerby, eventually discharging
to Bellerby Beck at the southeast of the village.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Implementation of flood defence
around properties. Will require a
channel diversion to move the
watercourse out of the
residential gardens at Bellerby
Beck

Timescales

8

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

E

C

£36,270

F

F

D
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/27

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Cost Benefit

Option Score

Engineer
Input

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Project
Resilience

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Timescales

Location

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

15

26

Buy in from Np will be needed alongside other
landowners. Excellent cost benefit ratio

26

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

culvert which routes under the
Olde Wynd.

Hawes and Gayle
6

Page 94

7

5

1

3

Removal of railway bridge
remains in Gayle Beck to reduce
water levels within the
watercourse.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Implement 3 No. floodplain
embankments to enhance
upstream floodplain. 600mm dia.
culvert used as flow control at
Embankment 2. No flow control
at other embankments. Drystone
wall removal along embankment
footprint.
Implement flow collection
channel of approx. 36m to route
surface water around property.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks

B

B

3

3

1

2

3

1

2

3

2

2

£40,000

£244,600

15

B

1

1

2

1

3

£165,000

15

23

Significant buy in from landowners required. Will need to
adhere to Reservoirs Act 1975. Very good cost benefit
ratio could attract funding. Whether the cost benefit out
weights the liability of maintaining the structure would
need to be explored further.

A

2

1

1

1

1

£3,000

15

21

Significant buy in from landowners required.

21

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

A

3

2

1

3

2

£6,000

10

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/28

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 95

9

4

10

2

Install new pipe to route water
around the property along the
line of an existing flow path and
discharge to the field at the
north. A flow diversion channel
may be

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

1

3

2

£6,000

5

16

B

3

3

3

3

2

£1,366,000

0

14

Significant buy in from landowners required. Needs to be
explored further. Could be linked with other schemes

B

3

3

3

3

2

Not Known

14

Significant buy in from landowners required. Could be
linked with other schemes

B

1

1

1

1

1

£341,000

5

10

Discussion required with landowner (Richmond DC) with
regards to ongoing maintenance. National Parks
planning will be required.

C

2

2

1

1

0

£229,100

-15

-9

Landowner buy in needed. Negative cost benefit ratio

A

1

1

1

1

0

£75,000

-15

11

Significant buy in from landowners required. Negative
cost benefit ratio

Cost Benefit

2

Project
Resilience

3

Timescales

C

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. There may be some issues
with some PLP measures in the National Parks
conservation areas. External funding could be pursued.

Location

Engineer
Input

8

The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks
Undertake floodplain tree
planting in an area of approx.
0.14km2 in the upstream part of
the catchment.
Undertake a series of land use
changes/interventions across
the catchment upstream of
Hawes & Gayle (approx. 15km2)
in order to reduce rate of
hillslope runoff. Interventions
may include tree planting, leaky
debris dams, removal of formal
land drainage, and limiting
sediment transport.
Implement traditional flood wall
of approx. 120m length along
Gayle Beck left bank/west side.
Proposed wall would replace
existing drystone wall.
Back drainage system required.
Replace existing culvert with a
larger culvert, with a single bore
area along its length.

Option Score

11

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/29

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

1

3

2

£35,440

15

26

D

2

1

1

3

2

Unknown

15

24

B

3

2

1

3

2

£17,720

10

21

Engineer
Input

Option Score

2

Project
Resilience

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

3

Timescales

A

Location

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

necessary to formalise this and
increase its effectiveness.

Leyburn

Page 96

6

15

9

The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Review the design of the trash
screen at the inlet of the culvert
upstream of Bishopdale Close. If
required, redesign the trash
screen to make it less
vulnerable to blockages.
The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA
guidance) includes two floodproof doors, two airbrick covers
and external wall render/bricks.

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

Review of the trash screen could be undertaken
promptly, with any recommendations to improve
resilience and maintainability considered a quick win.
Good Cost benefit ratio.

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/30

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Project
Resilience

Funding
Opportunities

Approx.
Scheme costs

Cost Benefit

Option Score

3

2

1

3

2

£62,020

10

21

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

F

3

2

1

3

2

£35,440

10

21

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

Engineer
Input

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

D

Environmenta
l Benefits

Timescales

Page 97

22

The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.

Location

16

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

17

Identify opportunities to improve
drainage; such as the
installation of additional gullies
or upsizing of drainage runs.

E

3

2

1

1

2

Unknown

5

14

Could be implemented quickly in partnership with LHA.
However any additional work will likely have significant
cost implications. Work considered to be highway related
matters and could be dealt with as BAU. Option therefore
discounted.

18

The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.

E

3

2

1

3

2

£74,000

5

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/31

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5

Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land upstream of
Mount Drive.

4

Attenuation area to be created
by excavation of agricultural
land on the right bank of the
watercourse upstream of 60
Mount Drive.

F

A

A

2

2

2

3

3

3

1

3

3

3

2

3

3

3

1

3

3

2

1

Unknown

£74,000

Not Known

£109,000

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Project
Resilience

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Timescales
2

0

0

0

5

Engineer
Input

21

Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land north of Dale
Grove. A range of measures can
be considered, but given
assumed land use and
watercourse character, land/soil
management and revegetation
are commended.

C

Option Score

Page 98

12

Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land north of Dale
Grove.

Location

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

14

Initial stages could be implemented quickly whilst
working with partner organisations to deliver
environmental benefits and increase resilience shows
this option to align well with other aspirations. Once an
understanding of scheme costs is obtained a cost benefit
can be derived and option overall option score improved.

14

Initial stages could be implemented quickly whilst
working with partner organisations to deliver
environmental benefits and increase resilience shows
this option to align well with other aspirations. Once an
understanding of scheme costs is obtained a cost benefit
can be derived and option overall option score improved.

13

Initial stages could be implemented quickly whilst
working with partner organisations to deliver
environmental benefits and increase resilience shows
this option to align well with other aspirations. Once an
understanding of scheme costs is obtained a cost benefit
can be derived and option overall option score improved.

12

This option offers very low cost benefits and would
require extensive negotiation with land owners. The
option is unlikely progress further due to maintenance
liability

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/32

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 99

14

1/7

D

A,B

1

1

1

2

1

2

1

£101,890

1

1

1

1

£74,000

£130,000

11

5

0

11

6

Engineer
Input

2

Option Score

3

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

2

Funding
Opportunities

3

Project
Resilience

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

C

Environmenta
l Benefits

Timescales

The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Formalisation of area to store
flows when the culvert is
surcharged – this would be
achieved by constructing a 120
m long bund on the south east
corner of the playing field of The
Wensleydale School. Stored
flow would be discharged from
the attenuation area into the
existing watercourse culvert at a
controlled rate via a 150 mm dia.
pipe.
Upsize the existing watercourse
culvert and drainage system
beneath Bellerby Road. Assume
culverts are upsized to 1 m dia.
circular culvert. It would run 46
m from the western edge of
Bellerby Road, under the
highway, to its outfall into the
existing watercourse

Location

13

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

Design and feasibility, along with negotiation with the
school is likely to delay implementation. School is part of
NYCC estates therefore implementation should be
relatively straight forward in terms of land negotiations.
Questions regarding the efficiency of such an
intervention when here is a significant overland flow
noted. May be ineffective if already full. Suggest scheme
goes on pipeline of projects to explore further.

Cost Benefit Ration 1.1 is unlikely to attract any external
funding. The may ameliorate some of the risk, but does
not remove the risk entirely give the risk of blockage or
event beyond the design capacity of the culvert. Could
be linked with a potential HW Scheme

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/33

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3

C

A

1

1

2

1

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

£165,000

£90,000

£173,000

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Project
Resilience

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Timescales

Location
C

0

0

-15

Engineer
Input

Page 100
11

The excavation of a new
drainage channel running 260 m
east to west along the northern
edge of Dale Grove that collects
flows from the surrounding
agricultural land. Flows that are
collected in the drainage
channel will run via a new 600
mm dia. culvert running 123 m
down Bellerby Road and
discharge into the existing
watercourse downstream of
Bellerby Road
The construction of a bund
spanning the length of Dale
Grove and situated in an
agricultural field to the north.
The assumed dimensions of the
bund would be 00 m in length
with an average height of 1 m.
Surface water from the fields
would be held behind the bund
and be cut-off from the affected
properties on Dale Grove. It may
be appropriate to combine
elements of this intervention with
Option 10 depending on the
results of further investigation.
Increase crest level of existing
stone channel wall at 60 Mount
Drive and tie into suitable
feature to provide continuous
defence.

Option Score

10

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

6

Any drainage channel will have finite capacity and will
require regular maintenance. Maintenance
responsibilities would need to be agreed with land owner.
Additional surface water being directed down Bellerby
Road could result in increased risk. Low cost benefit ratio
does not make the scheme attractive to external funders.

5

Option intended to complement Option 10 - With an
already limited cost benefit ratio for option 10, the
addition of this option would make the scheme financially
unviable. Installation of a bund increases the residual risk
of breach. As such the bund would need to be inspected
periodically and "topped up" (due to settlement) or
repaired if it has been overtopped. Scheme scores low
across the board. Option discounted.

-9

A negative cost benefit ratio confirms that this solution is
not financially viable. The option is unlikely to ameliorate
the risk as water may continue to flow from the north of
mount drive. Option Discounted

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/34

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 101

2/8

19

Cost Benefit

Option Score

Engineer
Input

2

Approx.
Scheme costs

2

Funding
Opportunities

1

Project
Resilience

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

F

Environmenta
l Benefits

Timescales

Construct 3 no. flow attenuation
areas in agricultural land
upstream of the culvert inlet on
Riseber Lane. As a notional
design, excess flows are
assumed to be attenuated by an
embankment and discharged
into a watercourse culvert at a
controlled rate via a 150 mm dia.
pipe. Three examples of the flow
attenuation areas have been
provided based on a high-level
interpretation of the topography
Construction of a new culvert
that bypasses the undersized
drainage system. It would run
from the small section of open
watercourse to the west of
Mount Drive to Bellerby Road.
From here it would run
southwards down Bellerby Road
and discharge at the outfall of
the existing culvert. It is
assumed to be a circular 1 m
dia. culvert of 196 m length.
Replace 3 no. impermeable,
mainly asphalted areas with
permeable paving or equivalent
SuDS feature. The proposed
locations are: - Grove Square 1
(1,400 m2), - Grove Square 2
(265 m2), and - Harmby Road
Carpark (3100 m2).

Location

20

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

1

0

£272,000

-15

-9

Negative Cost Benefit Ratio

A, B

1

2

1

1

0

£464,000

-15

10

A negative cost benefit ratio confirms that this solution is
not financially viable. Further difficulties could be
encountered given the space constraints of working
between residential properties, garages and within
gardens. Option Discounted

F

1

1

1

1

0

£74,000

-15

11

Negative Cost Benefit Ratio

Redmire

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/35

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Approx.
Scheme costs

Cost Benefit

Option Score

3

2

1

3

2

£12,080

10

21

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

B

3

2

1

3

2

£30,225

5

16

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

A, B

3

3

3

3

3

Unknown

0

15

The option will need to be explored further with
landowners.

B

2

2

1

1

0

£112,400

-15

-9

Negative Cost benefit ratio

Engineer
Input

Funding
Opportunities

A

Environmenta
l Benefits

Project
Resilience

3

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

1

Timescales

Page 102

4

The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Undertake a series of land use
changes/interventions in order to
reduce rate of hillslope runoff.
Interventions may include tree
planting, removal of formal land
drainage, leaky debris dams and
limiting sediment transport.
Installation of a new drainage
line along the unnamed road
leading to the 5 properties
around the former Kings Arms
pub in the south of Redmire.
The new drainage line should be
sited along the existing surface
gully to remove water from the
road surface.

Location

2

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

Reeth and Fremmington

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/36

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Cost Benefit

Option Score

3

2

1

3

2

£35,440

15

26

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

B

3

2

1

3

2

£33,220

15

26

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

D

3

2

1

3

2

£68,660

15

26

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

B

3

2

1

2

2

£2,400

15

25

Attractive cost benefit ratio. Could be delivered quickly in
a short time scale to improve exceedance planning and
improved resilience.

23

The option illustrates large attenuation structure that may
have to comply with the reservoirs act. Increase risk of
breach, which given the catchment characteristics could
cause significant risk. No modelling undertaken therefore
size of attenuation required no established. Further work
required to establish if this option has any merit.

A,C,D

2

2

2

1

1

£155,000

15

Engineer
Input

Approx.
Scheme costs

A

Environmenta
l Benefits

Funding
Opportunities

17

Enhancement of existing
features in the landscape to
produce 3 no. attenuation areas
in the Arkle Beck catchment
upstream of Reeth and
Fremington.

Project
Resilience

9

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

16

Timescales

Page 103

10

The installation of measures that
protect specific properties
directly from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Construct a 17m kerb on the
property-side of the highway off
Alpine Terrace. A standard kerb
height has been assumed to be
sufficient across 17 m.

Location

5

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/37

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

1

Page 104

3

12

Construction of a bund
approximately 85 m in length
along a current flow path to
divert surface water flow around
the Holiday Cottages and
adjacent properties and into
Arkle Beck
The installation of a drainage
feature (i.e. grid) to collect
surface water flow down Mill
Lane. Collected flow would be
discharged to Arkle Beck via a
sealed pipe approximately 300
mm dia. and 35 m in length.
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.

14

Attenuation area to be created
by excavation of agricultural
land on the right bank of the
watercourse upstream of
Fremmington.

13

The construction of 2 no. bunds
adjacent to the left bank of Arkle
Beck at locations where Arkle
Beck is reported to overtop.

A

2

1

1

2

1

£23,500

15

Engineer
Input

Option Score

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Project
Resilience

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Timescales

Location

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

22

A medium timescale for implementation that could
provide robust mitigation. Little opportunity for
partnership working or provide environmental benefits,
limited resilience as an engineered structure. Very good
cost benefit ratio.

A

2

1

1

1

1

£42,000

15

21

A medium timescale for implementation that could
provide robust mitigation. Little opportunity for
partnership working or provide environmental benefits,
limited resilience as an engineered structure. Very good
cost benefit ratio.

C

3

2

1

3

2

£13,290

10

21

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

21

Whilst it has an excellent cost benefit ratio, feedback
from the parish council and engineering judgment has
established that this option would have finite capacity
and would not be effective against the high velocity
nature of the flooding experienced here. It would be full
in minutes with no additional protection afforded. Option
Discounted

16

Medium timescale with a good cost benefit ratio. Does
not align with environmental and resilience objectives.
Residual risk of breach. Good cost benefit ratio. Scheme
could be considered for further economics and design
considerations.

D

D

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

£75,000

£174,000

15

10

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/38

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4

Page 105

15

8

Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land upstream of Mill
Lane. A range of measures can
be considered, but given
assumed land use and
watercourse character, land/soil
management and revegetation
are recommended
Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land upstream of
Fremington. A range of
measures can be considered,
but given assumed land use and
watercourse character, land/soil
management and revegetation
are recommended.
Regrade a length of the highway
along Silver Street to divert flow
into agricultural land adjacent to
it. A channel approximately 400
m in length would be excavated
in agricultural land to collect
flows and discharge them to the
River Swale. It is proposed that
the drainage channel would be
excavated along existing field
boundaries to minimise
disruption to landowners.

A

D

B

3

3

2

3

3

3

3

3

1

3

3

2

3

3

1

Unknown

Unknown

£126,000

0

0

0

Engineer
Input

Option Score

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Project
Resilience

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Timescales

Location

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

15

Can be implemented in a short space of time with
opportunities to with NFM delivery partners to provide
flood risk and environmental benefits. Could explore
various funding mechanisms.

15

Some maintenance and monitoring required –
predominantly by land owners. Aligns with some
aspirations of the national park. In line with national and
local strategy. Various funding streams available for NFM

9

Option considered as part of collaboration between
National Parks and NYCC highways. Collaboration could
see the project improve its cost benefit ratio through
benefits in kind.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/39

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Funding
Opportunities

Approx.
Scheme costs

Cost Benefit

Option Score

Engineer
Input

B

2

1

1

1

0

£187,000

-15

10

Negative cost benefit ratio. Unlikely to gain approval from
National Parks for change of surface. Parish Council
consultation suggested the same. Option Discounted

A

1

1

1

1

0

£958,000

-15

11

Negative Cost Benefit ratio. Option Discounted

B

1

1

1

1

0

£230,000

-15

11

C

1

1

1

1

0

£320,000

-15

11

Environmenta
l Benefits

Project
Resilience

11

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

7

Timescales

Page 106

2

The replacement of 2 no.
impermeable surfaces with
permeable paving or equivalent
SuDS features upstream of
Alpine Terrace. These two
locations are currently cobbled
and are used for car parking.
The implementation of a flood
wall around the Holiday
Cottages and properties on Mill
Lane that are adjacent to Arkle
Beck. The flood wall is assumed
to be approximately 200 m in
length and 1.5 m in height. It is
intended to tie into suitable
features to provide continuous
defence. Back drainage would
be required, as there are clear
surface water flow paths from
the northwest. At this stage,
back drainage has not been
included within the design or
cost estimates.
Diversion of flow from the
existing highways drainage
system to an underground
storage area with approximate
total capacity of 260 m3. under
the village green.
The implementation of a flood
wall around the property on the
B6270 that is immediately
adjacent to Arkle Beck. The
flood wall is assumed to be
approximately 95 m in length
and 1.5 m in height. It is
intended to tie into suitable

Location

6

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

Negative cost benefit ratio. Attenuation would have a
finite capacity and would not provide a resilient solution.
Does not align with other environmental benefits etc.
Option Discounted.

Negative Cost benefit ratio. Scheme does not align with
environmental, resilience and funding opportunities.
Option discounted.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/40

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Engineer
Input

1

3

2

£4,000

15

26

A

3

2

1

3

2

£49,950

15

26

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

14

Option is less intrusive that option 3. There may be
scope to work with the land owners and partner
organisations. The project provides increased resilience
and potential environmental benefits. There could be a
number of funding sources available.

Cost Benefit

2

Project
Resilience

Option Score

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

3

Timescales

A

Existing screen is not fit for purpose and is a NYCC
maintenance liability. A well designed trash screen will
significantly improve the current maintenance liability.
Would involve work on adjacent property for fixing points.
Protects existing NYCC culvert. Could attract NYCC
highways revenue/capital funding. FRM and others may
be able to act in a short space of time in order to deliver
trash screen

Location

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

features to provide continuous
defence.

Spennithorne

Page 107

2

5

4

Replace the trash screen with a
modern style screen with
maintenance platform. The new
trash screen would be designed
to a modern standard with a
reduced risk of blockage and
increased ease of maintaining
The installation of measures that
protect properties from flooding.
A notional ‘premium’ installation
per residential property (as per
2015 EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.
Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land upstream
of Spennithorne.

A

3

3

3

3

2

Unknown

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/41

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3

1

1

3

1

£3,800

2

Regrade area of land to slope
from north-east down to southwest on the upstream side of the
Mill Pond wall.

A

3

1

1

2

1

£7,000

2

2

1

1

0

£182,000

£263,200

Engineer
Input

C

2

1

Option Score

7

Replace pond trash screen with
modern standard with small
maintenance deck.

1

2

Project
Resilience

8

The installation protection
measures that protect properties
from flooding. A notional
‘premium’ installation per
residential property (as per 2015
EA guidance) includes two
flood-proof doors, two airbrick
covers and external wall
render/bricks.

A

1

Cost Benefit

Approx.
Scheme costs

Funding
Opportunities

Environmenta
l Benefits

3

Implement a series of floodplain
embankments in existing
floodplain areas in the upper
Spennithorne Beck catchment

A

Timescales

1

Remove the complex, three-part
culvert, and replace with a single
barrel, precast concrete box
culvert under main street. The
cost estimates have been made
based on a culvert dimension of
1800mm x 1000mm, which is
roughly equivalent to the largest
part of the existing culvert.

Location

Description

Page 108

Option No.

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Appendix 1

7

Relatively low cost benefit ratio which will struggle to
obtain external funding. Option provide improves culvert
hydraulics and provides improved resilience against risk
of blockage, collage and long terms maintenance.
Suggest option is put on pipeline of project seeking
future funding, but is not currently a preferred option.

0

6

Relatively low cost benefit ratio which will struggle to
obtain external funding. Would require significant buy in
from landowners. High quality arable land upstream - buy
in or compensation costs would be high. Alto introduces
the risk of breach and high maintenance liabilities. Option
Discounted.

15

26

PLP will be offered as part of county wide programme.
Homeowner buy in required. External funding could be
pursued

15

24

Existing screen is not fit for purpose and is a
maintenance liability. A well designed trash screen will
significantly improve the current maintenance liability.
Excellent cost benefit ratio

15

23

Relatively minor intervention that would direct water
away from the barn. Would require land owner
permission and would be preferable to option 3.

0

West Witton

A,B,C

3

2

1

3

2

£33,240

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/42

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4b

6

5

4a

Implement surface water
collection channel at north end
of village green and installation
of 4. drainage pipes under A684.
Drop current village green level
to provide attenuation of
overtopping flow. Discharge pipe
in north east corner to allow
water to be conveyed under the
road to the watercourse channel
downstream.
Replace existing culvert
(consisting of concrete lined
channel and slab soffit) with
modern culvert.

Funding
Opportunities

Approx.
Scheme costs

Cost Benefit

Option Score

3

1

1

2

1

£6,400

15

23

Could be offered as part of PLP scheme.

A

3

1

1

1

1

£2,600

15

22

Relatively simple intervention. Would need to be
implemented with other measures to ensure the outlet of
the pond is not inundated.
Can be implemented in a short space of time with
opportunities to with NFM delivery partners to provide
flood risk and environmental benefits. Could explore
various funding mechanisms.

A,B,C

2

3

3

3

2

Unknown

0

13

A,B

1

1

2

1

1

£19,500

5

11

C

1

2

1

2

1

£78,000

0

7

C

1

2

1

1

1

£61,000

0

6

A,B

1

1

1

1

0

£525,000

-15

11

Engineer
Input

Project
Resilience

A

Environmenta
l Benefits

Partnership
Working
Opportunities

Page 109

9

Timescales

1

Waterproofing treatment applied
along south-west wall of
Pondside Barn. Approx. Length
of wall = 13.5m Assumed area
of wall to be waterproofed =
27m2
Increase current pond inlet.
Implement 1m x 1m square
orifice/inlet through wall with
screen (for livestock).
Introduction of natural process
to slow the flow and/or reduce
runoff in the headwaters of the
hydrological catchment –
agricultural land to the south of
West Witton.
Excavate new watercourse
channel along path shown on
plan (Appendix B). Watercourse
would be culverted under Mill
Pond wall and pedestrian area,
discharging to pond.

Location

3

Description

Option No.

Appendix 1

Would require significant landowner buy in in respect of
land take and future maintenance responsibilities. Does
not align with other objectives.
Significant expenditure for little return as illustrated by
the low cost benefit score. Potential partnership scheme
with LHA and improved resilience of road network, but
funding may be difficult to achieve. Suggest option put on
pipeline of project seeking investment.
It was confirmed during Parish consultations that the
green used to be a mill pond, and this option would be
reverting the old green to its previous state, therefore not
insurmountable. However, given the amount of flow
passing through any such intervention would be
inundated. Option discounted unless used in conjunction
with other options.
Negative cost benefit. Significant technical challenges
and does not align with environmental and resilience
objectives.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/43

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate
or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.

Business and Environmental Services
Highways and Transportation
Approval of development of preferred options in
the Upper Dales villages arising from feasibility
studies undertaken during 2021
Emily Mellalieu, Stephen Lilgert
Progress work on preferred flood risk mitigation
options identified as part of a feasibility study
covering various Upper Dales villages with a
view to enabling delivery of future NYCC
schemes
Upper Dales villages are identified as a high
priority in the NYCC flood risk management
programme. The work will see the risk in
communities mitigated, increasing community
resilience and reducing the detrimental impacts
of future flood events.
There is £400k of NYCC expenditure indicatively
attached to the proposal. The next phase seeks to
utilise £50k of this towards development of
preferred options towards a business case. £400k
is not representative of the full scheme costs, but
it will permit project development and contribution
towards any measures identified.

Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by
the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristic
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates
to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse
impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be
carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep
for advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation

No

Don’t know/No
info available

No
No
No
No
No

Page 110

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/44

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No.

No

EIA not
relevant or
X
proportionate:

Continue to
full EIA:

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

The work relates to a geographical area, any
action which may arise from the option
development relates to the physical geography
of the location and its associated flood risk,
rather than being a decision which may be
assessed differently or would have different
implications depending on any protected
characteristics an individual may have. Given
the project addresses risk in dispersed rural
communities it is likely to have a positive impact
on this characteristic.
Barrie Mason
11 January 2022

Page 111

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/45

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision making
process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 112

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Upper Dales flood mitigation- preferred options
Progression of preferred options
BES
Network Strategy
Emily Mellalieu
E Mellalieu
22/12/2021

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/46

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options
were not progressed.
Other options to be considered would be to do nothing. Given the impacts of flooding on the locations and the opportunity to further
develop the findings of the initial Section 19 Flood investigation Report, this option was discounted.
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
There is £400k indicatively allocated to this project from the Flood Risk Management Base Budget and Reserve. The next stage of this project
seeks to utilise £50k of this towards developing the preferred options indicated towards business case.

Page 113
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/47

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

Page 114

Minimise greenhouse Emissions
gas emissions e.g. from travel
reducing emissions
from travel, increasing
energy efficiencies
etc.
Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other
Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing
use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption

X

Explain how you
Explain how you
plan to mitigate any plan to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes
Where possible/relevant please include:
as far as possible.
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

(Place a X in the box
below where relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box
below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include
all potential impacts over the
lifetime of a project and provide
an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box
below
where relevant)
No impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

X

This work will see no change to
business as usual. The results of the
work address flood risk and as such are
likely to have a positive impact in
response to climate change.
As above

X

As above

X

As above

X

X

As above

As above

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/48

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

Explain how you
Explain how you
plan to mitigate any plan to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes
Where possible/relevant please include:
as far as possible.
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

(Place a X in the box
below where relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box
below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include
all potential impacts over the
lifetime of a project and provide
an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box
below
where relevant)
No impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

X

Page 115

Ensure resilience to the effects of X
climate change e.g. reducing flood
risk, mitigating effects of drier,
hotter summers

The project works towards the delivery of
flood mitigation. Resilience is key to the NY
flood risk strategy and options to progress
are in line with this.

Enhance conservation and
wildlife

Preferred Options include Natural Flood
Management Measures. This has the
potential to have wider benefits to
conservation and wildlife beyond simply
flood management.

X

Working with
communities through
the delivery to ensure
risks are known and
understood which
increases their
resilience in flood
events.
Working with partners
including the Dales to
Vales Rivers Network
to achieve mutual
benefits through the
project.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/49

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3
Explain how you
Explain how you
plan to mitigate any plan to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes
Where possible/relevant please include:
as far as possible.
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

(Place a X in the box
below where relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box
below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include
all potential impacts over the
lifetime of a project and provide
an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box
below
where relevant)
No impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Page 116

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

X

The resulting work if the bid is successful
would have the potential to positively
enhance distinctive characteristics,
features and qualities of NY’s landscape

Other (please state below)

X

As above there are potential positive
effects if the bid should be successful.

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets
those standards.
n/a

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including
any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
No impacts are anticipated from the development of this work. Any delivery resulting from the project development is likely to have a positive
impact in response to climate change.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/50

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3
Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Emily Mellalieu
Development Management Team Leader
H&T -Network Strategy
BES
E Mellalieu
4/1/2020

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 11 January 2022

Page 117
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Upper Dales Villages Project Update and Preferred Options for Progression/51

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 January 2022
Proposal to provide Commons Registration Services to City of York Council
Report of the Assistant Director – Highways and Transportation
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To seek authorisation from the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services (BES), in consultation with the BES Executive Member for Access, to
provide Commons Registration services to the City of York Council via a suitable
Service Level Agreement.

2.0

Background

2.1

The County Council as Commons Registration Authority (CRA) was approached by
the City of York Council (CYC) inviting NYCC to provide officer services to support
the delivery of their common land and village green statutory duties.

2.2

Unlike NYCC, CYC is not a pioneer registration authority and is therefore subject to
different legislation and guidance. Although some initial familiarisation of the relevant
legislation would be required, the broad principles and approaches involved remain
the same and many of the day-to-day duties are identical.

2.3

Through initial discussions with CYC it has been established that the additional
workload for NYCC would not be too onerous and could be accommodated under
existing staffing levels.

2.4

Initial discussions raised concern from Legal and Democratic Services about their
capacity to absorb any additional service requests. The extent of service proposed in
this report would not require any provision of legal support from NYCC which would
continue to be provided through CYC.

3.0

Proposal (Heads of Terms)

3.1

CYC Services to be provided by NYCC’s Commons Registration staff:
first point of contact for the public on matters relating to common land and
village greens

process applications; coordinate associated notices and draft reports of
recommendation

maintain registers and provide certified copies; prepare and share information
held in the digital registers and records

attend site visits, committees and hearings

respond to Planning Authority consultations

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Page
119
Approval
of Land Registration Service to York City Council /1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.2

Services retained by CYC:
Legal support

Final determination of applications

Maintenance and access to the definitive hard copies of the registers

Response to Land Charge searches

4.0

Financial Implications

4.1

The provision of this service would be chargeable and will generate income for
NYCC. It is currently unknown how much will be generated as this service has not
been offered before and City of York Council has indicated that any requests would
be on a purely ‘as required’ basis. There is though assurance that it would be within
the capacity available for NYCC to offer this service without compromising its own
delivery. It is worth noting that this offer has the potential to expand the service to
cover future provision for other commons registration authorities, which may increase
income further.

4.2

As the provision of the service will be on an ad hoc basis and the expected initial
workload will be quite low, it is proposed to charge at an hourly rate.

4.3

The proposed charge out rate would be the Commons Registration Officer’s salaried,
hourly rate of £19.53, plus on costs of £1.25 plus 20% (which covers all overheads),
giving an hourly charge of £24.94.

4.4

This approach is in-line with other current NYCC service level agreements with CYC.

4.5

The provision of this service will not require additional staffing. There will be legal
staff implications only to set up the service level agreement (SLA) as set out in
paragraph 6.1.

4.6

There is not expected to be any specific impact due to Local Government
Reorganisation as this would just form part of the SLA’s that NYCC has with other
authorities.

5.0

Equalities Implications

5.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equality impacts
arising from the recommendation and an Equality Impact Assessment screening form
is attached as Appendix 1.

6.0

Legal Implications

6.1

As the final determination of applications and any associated legal reviews and
advice is to be retained by CYC, there will be no NYCC legal implications in respect
of this proposed service provision, other than in the creation of a service level
agreement, in order to set up the arrangement between the two authorities. Initial
discussions have already been held with NYCC legal services in this regards.

7.0

Climate Change Impact

7.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse climate change
impacts arising from this proposal to provide officer services remotely via digital
services. A Climate Change Impact Assessment is attached as Appendix 2.

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
PageApproval
120 of Land
Registration Service to York City Council /2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

8.0

Recommendation

8.1

It is recommended that the Corporate Director, BES in consultation with the BES
Executive Member for Access authorise the proposal to provide officer services to CYC
via a suitable Service Level Agreement as stated in this report.

BARRIE MASON
Assistant Director - Highways and Transportation

Author of Report: Jayne Applegarth

Backing Documents: None

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Page
121
Approval
of Land Registration Service to York City Council /3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1
Provision of Common Registration services to City of York Council.
Initial equality impact assessment screening form
(As of October 2015 this form replaces ‘Record of decision not to carry out an EIA’)
This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of equality
to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be appropriate or
proportionate.
Directorate
Business and Environmental Services
Service area

Highways & Transportation

Proposal being screened

Provision of Commons Registration services to City
of York Council

Officer(s) carrying out screening

Jayne Applegarth

What are you proposing to do?

Establishment of a Service Level Agreement to
provide officer services to City of York Council with
regard to Commons Registration duties.
The development of additional income to NYCC

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?
Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal of
resources? Please give details.

No – the provision of officer services can be
accommodated under existing staffing and
therefore would not involve a significant
commitment or removal of resources.

Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by the
Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristic
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be a significant adverse
impact or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be
carried out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for
advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Yes

No

Don’t know/No
info available











Age
Disability
Sex (Gender)
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Page 122
Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council /4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

NYCC additional characteristic
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Reason for decision

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date




No, the proposals do not negatively affect any
groups of people.

No, the proposal will have no effect on how other
organisations work.


EIA not
Continue to
relevant or
full EIA:
proportionate:
The provision of officer services to the City of York
Council will provide an income stream to NYCC
and develop the Councils ability to develop this
service to other non-pioneer councils in the future
Barrie Mason
11/01/22

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Page
123
Approval
of Land Registration Service to York City Council /5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2
Climate change impact assessment

The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire
and on our aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate
negative effects and identify projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision making
process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 124

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal
Directorate
Service area
Lead officer

Provide Commons Registration services to City of York Council
To seek authorisation from the Corporate Director in consultation with
the Executive Member for Access
BES
Highways and Transportation
Jayne Applegarth

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council /6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Names and roles of other people
involved in carrying out the impact
assessment
Date impact assessment started

9/12/21

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options
were not progressed.

As City of York Council do not have the skills and experience within their staff to carry out the function of Commons Registration Authority they
have approached NYCC and asked if we are prepared to take on this role for a fee.

Page 125
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

Provision of the service will be on an ad-hoc basis with officer time including on-cost recharged back to City of York. This will result in a small cost
reduction to NYCC salary cost.

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council /7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 126

Minimise greenhouse Emissions
from travel
gas emissions e.g.

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

*

The only travel time will be for attending
site visits (rarely requested).

*

n/a

*

n/a

*

n/a

*

n/a

reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from
running of
buildings
Other

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing

Explain how you plan Explain how you plan
to mitigate any
to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes as
far as possible.

Whether NYCC or
CYC attend a site
visit, there would be
travel emissions.
Travel can be by
electric pool car when
available.

use of single use plastic
NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council /8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

*

n/a

Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

*

n/a

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood

*

n/a

*

n/a

*

n/a

Page 127

Reduce water consumption

Explain how you plan Explain how you plan
to mitigate any
to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes as
far as possible.

risk, mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

Enhance conservation and
wildlife
Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council /9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 128

Other (please state below)

*

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

Negative impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

No impact

(Place a X in the box below where relevant)

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Positive impact

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and
over what timescale?
Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan Explain how you plan
to mitigate any
to improve any
negative impacts.
positive outcomes as
far as possible.

n/a

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets
those standards.

N/A

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council /10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including
any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

The only impact of this proposal is for vehicle emissions when travelling to and from site visits. Site visits are rarely required. Emissions will be mitigated by the
use of an electric pool car whenever one is available.

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:

Page 129

Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Jayne Applegarth
Commons Registration Officer
Highways and Transport
BES
J Applegarth
09/12/21

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Barrie Mason
Date: 11 January 2022

NYCC –21 January 2022– Executive Members
Approval of Land Registration Service to York City Council /11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
North Yorkshire County Council
Executive Members
21 January 2022
Opposed Footpath No. 35.5/23 South Duffield Road to Sand Lane,
Barlby with Osgodby, Selby Modification Order 2012
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental & Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose Of Report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) of
the proposed submission to the Secretary of State (SoS) of an opposed Definitive
Map Modification Order (DMMO).
A location plan is attached to this report as Plan 1. The route referred to, is shown by
a bold dashed black line and is marked A-B-C-D on the plan attached to this report
as Plan 2.

1.2

To request the Corporate Director, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Access, to authorise that North Yorkshire County Council (NYCC), in its submission
of the opposed Order to the SoS will support confirmation of the Order.

2.0

Background

2.1

The route was first brought to the attention of the County Council in 1977, when six
user evidence forms were submitted to the authority, requesting the route to be added
to the Definitive Map under the review process. At that time there was no facility to
within the legislation to make amendments to the Definitive Map by application, and
further investigations were deferred until the area was next subject to a review of its
rights of way.

2.2

The current application was submitted by Barlby and Osgodby Parish Council in March
2007, to add the route to the Definitive Map & statement as a footpath and was
supported by a further fourteen user evidence forms, giving a total of twenty forms for
supporting the application, as well as documentary evidence consisting of six OS maps
published between 1838 and 1959.

2.3

The evidence was supportive of use by the public at large and that use had been
continuous through the relevant time-period (20 years preceding the date of the DMMO
application).

2.4

Following the pre-order consultation, it appeared that on the balance of probabilities,
public footpath rights existed along the application route and therefore the route should
be recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a public footpath.

2.5

Attached to this report as Appendix 1 is a copy of the report submitted to the Planning
and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee on 2 March 2012 in which the case for
making a Definitive Map Modification Order to record a public footpath was outlined.
The Committee approved the making of a DMMO.

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 131
Opposed DMMO to add FP, Barlby With Osgodby/1

2.6

The Order was made on 30 April 2012 and advertised 24 May 2012, attracting one
objection which remains outstanding. The County Council cannot confirm a DMMO
where there are outstanding objections; the Order must be forwarded to the Secretary
of State for resolution.

3.0

Responses to the Sealed Order

3.1

One objection was made to the making of the Order, by the owner of the land crossed
by the section A-B. His comments were that:

The existence of two kissing gates is supposed to give provenance to the
existence of a previous path. However, although the Order records a kissing
gate at Point B, there is no kissing gate at Point B; the metal structure at B is a
set of harrows placed in the hedge some years ago to plug a hole after cattle
escaped and pushed a way through the hedge, following an act of vandalism to
the barbed wire fence.

Point B is inundated with water for most of the year.

The wet conditions would not have encouraged anyone to walk the section B-C
and if the path is granted there is a risk that the public will trespass onto
neighbouring property in order to avoid the wet area.

3.2

Although the objector is disputing a means of crossing the fence at Point B, user
evidence describes that historically there were apparently kissing gates at both A and
B and that stiles were later installed at both locations: Five user statements describe 2
stiles on the route, and two of those statements provide enough information to identify
Point B as the location of the second stile.

3.3

The section B-C is wet, as is the land around B: The Order route swings around to the
west to avoid the worst of the wet area and in fact this route is shown on old OS maps,
suggesting the wet area is of some antiquity. Eight user statements indicate that in
order to avoid the wet area, users walked along the east side of the hedge between B
and C and one witness stated that the east side of the hedge has been used in this
way since 1982. Although this reduces the strength of user evidence, there remains
sufficient evidence of use to support the Order route.

4.0

Representations made by the local member

4.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Order.

5.0

Equalities

5.1

It is the view that the recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the
protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

6.0

Finance

6.1

As the evidence submitted consists mainly of user evidence, it is probable that the
Order would be resolved by Public Inquiry. There would be a cost to the Authority in
preparing a submission to the SoS and responding to any queries raised by the SoS
and these costs would be for officer time, which would be met by the respective staffing
budgets. If the Inspector chose to hold a Public Inquiry, the costs of arranging, hosting
and supporting the Inquiry would fall to the Council.

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 132 Opposed
DMMO to add FP, Barlby With Osgodby/2

7.0

Legal

7.1

The opposed Modification Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by
the SoS and as stated above, determination will be by way of either a Public Inquiry or
written representations.

7.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and legal criteria will decide whether or not
to confirm the opposed Modification Order. If the Inspector decides to confirm the
Order, the route will be recorded on the Definitive Map and statement in accordance
with the details within the Modification Order.

8.0

Climate Change

8.1

The proposal is to record a right of way along an unrecorded route. The confirmation
of this Order would have no positive or negative impact on climate change.

9.0

Current Decision to be made

9.1

In submitting an opposed Order to the SoS, the County Council needs to express
whether, on the basis of available evidence, it;

supports confirmation of the Order,

believes the Order should not be confirmed, or

considers the evidence is either so finely balanced, or is particularly unclear and
wishes to take a neutral stance.

9.2

The current decision to be made is which stance the County Council is to take within
its submission of this opposed DMMO to the SoS.

9.3

From all the available evidence, there is sufficient evidence of use and documentary
evidence to support confirmation of the Order.

9.4

The objector has not provided sufficient evidence that would successfully challenge
the Order.

9.5

The evidence submitted in 1977 includes a description of metal-framed kissing gates
at Points A and B, although in 1977, both structures were overgrown with thorn bushes
and path users climbed the adjacent fence to gain access to the path. It is not clear
when the kissing gates were removed, but the metal gate attached to a cast iron gate
post at Point A and seen on photographs dated 2009 and 2011, is similar in
appearance to the type of gate typically seen in old metal-framed kissing gates
elsewhere in the County.

9.6

Witness statements describe stiles at Points A and B. One witness describes the stiles
being removed in Easter 2007. The landowner has stated that the harrows were placed
in the hedge to plug a gap cut in the stock fence and although the landowner did not
provide a date of this event, a witness has stated that this occurred in April 2007.

10.0

Conclusion

10.1

Overall, it appears there is sufficient user evidence to indicate that public footpath
rights have been established along the Order route and on the balance of probabilities
the route should be recorded as a public footpath on the Definitive Map. Therefore of
the options outlined in 9.1 above, that in this instance, the Modification Order should
be confirmed.

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 133
Opposed DMMO to add FP, Barlby With Osgodby/3

11.0

Recommendation

11.1

The application is supported by user evidence and additional historical mapping
evidence which has not been countered by evidence from the objector provided to
date, and which indicates that on the balance of probabilities public footpath rights
exist.

11.2

It is recommended that the Authority support confirmation of the Modification Order
in its submission to the Secretary of State.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director - Travel, Environment and Countryside Services
Author of Report: Andrew Hunter
Background Documents: File Ref SEL/2007/07/DMMO

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 134 Opposed
DMMO to add FP, Barlby With Osgodby/4

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 135
Opposed DMMO to add FP, Barlby With Osgodby/5

PLAN 2

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 136 Opposed
DMMO to add FP, Barlby With Osgodby/6

Appendix 1

NORTH YORKSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
PLANNING AND REGULATORY FUNCTIONS SUB-COMMITTEE
2 MARCH 2012
APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER TO RECORD A
PUBLIC FOOTPATH ON THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT BETWEEN
SOUTH DUFFIELD ROAD AND SAND LANE, OSGODBY, SELBY.

Report of the Corporate Director – Business and Environmental Services
1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To advise Members of an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order
to record a public footpath from:
South Duffield Road to Sand Lane, Osgodby, Selby
A location plan is attached to this report as Plan 1. The route referred to, is
shown by a bold dashed black line and is marked A – B on the plan attached
to this report as Plan 2.

1.2

To request Members to authorise the Corporate Director of Business and
Environmental Services to make a Definitive Map Modification Order.

2.0

THE COMMITTEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1

The Committee in considering the Modification Order Application acts in a
quasi-judicial capacity. It is fundamental that consideration and determination
of an issue is based on the evidence before the Committee and the
application of law. The merits of a matter have no place in this process and
the fact that a decision might benefit or prejudice owners, occupiers or
members of the general public, or the Authority, has no relevance to the
issues which members have to deal with and address.

2.2

The Committee’s decision whether to “make” an Order is the first stage of the
process. If Members authorise an Order being “made”, and there are no
objections to the Order, the County Council can “confirm” the Order.
However, if there is objection to an Order, that is not subsequently withdrawn,
only the Secretary of State would have the power to decide if it should be
“confirmed”. It would then be likely that a Public Inquiry would be held, and
the decision whether or not to confirm the Order would rest with the Secretary
of State.

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Sand Lane, Barlby/1

Page 137

Appendix 1

3.0

LEGAL ISSUES

3.1

Under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 where a Highway
Authority discovers evidence which (when considered with all the other
relevant evidence available to them) shows that a right of way which is not
shown in the Definitive Map and Statement “subsists or is reasonably alleged
to subsist” then the Authority should make a Definitive Map Modification
Order.

3.2

Further, under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 a statutory presumption
arises that a way has been dedicated as a highway on proof that the way has
actually been enjoyed by the public, as of right, and without interruption for a
full period of 20 years, unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no
intention during that period to dedicate it. The period of 20 years is to be
calculated retrospectively from the date when the claimed right of the public to
use the way is brought into question.

3.3

At common law a route can be held to have been dedicated as a public right
of way on the basis of evidence of use. There is no prescribed period over
which it must be shown that use has occurred but an inference of dedication
by a landowner must be capable of being drawn. The use relied on must
have been exercised “as of right”, which is to say without force, without
secrecy and without permission. The onus of proof lies with a claimant.

4.0

BACKGROUND TO THE APPLICATION

4.1

The route shown on Plan 2 was first brought to the attention of the County
Council in 1977 when six evidence of use forms were submitted to the
authority, requesting the route to be added to the Definitive Map under the
review process. At that time there was no facility within the legislation to
make amendments to the Definitive Map by application, and further
investigations were deferred until the area was next subjected to a review of
its rights of way.

4.2

An application dated 29 March 2007 was made under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 for the same route as in the 1977 forms to add a
footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement at Osgodby, by Barlby and
Osgodby Parish Council. The application was supported by a further fourteen
user evidence forms giving a total of twenty forms supporting the application.

4.3

It is not clear what spurred the application to be made in 2007 but the
submission of an application can be viewed as bringing the route into question
for the purposes of the Highways Act 1980. The date of challenge is
important because it is from this date that the twenty year period is calculated
back.

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Page
138
Sand Lane, Barlby/2

Appendix 1

4.4

The claimed route lies along a reasonably well-defined track that runs across
two fields between the two roads.

4.5

The land crossed by the application route is in the ownership of three land
owners.

4.6

Following the initial consultation with other local councils, user groups, and
land owners one objection was received.

4.7

Of the remaining two land owners one is the County Council, whose Asset
Management Team have confirmed that they have no objections to the
establishment of the path.

4.8

The third land owner has confirmed that he has no objections to the path if it
is established on its historical route. However he has stated that he would
object if the route was diverted from this historic way eastwards. The route
indicated on Plan 2 attached to this report is on the historic route of the path
as indicated by the old Ordnance Survey maps.

5.0

EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE APPLICATION

5.1

Evidence of Use Forms

5.1.1 A total of twenty evidence of use forms have been submitted in support of this
application by nineteen witnesses. One person completed a user evidence
form in 1977 and then a further form in 2007.
5.1.2 Reasons given for the use of the route are leisure walks and dog walking,
which are bone fide reasons for using a public right of way.
5.1.3 The span of usage covered by the forms is from 1922 to 2006, the application
being submitted early in 2007.
5.1.4 There is no mention within the Evidence of Use forms of any of the users
being challenged whilst using the route, or of any actions having been
undertaken to suggest to users that the route was not a public right of way.
5.1.5 Four witnesses report that, for many years, there were kissing gates giving
access to the northernmost field crossed by the route.

5.2

Historic Evidence

5.2.1 The application was submitted with an old Ordnance Survey map. Further
research shows that the route appears on both the 1892 edition and the 1907
edition OS maps. The route is shown as an unfenced track on these maps.

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Sand Lane, Barlby/3

Page 139

Appendix 1

6.0

EVIDENCE AGAINST THE APPLICATION

6.1

Following the initial application and subsequent consultation one objection
has been received. This is from a landowner whose property is crossed by
the northern end of the application route. The land has been in his ownership
since the mid 1970s.

6.2

The objection is on the grounds that there were no public rights across the
field.

6.3

The land owner states that no permission has ever been granted for anyone
to use the alleged route.

6.4

The land owner also states that when people have been seen they have been
routinely challenged and turned back.

6.5

The land owner also denies any knowledge of any kissing gates or other
means of giving access to the field, and states that his field next to South
Duffield Road was wire fenced.

6.6

The land owner does acknowledge that there was a “stockman’s management
tool” in the north eastern corner of the field. From the description given by the
landowner, this appears to be somewhat similar to a stile, and has allowed
access over the wire fence.

7.0

COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE APPLICATION

7.1

The evidence of use supplied to support the application shows that the way
has been in use for a period of twenty years and more, meeting the test set
down under the Highways Act 1980.

7.2

Of the nineteen witnesses, two did not give dates during which they used the
route. This means that their evidence cannot be used for the purpose of
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980.

7.3

One witness reports using the route to access their own land, meaning this
use may have been under licence and therefore does not accrue public rights
for the purposes of the Highways Act 1980. This evidence has also been
removed from consideration.

7.4

In the light of the above there remain sixteen witnesses, and their evidence
meets the twenty year use test set down in the Highways Act 1980.

7.5

The depiction of the route on the old Ordnance Survey map demonstrates that
the route has physically existed for over 100 years, however this does not
prove in itself that any public rights exist.

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Page
140
Sand Lane, Barlby/4

Appendix 1

8.0

COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE AGAINST THE APPLICATION

8.1

The evidence supplied with the objection consists of a long statement from
the land owner stating his position.

8.2

The fact that people using the path had not sought permission and that the
land owner had not granted permission confirms that the use set out in the
evidence of use forms was “as of right”, meeting this requirement of the
Highways Act 1980.

8.3

The challenging of people by the land owner is not corroborated by the
evidence of use forms, none of the witnesses recorded that they had been
prevented from using the route. Therefore, it is not possible to draw any
conclusions on this matter.

8.4

The land owner denies any knowledge of any kissing gates on the route,
however it is possible that any gates were not clearly identifiable by the time
this landowner purchased the property. A couple of witnesses have
commented that the remains of the kissing gates were still lying in the hedge
in 2007. It is not possible to draw any conclusions on this particular issue.

8.5

As the stockman’s management tool (provided to give the stockman access to
the field) appears to be the same as a stile, it may have allowed people to
access the route. It was provided to allow the easy crossing of a barbed wire
fence. The presence of barbed wire fences is corroborated by the evidence of
use forms, but they do not appear to have prevented use of the route.

8.6

In summary, the objection makes relevant points suggesting that access has
not been possible at all times due to fences, and that he has challenged
people who have made use of the route, and therefore that public rights of
way have not been established, they are not corroborated by the statements
of the witnesses within the Evidence of Use forms.

9.0

CONCLUSION

9.1

Whilst the evidence is not clearly conclusive either in support of, or against
the establishment of public rights, the information supplied with the application
is sufficient to reasonably allege the existence of a right of way across the
land.

9.2

The owner of the land over which part of the route runs has objected to the
application but has not supplied sufficient evidence to satisfactorily rebut the
reasonable allegation of the existence of the right of way.

9.3

The Selby Area Committee Meeting held on the 9 January 2012 made no
comments on this matter.

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Sand Lane, Barlby/5

Page 141

Appendix 1

10.0

RECOMMENDATION

10.1

In the event that formal objections are made to that Order, and are not
subsequently withdrawn, the Committee authorise the referral of the Order to
the Secretary of State for determination, and permit the Corporate Director,
under power delegated to him within the County Council’s Constitution, to
decide whether or not the County Council can support confirmation of the
Order.

DAVID BOWE
Corporate Director – Business and Environmental Services

Author of Report: Russ Varley

Background Papers: DMMO application dated 29 March 2007.
Evidence submitted in support of, and against the application.
The documents are held in a file marked:
“South Duffield Road to Sand Lane, Osgodby. Report to the Planning and
Regulatory Functions Sub Committee, 2 March 2012 – Background Papers” which
will be available to the Members at the Meeting.

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Page
142
Sand Lane, Barlby/6

Planning and Regulatory Functions
Sub Committee 2 March 2012
Application to add a footpath between
South Duffield Road and Sand Lane,
Osgodby

Appendix 1

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Sand Lane, Barlby/7

Page 143

Appendix 1

PLAN 2

Planning and Regulatory
Functions Sub Committee
2 March 2012
Application to add a footpath
between South Duffield Road
and Sand Lane, Osgodby

NYCC – 2 March 2012- Planning and Regulatory Functions Sub-Committee
Page
144
Sand Lane, Barlby/8

North Yorkshire County Council
Corporate Director - BES
21 January 2022
Opposed Definitive Map Modification Order:
Footpath No. 35.5/23 South Duffield Road to Sand Lane, Barlby With Osgodby, Selby
Modification Order 2012
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services

AUTHORISATION
I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above
………………………………………………………………………………………………….
ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
Michael Leah
Assistant Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 145
Opposed DMMO to add FP, Barlby With Osgodby/7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 January 2021
Opposed Bridleway No. 25.121/027 & Footpath No. 25/121/028
Head House Farm, Hartoft Diversion Order 2021
Report to the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

To advise the Corporate Director of Business and Environmental Services (BES) of
an opposed Diversion Order for a bridleway and a footpath within the parish of
Hartoft, in Ryedale. A location plan is attached to this report as Plan 1. The proposal
is shown in detail on Plan 2.

1.2

To request that the opposed diversion order be referred to the Secretary of State and
that the Authority supports the confirmation of the Order.

2.0

Background

2.1

Within the County Council’s scheme of delegation, it is delegated to the Assistant
Director of Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services, to decide whether to
abandon an opposed Diversion Order where the Authority is of the opinion that the
requirements to confirm the Order may not be met and where an Inspector appointed
by the Secretary of State may decline to confirm the Order, or to recommend to the
Director of Travel, Environment and Countryside Services that the Order be referred
to an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State.

2.2

The Assistant Director of Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services has
agreed that this Order, though opposed, meets the relevant criteria and should be
referred to the Secretary of State for final determination, rather than be abandoned.

3.0

The Application

3.1

The application to divert the paths was submitted to the County Council in 2019.

3.2

The reasons given for the application were to improve security and privacy of the
property and to enable changes to land management, all of which are in the interests
of the landowner.

4.0

Relevant legal criteria

4.1

Under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, the County Council, having consulted
any other local authority, may divert a public right of way (PROW) where it appears to
the Authority that in the interests of the owner of the land crossed by the PROW
described in the Order, it is expedient that the line of the PROW should be diverted,
and that the diversion would not be substantially less convenient to the public.

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 147
Opposed Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

4.2

The County Council charges applicants for the costs incurred in the
processing/making of diversion Orders, as provided for by the Local Authorities
(Recovery of Costs for Public Path Orders) Regulations 1993 (S.I. 1993/407),
amended by regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Charges for Overseas Assistance
and Public Path Orders) Regulations 1996 (S.I. 1996/1978).

4.3

Where an Order is opposed, the County Council cannot confirm the Order; it can only
be confirmed by the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State will confirm an Order
if he/she is satisfied that:
i)
in the interests of the landowner it is expedient to divert the footpath, and
ii)
the diversion will not be substantially less convenient to the public as a result of
the Order, and that it is expedient to confirm the Order having regard to the
effect which:
(a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the route as a whole;
(b) the coming into operation of the Order would have, as respects other land
served by the existing public right of way; and
(c) any new public right of way created by the Order would have, as respects
the land over which the right is created and any land held with it.

5.0

The Making of the Order

5.1

An informal consultation was carried out and an objection was received from the local
Ramblers representative.

5.2

A report was submitted to the assistant Director, Travel, Environmental &
Countryside Services and it was determined that a Diversion Order should be made.

5.3

The Diversion Order was made on 24 August 2021 and was duly advertised.

5.4

During the Formal Consultation 2 objections were received,
i)
from the Local Ramblers representative:
Bridleway H to G: this currently provides a direct NE‐SW route on a good
surface; the proposed diversion does not follow any natural line, would require
a number of gates and would generally be much less convenient. In
discussions with the owner, we noted that it was intended to construct a fenced
corridor north‐east from point H; in our view it would be appropriate, and
straightforward, to extend the corridor from H to the farm yard. This would
protect walkers & riders, whilst retaining the direct line currently taken by the
bridleway. We have noted that most of the farm buildings lie to the north‐west
of the bridleway, and so those using the right of way through the yard are
unlikely to significantly impair the operation of the farm. For these reasons we
object to this diversion.
Officer Comment.
The landowner has applied for a specific diversion which does not include the
suggestion put forward regarding corridor route through the farmyard. The
route proposed will have gates within the fencing to the sides of the corridor to
permit stock movements but there will be no gates across the proposed right of
way.
The applicant has stated that increasing bio security and machinery use are
important factors in requesting the diversion, the diversion will allow the
applicant to make full use of the farmyard area without any risk to the public.

– 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 148 OpposedNYCC
Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Footpath B to A: this footpath does not go through any fields used by cattle,
and is some distance from the farmhouse; the owner told us that no criminal
activity has been reported to the police, we are not aware that Hartoft is an
area of heightened criminal activity, and no plausible reasons have been given
for the proposed diversion. The diversion would move the path from its
historical line and extend its length, there would be no benefits to walkers, and
the route would be less convenient. For these reasons we object to this
diversion.
Officer Comment.
The sense of privacy and security can only be articulated by the applicant who
lives at the premises, the issue of crime levels is not relevant because this is
not a crime issue.
It is difficult to see how the proposed route is in any way substantially less
convenient for the public, the order route is approximately 100 metres longer
than the definitive line and is across open grassland. The additional distance is
of no significance given the context of the path network and the lengths of any
routes likely to be walked by the public.
Considering both of these objections together, it is the view of Officers that they
are without merit and will not be sufficient to prevent the order being confirmed.
ii)

A representative on behalf of the Ryedale Bridleways Group:
1. Part 3 of the Order Limitations and Conditions. You have only given that for
the footpath; the position for the bridleway has not been included. My
understanding is that there is to be a field gate at point H and that is the only
gate to be authorised.
Officer Comment
A request will be made to the Inspector that in the event of the order being
confirmed that an amendment s made to include this gate in the order.
2. With reference to Part 3 Limitations and Conditions there is a small drain that
needs to be bridged between points G and I. I ask that be included in Part 3.
The BHS advice is that for bridges that cross a ditch with a span of less than 3
m and a deck height of less than 1 m, a bridge with a width of 2 m is sufficient.
They also recommends a kickboard of 250 mm and kickboard uplift (the gap
between the deck and the kickboard) of 25 mm. I don’t think parapets will be
required but would like it noted that if this does prove to be necessary they are
added.
This bridge over the drain is in a dark area and so the surface of this bridge is
important; it should be non-slip and not just wood. The BHS recommends that
boards should be laid at right angles to the sides of the bridge, decking should
be substantial, non‐echoing and without substantial gaps in the decking
through which the drain can be seen. There are various types of non-slip
boards available. The bridge must be able to take the weight of the horse; the
common range being between 350 and 700kg. The citing of this bridge should
be that there is the minimum gradient.

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 149
Opposed Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Officer comment
The ditch is to be culverted at this point which would allow users to cross it on a
flat level surface with no limitation or obstruction. The objector has been
informed of this fact but has stated that they believe the culvert should be
included in the order. Officers do not consider this to be necessary.
6.0

Representation made by the local member

6.1

No formal representations were received from the local councillor in response to the
consultations regarding the Diversion Order.

7.0

Legal Implications

7.1

The opposed Order would be determined by an Inspector appointed by the SoS, and,
as stated above, determination will most likely be by way of written representations.

7.2

The Inspector, on the basis of the evidence and the legal criteria will decide whether
or not to confirm the opposed Order. If he/she decides to confirm the Order, the
routes will be amended on the Definitive Map and statement in accordance with the
details within the Order.

8.0

Financial implications

8.1

If the opposed Order were to be submitted to the SoS, the Order would be resolved
by written representations or a Public Inquiry.

8.2

There would be a non-rechargeable cost to the Authority in preparing a submission to
the SoS and responding to any queries raised by the SoS and these costs would be
for officer time, which would be met by the respective staffing budgets. If the
Inspector chose to hold a Public Inquiry, the costs of arranging, hosting and
supporting the Inquiry would fall to the Council.

9.0

Equalities Implications

9.1

It is the view that the recommendations do not have an adverse impact on any of the
protected characteristics identified in the Equalities Act 2010.

10.0

Climate Change Implications

10.1

The proposal is to alter the status of routes already recorded as public routes within
the County Council’s records. The confirmation of this order would have no positive
or negative impact on climate change.

11.0

Current Decision to be made

11.1

The decisions to be made at this stage are, firstly, whether the Order is to be
abandoned, or is to be forwarded to the SoS for resolution.

11.2

Secondly, if it is decided that the matter is to be forwarded to the SoS then a further
decision will need to be made, namely which stance the authority would take within
its submission to the SoS towards the confirmation of the Order; that is the Authority
needs to decide if it:

supports confirmation of the Order, believes that the Order should not be
confirmed,

– 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 150 OpposedNYCC
Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE



considers the circumstances are so finely balanced, or are particularly unclear
and wishes to take a neutral stance.

12.0

Conclusions

12.1

In conclusion, the application for the Diversion Order was made to increase privacy
and security of the property, and to improve the agricultural management of the land.
It is felt that the Diversion Order meets the legal tests outlined in Para. 4.1 above.

12.2

The first objection to the Order outlines a number of issues however it is felt that the
applicant has made some compromises, and that the remaining objections are
insufficient to prevent the confirmation of the Order. The second objection relates to
detail omitted from the Order which can be addressed within the submission to the
Secretary of State.

12.3

It is recommended that the Order be referred to the Secretary of State and that the
Council takes a stance of supporting the confirmation of the Order, also requesting
the amendments to correct minor details within the Order.

13.0

Recommendation

13.1

It is therefore recommended that the Director and Executive Members authorise the
referral of the opposed Diversion Order to the SoS, and that within the submission
the Authority supports the confirmation of the Order.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director, Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services

Author of report: Ron Allan

Background papers: File Ref RYE-2019-07-DO

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 151
Opposed Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Location Plan

– 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 152 OpposedNYCC
Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

PLAN 2

NYCC – 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 153
Opposed Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

North Yorkshire County Council
Corporate Director - BES
21 January 2022
Opposed Public Path Order to Divert a Public Bridleway and Public Footpath
at Head House Farm, Hartoft

AUTHORISATION

I approve / do not approve the recommendation set out above
………………………………………………………………………………………………….

ANY ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATION or COMMENT:
…………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………

Karl Battersby
Corporate Director - BES
Signed: ……………………………….…Date: ………………….………

– 21 January 2022- Executive Members
Page 154 OpposedNYCC
Diversion Order Head House Farm, Hartoft / 8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 9
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 January 2022
Integrated Passenger Transport Fees and Charges
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose of Report

1.1

To inform the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services (BES) and
Councillor Mackenzie, Executive Member for Access of increases to charges made for
services provided by the Integrated Passenger Transport (IPT) and seek approval of
the same.

2.0

Charges and Proposed Increases

2.1

The IPT team make charges, as permitted under section 111 of the Local
Government Act 1972, and the income is retained by BES for the following services:

Local bus service fares:
o
Services operated directly by IPT:
A fare is charged for passengers using the local bus services operated
directly by IPT, as permitted under section 63 of the Transport Act 1985.
The fare charged is based on a combination of the distance travelled and
comparative fares charged by local bus operators on commercial
services. The income is used to partially offset the operating costs of
providing the service.
Many of these services have had no increase for a number of years and
have fallen behind the fares charged on similar services. It is not
appropriate for services operated by IPT to charge fares lower than other
similar services. In the report presented to BES Executive members on
21 February 2020 increases of between 10-50p were proposed.
However, these increases were not implemented due to the Covid -19
pandemic as the council was in receipt of Covid19 Bus Service Support
Grant (CBSSG) and a grant condition prevented fares increases. It is now
proposed to implement these increases from 03 April 2022. See
Appendices 1 and 2 for full details.
o
Services operated by external supplier:
The park and ride service in Whitby is the only supported service where
IPT receives the fares income paid by passengers. All other support by
services the operator retains the fares income.
The main objectives of the park and ride service are to remove traffic from
the town centre, alleviate congestion and decrease demand for parking
which cannot be met during the summer months. The fares charged need to
be attractive in relation to the town centre parking charges so as to not
detract from usage and reduce the ability to reduce town centre
congestion. As fares were not increased in 2020 an increase was planned
for 2021, however this was not implemented due to the COVID -19
pandemic. It is now proposed that an increase will be applied from the first
day of operation for the 2022 season. The different categories of fare
increases are showing in Appendix 3 fare increase and they represent a fair
and proportionate amount compared to inflation to cover the cost increases
to the council over the last three years and are targeted to ticket types most
often sold.

Page 155NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

IPT Fees and Charges /1







Community transport fares: A fare is charged for registered members using the
community transport service operated directly by IPT utilising the in-house
vehicle fleet. The fare charged is based on a combination of the distance
travelled and comparative fares charged on local bus services. The income is
used to partially offset the operating costs of providing the service. There are
no proposals to change these charges from April 2022. As there are disparities
in the fare structure on these services an inflationary increase is not
appropriate at this time and a review of all fares charged. This was due to take
place during 2021 for implementation in 2022 but has not been completed due
to the COVID-19 pandemic. A review will be undertaken during 2022 for
implementation in April 2023. Current services are:
o
DR07 South Craven Village bus
o
DR06 North Craven Village bus
o
DR14 North Harrogate bus
o
DR04 South Harrogate Village bus
Whitby bus station charges: A fare is charged for the departure of each local
service bus using Whitby bus station. The current charge is 60p per departure
and the Competition Commission sets out the methodology for calculating
Departure Charges as such an inflationary increase may not be appropriate. A
review of the departure charges was due to be undertaken in 2021 for
implementation in 2022 but has not been completed due to the COVID-19
pandemic. A review will be undertaken during 2022 for implementation in April
2023, if appropriate. The income from this charge is used to partially offset the
site operating costs.
English National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS) travel pass
replacement charge: The initial ENCTS travel pass is issued free of charge, as
are replacement passes on expiry. On the 01 April 2020 we increased the
replacement charge from £5-£10. However, No charges are made for a stolen
bus pass on production of a crime reference number. Therefore, no increase
will be implemented in the 2022 financial year.

2.2

IPT currently procures transport on behalf of schools and academies or provides
professional advice on the same. Whilst the contract cost is covered by the relevant
school or academy, IPT currently provide this service free of charge. Assessment
work, including impact on staff, is currently ongoing to consider if this service should
be provided on a more formal basis and appropriate charges made for the same. A
separate report will be brought to the Corporate Director BES and the BES Executive
Members should such a change be recommended.

2.3

IPT make charges in respect of the following services:

Paid travel permits on education transport: Students not entitled to free school
transport or assistance with transport to a sixth form college can apply for a
paid bus pass on education transport provided for eligible students. Places are
only offered where it is lawful to do so in line with PSVAR and where there is
spare capacity on transport that is provided as a statutory duty. The fare
charged is set by CYPS and the income is used to partially offset the contract
cost.

Additional cost charge for school time amendments: Transport is procured to
achieve best value which can mean that students from different establishments
are transported on the same transport. Should the opening hours of one of
those establishments change additional transport may need to be
procured. Additional charges incurred are notified to CYPS and then
recharged to the relevant educational establishment.
The income for these items is retained by CYPS and approval for such charges
is agreed by CYPS Executive members. This information is therefore included
for information and clarity only.

Page 156

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

2.4

In addition, IPT makes charges, again as permitted under section 111 of the Local
Government Act 1972, for ad-hoc minibus/driver hire, Section 19 permits and
provision of Minibus Driver Awareness Scheme (MiDAS) courses. However, income
is minimal or matches the charges made to IPT.

3.0

Income

3.1

Income from fees and charges, where such income is retained by IPT, is set out in
Table 1 below:
IPT income stream

2020/21
2021/22 Est
Income (£) Income (£)

IPT fleet – Local Bus Service
Fares/community transport fares
Services operated by external supplier Local Bus Service Fares
Yorbus
Whitby bus station departure charges
ENCTS replacement passes
DfT CBSSG
3.2

0

2022/23
Est
Income (£)
£35,000
£100,000

£41,885

£148,900

£202,322

0
£5,772.50
£5,315
£1,311,111

£5,000
£16,722.70
£11,610
£396,555

£5,000
£17,000
£20,000
0

The Covid-19 pandemic has significantly impacted the income for 2020/2021 There
are two reasons for this:

Services Operate by External Supplier: The Whitby park and ride service did
not operate for a period of time and whilst it has commenced operation again
the number of passengers using the service is significantly reduced. Assuming
the 2021/2022 period sees significant improvement on COVID-19, it could be
possible for the service to see an increase in passengers, which would have a
positive impact on the income for the given period.

IPT Fleet (Local Bus Service Fares and Community Transport Fares): As part
of a number of measures put in place to reduce the risk of transmitting the
infection the taking of cash fares was suspended, however as of June 2021 the
suspension was removed. Investigations are ongoing to source a cost effective
contactless payment facility.

The council and bus operators were in receipt of a Covid19 Support Grant
(CBBSG) from DfT. The local transport authority element was allocated to
support local bus services such as tendered bus services that may have been
experiencing revenue shortfalls. The bus operator element The CBSSG is a
funding mechanism to ensure that sufficient bus services continue to operate in
the right places, and at the right times of day, during the COVID-19 outbreak to
meet expected demand whilst maintaining appropriate patronage levels. The
CBSSG is designed to provide additional funding on top of continued payments
from the public sector to bus operators (such as BSOG, concessionary travel
reimbursement and home to school transport and tendered service contract
payments) at pre-pandemic levels, as requested by Ministers.

All bus operators who receive the grant are expected to provide an agreed
percentage of their normal Pre Covid bus service network and to engage with
the relevant local authorities to determine what this should be. The terms and
conditions of both grants prevent fares increases being applied. Therefore, if
the current pandemic continues and the grants continue to be paid, with the
condition preventing fares increases, fares increases will be applied from when
the council are able to.

Page 157NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

IPT Fees and Charges /3

4.0

Equalities Implications

4.1

The proposed recommendation is to approve the proposed charges to the services
provided by the Integrated Passenger Transport Team. This proposal has no direct
impact on most groups of people with protected characteristics, however it is
recognised that increasing some charges does have a minor impact on older people,
people with a disability, females and some people from ethnic minorities, as they are
more likely to travel by bus. However, given the existence of the concessionary travel
scheme those people eligible for a pass will be insulated from the impacts of local
bus fare rises given they are entitled to travel free. People living in rural areas,
young people living in rural areas, unpaid carers and those on a low income may also
be adversely impacted and may not be eligible for a concessionary so will not be
insulated as highlighted above.

4.2

Officers will be mindful of the impact and potential effects the proposed
recommendation may have on these groups and monitoring will be undertaken as
detailed in section 11 of Appendix 4.

4.3

An Equalities Impact Assessment is included as Appendix 4 of this report.

5.0

Financial Implications

5.1

The financial implications are detailed in section 3 above.

5.2

The proposed recommendation has no additional costs. The impact will be income
neutral in some areas and increased income in others.

6.0

Legal Implications

6.1

The County Council has a wide range of statutory duties imposed by a variety of
legislation relating to passenger transport.

6.2

The review has been carried out with consideration to relevant legislation such as the
Transport Act 1985, Transport Act 2000 and Education Act 1996, in addition to
section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972.

7.0

Climate change Implications

7.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse climate change
impacts arising from the recommendation. This proposal has some direct impact on
greenhouse gas emissions and pollutions if people decide to use their own car
instead of public transport due to the increase of fares on some services.

7.2

A Climate change Impact assessment is included as Appendix 5 of this report.

8.0

Recommendation

8.1

In consultation with Councillor Mackenzie, Executive Member for Access, the
Corporate Director BES approves the charges made for services provided by the
Integrated Passenger Transport team as detailed in Section 2.

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Author of Report: Cathy Knight
Background Documents: none

Page 158

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 1

– Executive Members
Page 159NYCC – 21 January 2022
IPT Fees and Charges /5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2
Proposed return fare calculator for IPT Fleet supported local bus service fares
Adult
single
1.10
1.20
1.30
1.40
1.50
1.60
1.70
1.80
1.90
2.00
2.10
2.20
2.30
2.40
2.50
2.60
2.70
2.80
2.90
3.00
3.10
3.20
3.30
3.40
3.50
3.60
3.70
3.80
3.90
4.00
4.10
4.20
4.30
4.40
4.50
4.60
4.70
4.80
4.90
5.00
5.10

Adult
Return
2.00
2.20
2.30
2.50
2.70
2.90
3.10
3.20
3.40
3.60
3.80
4.00
4.10
4.30
4.50
4.70
4.90
5.00
5.20
5.40
5.60
5.80
5.90
6.10
6.30
6.50
6.70
6.80
7.00
7.20
7.40
7.60
7.70
7.90
8.10
8.30
8.50
8.60
8.80
9.00
9.20

Child
single
0.55
0.60
0.65
0.70
0.75
0.80
0.85
0.90
0.95
1.00
1.05
1.10
1.15
1.20
1.25
1.30
1.35
1.40
1.45
1.50
1.55
1.60
1.65
1.70
1.75
1.80
1.85
1.90
1.95
2.00
2.05
2.10
2.15
2.20
2.25
2.30
2.35
2.40
2.45
2.50
2.55

Child
return
1.00
1.10
1.15
1.25
1.35
1.45
1.55
1.60
1.70
1.80
1.90
2.00
2.05
2.15
2.25
2.35
2.45
2.50
2.60
2.70
2.80
2.90
2.95
3.05
3.15
3.25
3.35
3.40
3.50
3.60
3.70
3.80
3.85
3.95
4.05
4.15
4.25
4.30
4.40
4.50
4.60

Adult
single
5.90
6.00
6.10
6.20
6.30
6.40
6.50
6.60
6.70
6.80
6.90
7.00
7.10
7.20
7.30
7.40
7.50
7.60
7.70
7.80
7.90
8.00
8.10
8.20
8.30
8.40
8.50
8.60
8.70
8.80
8.90
9.00
9.10
9.20
9.30
9.40
9.50
9.60
9.70
9.80
9.90

Page 160

Adult
Return
10.60
10.80
11.00
11.20
11.30
11.50
11.70
11.90
12.10
12.20
12.40
12.60
12.80
13.00
13.10
13.30
13.50
13.70
13.90
14.00
14.20
14.40
14.60
14.80
14.90
15.10
15.30
15.50
15.70
15.80
16.00
16.20
16.40
16.60
16.70
16.90
17.10
17.30
17.50
17.60
17.80

Child
single
2.95
3.00
3.05
3.10
3.15
3.20
3.25
3.30
3.35
3.40
3.45
3.50
3.55
3.60
3.65
3.70
3.75
3.80
3.85
3.90
3.95
4.00
4.05
4.10
4.15
4.20
4.25
4.30
4.35
4.40
4.45
4.50
4.55
4.60
4.65
4.70
4.75
4.80
4.85
4.90
4.95

Child
return
5.30
5.40
5.50
5.60
5.65
5.75
5.85
5.95
6.05
6.10
6.20
6.30
6.40
6.50
6.55
6.65
6.75
6.85
6.95
7.00
7.10
7.20
7.30
7.40
7.45
7.55
7.65
7.75
7.85
7.90
8.00
8.10
8.20
8.30
8.35
8.45
8.55
8.65
8.75
8.80
8.90

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 2
Proposed return fare calculator for IPT Fleet supported local bus service fares
5.20
9.40
2.60
4.70
10.00
18.00
5.00
9.00
5.30
9.50
2.65
4.75
10.10
18.20
5.05
9.10
5.40
9.70
2.70
4.85
10.20
18.40
5.10
9.20
5.50
9.90
2.75
4.95
10.30
18.50
5.15
9.25
5.60
10.10
2.80
5.05
10.40
18.70
5.20
9.35
5.70
10.30
2.85
5.15
10.50
18.90
5.25
9.45
5.80
10.40
2.90
5.20

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /7

Page 161
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 3

Fares and Ticketing (Current Rates)
Fares for Whitby Park and Ride
The fares of the contract are:
Adult
• Single £1.70
• Day Ticket £2.50

Young Person (5- under 17)
• Single £0.90
• Day Ticket £1.50

Concessionary
This fare applies to any journey made
on production of a valid English National
Concessionary Travel Pass at any time.
Day Ticket £1.50
Family
Up to two children (aged under 17)
and two adults
Day Ticket £5.

Fares and Ticketing (Proposed Increase)
Fares for Whitby Park and Ride
The fares of the contract are:
Adult
• Single £1.70
• Day Ticket £2.60

Young Person (5- under 17)
• Single £0.90
• Day Ticket £1.60

Concessionary
This fare applies to any journey made
on production of a valid English National
Concessionary Travel Pass at any time.
Day Ticket £1.60
Family
Up to two children (aged under 17)
and two adults
Day Ticket £5.20

Page 162

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Equality impact assessment (EIA) form:
evidencing paying due regard to protected
characteristics
(Form updated April 2019)

Integrated Passenger Transport Service Charges
If you would like this information in another language or format such as Braille,
large print or audio, please contact the Communications Unit on 01609 53
2013 or email communications@northyorks.gov.uk.

Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) are public documents. EIAs accompanying
reports going to County Councillors for decisions are published with the committee
papers on our website and are available in hard copy at the relevant meeting. To help
people to find completed EIAs we also publish them in the Equality and Diversity
section of our website. This will help people to see for themselves how we have paid
due regard in order to meet statutory requirements.
Name of Directorate and Service
Area
Lead Officer and contact details
Names and roles of other people
involved in carrying out the EIA

Business and Environmental Services
Integrated Passenger Transport
Cathy Knight ext5134
Cathy.Knight @northyorks.gov.uk
Catherine
Price, Passenger
Transport
Contracts and Commissioning Manager
Andrew Sharpin, Fleet and Operations Manager

How will you pay due regard? e.g.
working group, individual officer

Officers will consider the council’s equality duty and be
mindful of the impact and potential effects of any
proposed changes in fees and charges to people with
any of the
protected characteristics as defined by the Equality Act
2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
throughout the review and recommendation process.
Due consideration will be given to reducing or
removing any adverse effects.

When did the due regard process
start?

December 2021

– Executive Members
Page 163NYCC – 21 January 2022
IPT Fees and Charges /9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Section 1. Please describe briefly what this EIA is about. (e.g. are you starting a new
service, changing how you do something, stopping doing something?)
Reviewing the existing external fees and charges made by the Integrated Passenger
Transport team and implementing changes to charges to ensure that the authority can
cover legitimate costs.
Section 2. Why is this being proposed? What are the aims? What does the authority
hope to achieve by it? (e.g. to save money, meet increased demand, do things in a better
way.)
To ensure that the authority can cover legitimate costs. For example the cost of staff time
and external production costs for replacement bus passes, which are considered legitimate
costs.

Section 3. What will change? What will be different for customers and/or staff?
The authority has three options in reviewing the fees and charges made by the
Integrated Passenger Transport Team:
1. No change to the existing fees and charges.
2. An inflationary increase should be applied to one or more fee or charge.
3. An above inflation increase should be applied to one or more fee or charge.
A combination of options 1 and 2 provides the most desirable outcome as increases are only
targeted to those services where required to ensure the authority can cover its legitimate
costs.
Implementing option 3 would mean that older people, people with a disability, females and
some people from ethnic minorities would be adversely affected as they are more likely to
travel by bus. This option has therefore not been chosen.

Section 4. Involvement and consultation (What involvement and consultation has been
done regarding the proposal and what are the results? What consultation will be needed
and how will it be done?)
Fees and charges will remain the same for some services and increase for other services
to ensure that the council can cover its legitimate costs, as such no additional public
consultation will be undertaken.
Benchmarking and sampling of a number of charges has been undertaken against other
authority charges for similar services and local bus operator charges to ensure the
proposals are consistent with fees and charges of other providers.

Section 5. What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost
neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
The proposed recommendation has no additional costs. The impact will be income neutral
in some areas and increased income in others.

Page 164

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Section
6.
No
How will this
impact
proposal
affect people
with
protected
characteristics?
Age

Make
things
better

Make
things
worse

Why will it have this effect? Provide
evidence from engagement,
consultation and/or service user data
or demographic information etc.

x

People aged 30-59 make proportionally
fewer bus trips per person than those aged
under 30 and over 60. People aged 17-20
make an average of 101 bus trips per year
compared to an average of 52 across all
ages.
Given the existence of the concessionary
travel scheme, those people eligible for a
pass will be insulated from the impacts of
local bus fare rises given they are entitled
to travel for free.
Increasing
the
publicity
of
the
concessionary travel schemes could also
have a positive impact on travellers, as
some may not be aware of the different
types of schemes they could benefit from.

Disability

x

Sex

x

Race

x

No specific data available but it is possible
that some groups of people with a disability
are less likely to hold a full driving licence
compared to someone without a disability.
Given the existence of the concessionary
travel scheme, disabled people will be
insulated from the impacts of local bus fare
rises given they are entitled to travel for
free.
Women use buses more frequently than
men. Current DfT National Travel Survey
(NTS) evidence suggests women made an
average of 60 bus trips compared to 44 for
men. Women are also less likely to have
access to a car. NTS data suggest that
only 67% of women held a full driving
licence compared to 80% of men.
Previous NTS data has shown that adults
from ethnic minorities are more likely to live
in a household without a car compared to
a White British adult. For example,
according to NTS 2009 data, 17% of White
British adults lived in a house without
access to a car compared to 44% of Black
African adults. In addition, adults from
ethnic minorities make twice as many local
bus trips per year than White British adults.
– Executive Members
Page 165NYCC – 21 January 2022
IPT Fees and Charges /11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Gender
reassignment

x

No evidence of impact on grounds of
gender reassignment.

Sexual
orientation

x

No evidence of impact on grounds of
sexual orientation.

Religion or belief x

No evidence of impact on grounds of
religion or belief.

Pregnancy or
maternity

x

No evidence of impact on grounds of
pregnancy or maternity.

Marriage or civil
partnership

x

No evidence of impact on grounds of
marriage or civil partnership.

Section
7.
How will this
proposal
affect people
who…
..live in a rural
area?

No
impact

Make
things
better

Make
things
worse

Why will it have this effect? Provide
evidence from engagement,
consultation and/or service user data or
demographic information etc.

x

Accessing services can be problematic for
people living in rural areas, for example
lack of transport is often cited as a barrier
to accessing employment by people living
in rural areas.
People on low income are less likely to
have access to a car and are therefore
likely to be more reliant on using buses.

…have a low
income?

x

…are carers
(unpaid family
or friend)?

x

Carers who are unpaid or receive very low
income may not have their own car and
therefore rely on bus services, the increase
of fares could make this reliance even more
difficult to finance.

Section 8. Geographic impact – Please detail where the impact will be (please tick all
that apply)
North Yorkshire wide
x
Craven district
Hambleton district
Harrogate district
Richmondshire district
Ryedale district
Scarborough district
Selby district
If you have ticked one or more districts, will specific town(s)/village(s) be
particularly impacted? If so, please specify below.

Page 166

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Section 9. Will the proposal affect anyone more because of a combination of
protected characteristics? (e.g. older women or young gay men) State what you think
the effect may be and why, providing evidence from engagement, consultation
and/or service user data or demographic information etc.
Older women
People on low income living in rural areas particularly women
Women living in rural areas
Disabled people living in rural areas
Disabled people on low income
Unpaid Carers on low income
Young people living in rural areas
These groups are generally more reliant on public transport and will therefore be impacted
by any increase in local bus fares.

Section 10. Next steps to address the anticipated impact. Select one of the Tick
following options and explain why this has been chosen. (Remember: we
option
chosen
have an anticipatory duty to make reasonable adjustments so that disabled
people can access services and work for us)
1. No adverse impact - no major change needed to the proposal. There is no
potential for discrimination or adverse impact identified.
2. Adverse impact - adjust the proposal - The EIA identifies potential problems
or missed opportunities. We will change our proposal to reduce or remove
these adverse impacts, or we will achieve our aim in another way which will
not make things worse for people.
3. Adverse impact - continue the proposal - The EIA identifies potential
X
problems or missed opportunities. We cannot change our proposal to reduce
or remove these adverse impacts, nor can we achieve our aim in another
way which will not make things worse for people. (There must be compelling
reasons for continuing with proposals which will have the most adverse
impacts. Get advice from Legal Services)
4. Actual or potential unlawful discrimination - stop and remove the
proposal – The EIA identifies actual or potential unlawful discrimination. It
must be stopped.
Explanation of why option has been chosen. (Include any advice given by Legal
Services.)
There is an adverse impact, the council has three options, the decision is to pursue with
option 3 as the preferred option as this has the least impact groups with the protected
characteristics including those referred to in section 9 above.
Current mitigations are now in place including the existence of the concessionary travel
scheme, those people eligible for a pass will be insulated from the impacts of local bus fare
rises given they are entitled to travel for free.
Whilst the proposed inflationary increases range from 10-50p. A number of these fares
have not been adjusted for some time. As such the proposed fares are on a par with what
would have been charged if an inflationary increase had been applied each year. The
council does not currently recover its full costs for operating the services for the fare
income by way of mitigating unreasonable charges to passengers including those of
protected characteristics.
Officers will be mindful of the impact and potential effects the proposed recommendation
may have on these groups and monitoring will be undertaken as detailed in section 11.

– Executive Members
Page 167NYCC – 21 January 2022
IPT Fees and Charges /13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Section 11. If the proposal is to be implemented how will you find out how it is really
affecting people? (How will you monitor and review the changes?)
• Monitor correspondence and complaints following the introduction of any changes
• Monitoring of the services through on-going contract management
• Feedback from users, operators, Parish Councils, County Councillors and other
stakeholders
Section 12. Action plan. List any actions you need to take which have been identified in
this EIA, including post implementation review to find out how the outcomes have been
achieved in practice and what impacts there have actually been on people with protected
characteristics.
Action
Lead
By when
Progress
Monitoring
arrangements
Monitor
bus Operator/contract Ongoing
Ongoing
Through normal
patronage
manager
business
usage
processes
Monitor ENCTS
usage

Operator/contract Ongoing
manager

Ongoing

Through normal
business
processes

Section 13. Summary Summarise the findings of your EIA, including impacts,
recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal advice, and next
steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
The proposed recommendation is to approve the proposed charges to the services provided
by the Integrated Passenger Transport Team. This proposal has no direct impact on most
groups of people with protected characteristics, however it is recognised that increasing
some charges does have a minor impact on older people, people with a disability, females,
and some people from ethnic minorities as they are more likely to travel by bus. However,
given the existence of the concessionary travel scheme those people eligible for a pass will
be insulated from the impacts of local bus fare rises given they are entitled to travel free.
People living in rural areas, young people living in rural areas, unpaid carers, and those on
a low income may also be adversely impacted and may not be eligible for a concessionary
so will not be insulated as highlighted above.
Increasing the publicity around the different concessionary travel schemes available may
have a direct positive impact for customers overall, as it could be possible some travellers
are unaware of the schemes and do not currently take full advantage of them.
Officers will be mindful of the impact and potential effects the proposed recommendation
may have on these groups and monitoring will be undertaken as detailed in section 11.

Page 168

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 4

Section 14. Sign off section
This full EIA was completed by:
Name: Cathy Knight
Job title: Commercial Sector Service Development Manager Directorate: Business and
Environmental Services Signature:
Completion date: 21st December 2021
Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): M Leah
Date: 05 January 2022

– Executive Members
Page 169NYCC – 21 January 2022
IPT Fees and Charges /15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 5
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision making
process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 170

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following: Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal

Fees and Charges Report
To inform the Corporate Director Business and Environmental Services (BES) of
increases to charges made for services provided by the Integrated Passenger
Transport (IPT) and seek approval of the same.

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Business and Environmental Services
IPT
Cathy Knight
Catherine Price, Passenger Transport Contracts and Commissioning Manager
Andrew Sharpin, Fleet and Operations Manager
December 2021

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 5
Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.

The authority has three options in reviewing the fees and charges made by the Integrated Passenger Transport Team:
1. No change to the existing fees and charges.
2. An inflationary increase should be applied to one or more fee or charge.
3. An above inflation increase should be applied to one or more fee or charge.
A combination of options 1 and 2 provides the most desirable outcome as increases are only targeted to those services where required to ensure the authority
can cover its legitimate costs.
Implementing option 3 would mean that older people, people with a disability, females and some people from ethnic minorities would be adversely affected as
they are more likely to travel by bus. This option has therefore not been chosen.

Page 171
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

The proposed recommendation has no additional costs. The impact will be income neutral in some areas and increased income in others.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /17

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Where possible/relevant please include:
• Changes over and above business as
usual
• Evidence or measurement of effect
• Figures for CO2e
• Links to relevant documents

Page 172

Minimise
greenhouse
emissions

gas

X

Emissions
from travel

e.g.
reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction

Whilst some charges are being increased, a
number have not been increased for some time,
as such the proposed fares are on a par with
what would have been charged if an inflationary
increase had been applied each year. However,
there is a risk that some existing users may
choice to travel by an alternative mode and not
use the bus due to the increase in fares.
Therefore, there may be an increase
greenhouse gas emission.

APPENDIX 5
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan
mitigate any negative to improve any positive
outcomes as far as
impacts.
possible.

Ensure service data is
captured to assess
passenger numbers /
journeys to make
informed decisions

N/A

X

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /18

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Where possible/relevant please include:
• Changes over and above business as
usual
• Evidence or measurement of effect
• Figures for CO2e
• Links to relevant documents

Page 173

Emissions
from
running of
buildings

X

Other

X

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing use

APPENDIX 5
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan
mitigate any negative to improve any positive
outcomes as far as
impacts.
possible.

X

of single use plastic

Reduce water consumption
Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

X
X

Whilst some charges are being increased, a
number have not been increased for some time,
as such the proposed fares are on a par with
what would have been charged if an inflationary
increase had been applied each year. However,
there is a risk that some existing users may
choice to travel by an alternative mode and not
use the bus due to the increase in fares.
Therefore, there may be an increase in pollution.

Ensure service data is
captured to assess
passenger numbers /
journeys to make
informed decisions.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /19

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

N.B. There may be short term negative
impact and longer term positive
impact. Please include all potential
impacts over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Where possible/relevant please include:
• Changes over and above business as
usual
• Evidence or measurement of effect
• Figures for CO2e
• Links to relevant documents

Page 174

Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood risk,

APPENDIX 5
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan
mitigate any negative to improve any positive
outcomes as far as
impacts.
possible.

X

mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

Enhance conservation and wildlife

X

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

X

Other (please state below)

X

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /20

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX 5
Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

Not currently aware of any good practice relating to this.

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
If people chose to use the car over the bus, due to the increase of fares, there is an expectation that the emissions will increase across certain areas of North
Yorkshire. The same is applicable to pollution.
It is anticipated that there will be minimal, if any, impact on waste, water consumption, resilience, conservation and distinctive features and special qualities
of North Yorkshire’s landscape.

Page 175

Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Cathy Knight
Commercial Sector Service Dev Manager
IPT
BES
Cathy Knight
27.10.2020

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): M Leah
Date: 21 December 2021

NYCC – 21 January 2022 – Executive Members
IPT Fees and Charges /21

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 January 2022
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business
Case Submission
This report contains information of the type defined in paragraph 3(s) of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).
Report of the Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
1.0

Purpose Of Report

1.1

To update the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental Services (BES)
and BES Executive Members on the Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus
Regional Areas Scheme.

1.2

Following consultation with the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services and the Corporate Director Strategic Resources to seek authorisation
from Councillor Mackenzie the Executive Member for Access for the submission of
the Business Case at Appendix 1 to the Department for Transport Zero Emission
Bus Regional Areas Scheme, together with authorising the Corporate Director
Strategic Resources to accept the funding should the bids be successful, subject
to acceptable grant terms and conditions and memorandum of understanding
being received.

2.0

Background

2.1

In March 2021 the Department for Transport (DfT) announced the Zero Emission
Regional Areas Scheme (ZEBRA). The DfT stated the scheme would be a placebased scheme that would allow areas, led by local transport authorities, working in
close partnership with bus operators or as consortia with more stakeholders, to bid
for funding to purchase zero emission buses (ZEBs) and the infrastructure needed to
support them.

2.2

The DfT ZEBRA objectives:

To support the government’s commitment to decarbonisation and to reduce the
transport sector’s contribution to CO2 emissions.

To support the roll-out of the 4,000 Zero Emission Buses that the government
committed to in February 2020.

To support bus manufacturers in the development of zero emission bus
technology.

To support partnership working between Local Transport Authorities, bus
operators, and other local stakeholders as set out in the National Bus Strategy.

To understand better the challenges of introducing zero emission buses and
supporting infrastructure to inform future government support for Zero Emission
Buses.

Page 177

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

2.3

The scheme is a two-stage competition:

Phase 1: An Expression of Interest (EOI) stage where DfT assess the places
that show the most potential

Phase 2: A business case development stage where areas will be assessed in
more detail for potential funding support.

2.4

Local transport authorities could choose whether they want to follow a fast-track
application process or a standard application process.

2.5

An indicative timetable was also provided as follows:

2.6

The county council submitted an Expression of Interest to the Fast-track process but
unfortunately this was not successful. An Expression of Interest was subsequently
submitted to the Standard process and on 27 July 2021 confirmation was received
from DfT that the county council had been successful in being shortlisted to Phase 2
Business Case development.

3.0

Consultation and Application Proposals

3.1

During March 2021 North Yorkshire County Council commissioned consultants to
investigate and understand the county’s local bus operator’s preparedness for
transitioning to zero emission bus fleets. The six largest operators, representing
approximately 95% of the public transport network in North Yorkshire, were notified
of commissioned work and were asked to take part in a consultation meeting to share
their fleet renewal plans, their understanding of ZEB technology and any particular
challenges or obstacles they could foresee in the deployment of ZEB in their fleets.

3.2

After announcement of the DfT ZEBRA programme and funding opportunity the
council contacted all local bus service operators in the county, over 20 in total,
notifying them of the funding opportunity and asking them to let the council know if
they had interest in submitting the required operator information for inclusion in an
Expression of Interest submission. A handful of operator responses were received
but none were suitable for taking forward into a final submission. Reasons including
submitting requests to include minibuses, which the guidance confirmed would not be
accepted and just requesting funding but being unable to provide any further details
such as infrastructure requirements and evidence requirements of the scheme such
as engagement with an energy company.

3.3

As part of regular dialogue with operators, the council was already aware of one
operator’s ambitions to transition their fleet to 100% ZEBs. In addition, early
discussions with another operator indicated they were advancing their plans to
commence introducing ZEBS into their fleet but that they are planning to transfer to a
new depot location in the foreseeable future.

Page 178

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.4

After careful consideration of all the information and taking into consideration:

The objectives of the ZEBRA scheme

The presence of four Air Quality Management Areas in Harrogate and
Knaresborough, of which bus emissions contribute to the source apportionment
in all four areas

North Yorkshire’s zero emission bus roadmap which forms part of North
Yorkshire Bus Service Improvement Plan

Operators ability to meet the operator / third party funding requirements of the
ZEBRA scheme

3.4.1 The preferred option for inclusion in the business case submission was to submit
proposals to transition 100% of Transdev’s Harrogate fleet to zero emission vehicles
along with required supporting infrastructure.
3.5

The full business case is available at Appendix 1. It should be noted that the
business case may require some further amendments such as refinement and /
enhancement of the text etc to further improve the quality of the document, along
with final formatting and design/layout of the document.

4.0

Equalities

4.1

Consideration of the impact on groups of people with protected characteristics has
been considered. In summary, whilst the identified impacts are positive for a number
of groups of people with protected characteristics, one potential negative impact has
been identified. As electric vehicles are quieter than combustion engine alternatives,
there is the potential for an adverse impact to blind and partially sighted people.

4.2

The project is likely to deliver a number of positive impacts to a number of groups of
people with protected characteristics. The council will work local bus operators that
already operate such vehicles to identify if the potential adverse impact identified is
likely to materialise and if so the council will work with the preferred bus operator
partner to identify evaluate the benefits of interventions to address this adverse
impact, for example including artificial bus noise on the vehicles.

4.3

A full equalities impact assessment is available within the Business Case at
Appendix 2.

5.0

Finance

5.1

Full financial details are included in Appendix 1.

5.2

The total proposal costs are £20,337,300 with DfT ZEBRA funding sought for
£7,925,111. Third party funding contribution of £12,412,190 is secured to support
the proposal.

5.3

The council is not providing a funding contribution to the proposal. The council does
not bear the risk for any increased costs or any ongoing maintenance costs. As such
there is no impact on revenue budgets, other than the legal advice as detailed at
point 5.4.

5.4

The council has sought external legal advice as required by the DfT ZEBRA
guidelines. The total costs incurred as at 6 January 2022 are £1,479.00 (excl VAT).
Should there be any further external legal advice required before business case
submission this is not expected to exceed £750.00. Costs to date and any future
costs will be funded from the existing IPT revenue budget.

Page 179

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.5

There will also be staff resources associated with delivery of the proposal. The
following cost categories exist for North Yorkshire County Council during delivery of
the proposal:

Project management and administration, including monitoring and evaluation

Financial oversight

Other professional and technical support

Communication / Marketing

5.6

Forecast resource planning estimates over the project delivery lifespan are as
follows:

BES 2.5 days per month

Finance 2 days per quarter

Legal 4 days (total)

Comms 3.5 days (total)

5.6.1 Given the minimal staff resource no additional staff are required and work will be
managed through existing staff. As such there will be no additional costs to salary
budgets.
5.7

The council has not yet received from the Department for Transport any
Memorandum of Understanding or grant funding conditions. The acceptance of any
funding will be subject to these conditions being acceptable to the council.

6.0

Legal

6.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any legal implications arising from
the recommendations of this report. It is a requirement of the DfT ZEBRA Standard
Track – Supplementary Guidance that Local Transport Authority’s business cases
should:

Confirm that they have received external legal advice on their business case
proposal

Demonstrate how the proposal will abide by procurement, state aid and subsidy
regimes

Outline clearly how the scheme satisfies the principles under the Trade and
Cooperation Agreement.

6.2

External legal advice has been sought from Freeths LLP. Their full advice is
available at Commercial Case Annex 2 of the Business Case. In summary:

6.3

As a general proposition, the making available of Grant Funding is not generally
regarded as a Public Procurement.

6.4

The Public Contract Regulations 2015 requirements are not directly relevant in this
context. We anticipate a Grant Funding Agreement will be put in place to protect
public monies and allow for potential “clawback” if Grant monies were not spent in
accordance with agreed conditions and requirements.

6.5

More significantly, consideration needs to be given to the grant in terms of what was
formerly known as “state aid” (now commonly referred to as “Subsidy Control”) given
that state resources in the form of a grant are being granted to an “economic
operator” which may distort competition. Subsidy Control rules are now provided for
in the Trade and Competition Agreement (TCA).

Page 180

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

6.6

External legal advice is such that the grant could fall within the category of “general
infrastructure” which is generally not to be regarded as “State Aid” (now, more
properly “subsidy”) at all given that the funding is targeted at improving public
transport. However, even if this funding was not categorised within the “general
infrastructure exemption” external advice is that the funding is likely to be lawful as it
satisfies the “Common Principles” provided for in the TCA (for example it satisfies a
“public policy objective” and is “proportionate.”

7.0

Climate Change

7.1

A Climate Change Impact Assessment has been completed and this is attached at
Appendix 3.

7.2

It is not anticipated that this proposal impact emissions from construction, running of
buildings and other. It is not anticipated that this proposal will minimise waste or
reduce water consumption. It is not anticipated this proposal will impact resilience to
the effects of climate change or will enhance conservation and wildlife or safeguard
the distinctive characteristics, features and special qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape.

7.3

The proposal will have a positive impact and emissions from travel and will replace
39 diesel engine vehicles with battery electric vehicles on a one for one basis. The
current carbon impact of each combustion vehicle to be replaced as part of this
proposal is an average 1282g CO2 per km compared to 438g per km for the battery
electric vehicles. This positive impact will be ongoing over the life of the new
vehicles. There will also be emission savings from road tanker diesel delivery as this
will no longer be required.

7.4

The proposal will have a positive impact on the pollution. The current carbon impact
of each combustion vehicle to be replaced as part of this proposal is an average
1282g CO2 per km compared to 438g per km for the battery electric vehicles. This
positive impact will be ongoing over the life of the new vehicles. There will also be
emission savings from road tanker diesel delivery as this will no longer be required.
As electric vehicles are quieter than combustion engine alternatives there will be a
reduction in noise pollution.

8.0

Recommendations

8.1

Following consultation with the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services, the Corporate Director Strategic Resources and the Assistant Chief
Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) that Councillor Mackenzie the
Executive Member for Access authorises any amendments to the business case to
further improve the quality of the document as detailed at outlined at section 3.5.

8.2

Following consultation with the Corporate Director, Business and Environmental
Services and the Corporate Director Strategic Resources that Councillor
Mackenzie the Executive Member for Access authorises the submission of the
Business Case at Appendix 1 to the Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus
Regional Areas Scheme, together with authorising the Corporate Director Strategic
Resources to accept the funding should the bids be successful (subject to
acceptable grant funding conditions being received).

Page 181

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

MICHAEL LEAH
Assistant Director – Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Author of Report: Cathy Knight
Background Documents:
DFT ZEBRA 2021 to 2022 Call for Expressions of Interest
DfT ZEBRA Business Case Development Guidance
DfT ZEBRA Standard Track – Supplementary Guidance

Page 182

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2

Equality impact assessment (EIA) form:
evidencing paying due regard to protected
characteristics
(Form updated April 2019)
Zero Emission Buses Funding Area Funding Bid

If you would like this information in another language or
format such as Braille, large print or audio, please
contact the Communications Unit on 01609 53 2013 or
email communications@northyorks.gov.uk.

Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) are public documents. EIAs
accompanying reports going to County Councillors for decisions are
published with the committee papers on our website and are available in hard
copy at the relevant meeting. To help people to find completed EIAs we also
publish them in the Equality and Diversity section of our website. This will
help people to see for themselves how we have paid due regard in order to
meet statutory requirements.
Name of Directorate and Service Area
Lead Officer and contact details
Names and roles of other people
involved in carrying out the EIA
How will you pay due regard? e.g.
working group, individual officer

Business and Environmental Services
Integrated Passenger Transport
Cathy Knight
cathy.knight@northyorks.gov.uk

Officers will consider the council’s equality duty
and be mindful of the impact and potential effects
of the proposal to people with any of the protected
characteristics as defined by the Equality Act
2010, or North Yorkshire County Council’s
additional agreed characteristics throughout the
delivery of the proposal lifecycle.

Page 183

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/135

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2
Steps to mitigate any potential adverse impacts
are set out in this assessment.
August 2021

When did the due regard process start?
Section 1. Please describe briefly what this EIA is about. (e.g. are you starting
a new service, changing how you do something, stopping doing something?)

North Yorkshire County Council is submitting a Business Case to the Department for Transport
through the Zero Emission Bus Regional Area scheme to secure funding for new zero emission buses
and supporting charging infrastructure in the Harrogate and Knaresborough area.

Section 2. Why is this being proposed? What are the aims? What does the
authority hope to achieve by it? (e.g. to save money, meet increased demand,
do things in a better way.)
Converting buses in the defined area to operation using zero emission buses will continue the
transition to zero emission buses operating in the area and help develop best practice for use by
other local bus service operators as they transition their fleet. There are a number of other benefits
including:
Air Quality
With zero emission vehicles that produce zero tail pipe emissions this proposal will deliver air quality
benefits, benefiting the environment and the general health of the North Yorkshire population.
Health
Improved air quality has associated improvements to the health and as such will lead to
improvements in the general health local residents and of the North Yorkshire population and visitors
who visit Harrogate and Knaresborough.
Environmental
Reduced noise pollution. This funding will and will deliver environmental benefits and accelerate the
benefits of decarbonisation, benefiting the environment – in alignment with the North Yorkshire Draft
Air Quality Strategy (2020).
Economic
Transdev has an established apprenticeship scheme which will now include training on electric
vehicle maintenance. From 2021 the apprenticeship programme has evolved to cover both
mechanical and electrical aspects with a particular focus on hybrid and zero emission technology.
All of the bus funding (£18,327,110) will be entirely retained within the county of North Yorkshire, a
significant levelling up opportunity.
Social
The zero emission vehicles will offer a high standard of customer experience. They will be equipped
with superfast 4G wifi, phone holders with USB and wireless power charging at every seat, reading
lights, bigger bins with recycling facilities and additional wheel chair spaces. Buses will have audio
visual next stop announcements with on board real time information and induction loops. Providing
accessibility improvements.
Provision of a network of zero emission Transdev fleet across Harrogate and Knaresborough will
support leisure and tourism, and encourage longer distance tourist trips into the region.

Section 3. What will change? What will be different for customers and/or
staff?


This bid will enable 39 new zero emission buses to be delivered, along with supporting
charging infrastructure, to replace and redeploy 11 Euro 5 buses and 2 Euro 6 buses.



There will be improvements in air quality and a reduction in roadside emissions.

Page 184

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/136

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2


There will be transport user improvements from the high standard bus interiors and enhanced
accessibility features, which exceed The Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations
2000 requirements.

Section 4. Involvement and consultation (What involvement and consultation
has been done regarding the proposal and what are the results? What consultation
will be needed and how will it be done?)
The council will work local bus operators that already operate such vehicles to identify if the potential
adverse impact identified is likely to materialise and if so the council will work with the preferred bus
operator partner to identify evaluate the benefits of interventions to address this adverse impact, for
example including artificial bus noise on the vehicles.
A full consultation and involvement process is not currently feasible, especially as clinically vulnerable
groups may feel at risk in face to face engagement and some users can face challenges in digital
access. Key stakeholders of groups representative of people with protected characteristics will be
engaged with and informed of these proposals and seek their involvement in understanding more
about the diverse preferences of stakeholders in relation to the proposal.
North Yorkshire County Council has carried out a level of stakeholder engagement to inform
development of this BSIP, seeking the views of a number of organisations and individuals on their
priority areas for intervention and desired outcomes. Stakeholders included:










Bus and community transport operators
Surrounding Local authorities
North Yorkshire District councils
North Yorkshire Parish Councils
North Yorkshire Elected representatives
NHS and Emergency services
Business groups
Voluntary sector organisations
Bus user groups

The council also engaged with the North Yorkshire County Councils Citizens’ panel, a group of 2,000
residents who share views and ideas to understand local priorities. This engagement found that the
top priorities for bus users in North Yorkshire (and their representatives) are:






More frequent services (ie hourly or better)
More evening and Sunday services
Simpler ticketing e.g. contactless card payment, flat fare, capped day travel ticket price
Good value adult fares
Clean, safe, accessible buses and waiting facilities

The engagement also highlighted the need for more widely available ticketing offers such as
discounted travel for young people and group travel discount for two or more people travelling
together; ticket acceptance by any operator on common routes; more availability of live bus
information available on smart phone apps; faster and more punctual services; and more demand
responsive services.
When asked about the factors that would influence the respondents to use bus services in North
Yorkshire, or use them more often, better service reliability, better service frequency and more
evening and Sunday services were the three most important factors cited. Live bus information
available on a smart phones and clean, safe, accessible buses were also cited as important factors.
Having a reliable consistent service throughout the day was also considered more important than
having high frequencies at busy times such as 3-4 buses per hour. Bus lanes in locations where
traffic congestion occurs was seen by respondents as more attractive than reduced on-street parking
or making town centre parking more expensive.

Page 185

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/137

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2

Section 5. What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be
cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
There are no financial impacts to North Yorkshire County Council other than officer staff time.

Section 6. How No
will this
impact
proposal affect
people with
protected
characteristics?
Age

Make
things
better

Make
things
worse

Why will it have this effect?
Provide evidence from
engagement, consultation and/or
service user data or
demographic information etc.
Net Zero - The UK's contribution to
stopping global warming - Climate Change
Committee (theccc.org.uk) Poorer and
more vulnerable parts of society are
expected to be more exposed to impacts
from a number of climate risks. However,
co-benefits such as reduced air pollution
are likely disproportionately to favour lowincome and vulnerable people, the former
of whom tend to live in areas worst affected
by air pollution. Increasing the number of
zero emission buses will improve air
quality.

x

The buses will be fitted with a number of
accessibility requirements (eg equipment
identifying the route, each upcoming stop)
which will assist older people and people
with certain disabilities.
Air pollution can adversely impact human
development which can have both
immediate and long-lasting effects on a
person’s health. Early childhood is a critical
time for the formation and maturation of
body systems and the time during which
most rapid changes take place. .
Increasing the number of zero emission
buses will improve air quality.
Health matters: air pollution - GOV.UK
(www.gov.uk)
Of the 620,610 people living in North
Yorkshire in 2020, 117,670 people (19.0%)
were aged 0 to 17, 347,982 people (56.1%)
were aged 18 to 64 and 154,958 people
(25.0%) were aged 65 and over. LG Inform
Older people are at higher risk of poverty
which increases likelihood of bus trips –
see information about socio economic
circumstance and use of buses, eg In 2019,
people in the lowest real income quintile
made more local bus trips on average than
any other income quintile, while those in the
highest income quintile made the least.
Annual Bus Statistics: England 2019/20

Page 186

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/138

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2

Disability

x

x

Poorer and more vulnerable parts of
society are expected to be more exposed
to impacts from a number of climate risks.
However, co-benefits such as reduced air
pollution are likely disproportionately to
favour low-income and vulnerable people,
the former of whom tend to live in areas
worst affected by air pollution. Increasing
the number of zero emission buses will
improve air quality. Net Zero - The UK's
contribution to stopping global warming Climate
Change
Committee
(theccc.org.uk)
The buses will be fitted with a number of
accessibility requirements (eg equipment
identifying the route, each upcoming stop)
which will assist older people and people
with certain disabilities.
Whilst increasing the number of zero
emission buses will improve noise pollution
(which can result in heart problems, sleep
disturbance,
slower
learning
and
annoyance, and can disrupt the natural
environment), as electric vehicles are
quieter
than
combustion
engine
alternatives, there is the potential for an
adverse impact to blind and partially
sighted people.
The buses will have enhanced accessibility
features.
Long term health problems in North
Yorkshire: 9.87% residents are “limited a
little”; 7.46% “limited a lot” – see Data North
Yorkshire.

Sex

x

People with a disability make fewer trips by
car (Transport Statistics 2019)
50.80% female, 49.20 % male in N
Yorkshire – Data North Yorkshire
Lone parents are predominantly female,
which affects socio economic status and
access to own car

Race

x

Higher proportion of female carers than
male carers, so the additional buggy
space/wheelchair space is particularly
relevant.
9.38% total resident population BAME in N
Yorkshire - LG Inform
BAME groups more frequently face socio
economic
disadvantage
which
can
correlate with living in more densely
populated areas where air quality is poor.

Page 187

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/139

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2

Gender
reassignment

Sexual
orientation

Religion or belief

x

Currently, there is no robust data about the
number of trans people in the UK.

x

It is not anticipated that these proposals will
differentially impact trans people.
Currently, there is no robust data about the
number of LGB people in the UK. Stonewall
estimate one in 10.

x

Pregnancy or
maternity

x

Marriage or civil
partnership
Section 7.
How will this
proposal
affect people
who…
..live in a rural
area?
…have a low
income?

It is not anticipated that these proposals
with differentially impact people on the
grounds of their sexual orientation,
Nomis Census Data – In N Yorkshire:
69.4% Christian; 0.3% Buddhist; 0.2%
Hindu; 0.1% Jewish; 0.4% Muslim; 0.0%
Sikh; 0.3% Other religion; 22.2% No
Religion.
Air pollution can adversely impact human
development which can have both
immediate and long-lasting effects on a
person’s health. Air pollution has potential
effects on foetal growth and exposure to air
pollution is associated with low birth weight
and premature birth.
Increasing the
number of zero emission buses will
improve air pollution. Health matters: air
pollution - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
The buses will be fitted with a number of
accessibility requirements (eg an additional
flexible space in addition to the mandatory
wheelchair space, suitable for a second
wheelchair user and/or at least two
unfolded pushchairs or prams) which will
assist bus users with pushchairs.
No evidence of impact on grounds of
marriage or civil partnership.

x

No
Make
impact things
better

Make
things
worse

Why will it have this effect?
Provide evidence from
engagement, consultation and/or
service user data or demographic
information etc.
No evidence of impact on grounds of people
living in a rural area.

x
x

Poorer and more vulnerable parts of society
are expected to be more exposed to impacts
from a number of climate risks. However, cobenefits such as reduced air pollution are
likely disproportionately to favour low-income
and vulnerable people, the former of whom
tend to live in areas worst affected by air
pollution. Increasing the number of zero
emission buses will improve air quality. Net
Zero - The UK's contribution to stopping global
warming - Climate Change Committee
(theccc.org.uk)

Page 188

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/140

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2

…are carers
(unpaid family
or friend)?

x

Carers, such as parents of young children, are
likely to benefit from the additional buggy
space/wheelchair.

Section 8. Geographic impact – Please detail where the impact will be (please
tick all that apply)
North Yorkshire
wide
Craven district
Hambleton district
Harrogate district

x

Richmondshire
district
Ryedale district
Scarborough
district
Selby district
If you have ticked one or more districts, will specific town(s)/village(s) be
particularly impacted? If so, please specify below.
The towns of Harrogate and Knaresborough in Harrogate borough in the main. The services within
the proposal will also operate to West Yorkshire (Wetherby and Leeds) and to Ripon.
The following four services are part of the proposal for conversion to zero emission buses:





The 1 between Harrogate and Knaresborough estates
The 7 between Harrogate, Wetherby and Leeds
The 24 between Harrogate and Pateley Bridge
The 36 between Ripon, Harrogate and Leeds

Section 9. Will the proposal affect anyone more because of a combination of
protected characteristics? (e.g. older women or young gay men) State what
you think the effect may be and why, providing evidence from engagement,
consultation and/or service user data or demographic information etc.
The following groups are likely to be positively impacted by the proposal:






Older people on low income
Young children living in a low income household
People with a disability* on low income
Pregnant or maternity on low income
Lone parents who are predominately female and at higher risk of poverty

* Whilst impacts are in the main positive, there is the potential for an adverse impact to blind and
partially sighted people as detailed above.

Page 189

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/141

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2

Section 10. Next steps to address the anticipated impact. Select
Tick
one of the following options and explain why this has been chosen. option
(Remember: we have an anticipatory duty to make reasonable
chosen
adjustments so that disabled people can access services and work for
us)
1. No adverse impact - no major change needed to the proposal. x
There is no potential for discrimination or adverse impact identified.
2. Adverse impact - adjust the proposal - The EIA identifies potential
problems or missed opportunities. We will change our proposal to
reduce or remove these adverse impacts, or we will achieve our aim
in another way which will not make things worse for people.
3. Adverse impact - continue the proposal - The EIA identifies
potential problems or missed opportunities. We cannot change our
proposal to reduce or remove these adverse impacts, nor can we
achieve our aim in another way which will not make things worse for
people. (There must be compelling reasons for continuing with
proposals which will have the most adverse impacts. Get advice from
Legal Services)
4. Actual or potential unlawful discrimination - stop and remove the
proposal – The EIA identifies actual or potential unlawful
discrimination. It must be stopped.
Explanation of why option has been chosen. (Include any advice given by
Legal Services.)
The proposal is likely to have a positive impact on a number of groups of people with protected
characteristics.






Improved air quality will reduce the adverse impact of air pollution:
o Young people’s development is affected by air pollution, which can have both immediate
and long-lasting effects on a person’s health. Early childhood is a critical time for the
formation and maturation of body systems and the time during which most rapid changes
take place.
o Low-income and vulnerable people, the former of whom tend to live in areas worst
affected by air pollution.
o Pregnancy/maternity air pollution has potential effects on foetal growth and exposure to
air pollution is associated with low birth weight and premature birth.
The buses will be fitted with a number of accessibility requirements (eg equipment
identifying the route, each upcoming stop) which will assist older people, people with certain
disabilities and parents who are carers for young people.
Improved noise pollution (which can result in heart problems, sleep disturbance, slower
learning and annoyance, and can disrupt the natural environment).
The vehicles will have improved accessibility features including an additional wheelchair
space.

One potential negative impact is that as electric vehicles are quieter than combustion engine
alternatives, there is the potential for an adverse impact to blind and partially sighted people. The
council will work local bus operators that already operate such vehicles to identify if the potential
adverse impact identified is likely to materialise and if so the council will work with the preferred bus
operator partner to identify evaluate the benefits of interventions to address this adverse impact, for
example including artificial bus noise on the vehicles. The council will also work with the partner bus
operator to engage with users and representatives to monitor for signs and any adverse impact.

Page 190

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/142

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2

Section 11. If the proposal is to be implemented, how will you find out how it
is really affecting people? (How will you monitor and review the changes?)







Monitoring and evaluation will be embedded into the project programme.
Current information systems will be used and monitored for example:
o Correspondence and complaints following the introduction of any changes
o Feedback from Parish Councils, County Councillors and other stakeholders such as
disability user groups
Monitoring patronage usage by user group
Passenger satisfaction surveys

Section 12. Action plan. List any actions you need to take which have been
identified in this EIA, including post implementation review to find out how the
outcomes have been achieved in practice and what impacts there have actually
been on people with protected characteristics.
Action
Lead
By when
Progress
Monitoring
arrangements
Monitoring
and
evaluation plan
Monitor current
information
systems
Monitor
patronage usage
by user group
Passenger
satisfaction
surveys

North Yorkshire
County Council
North Yorkshire
County Council /
Operator
Operator

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Ongoing

Operator

Ongoing

Ongoing

As detailed in the
plan
Through
normal
business
processes
Through
normal
business
processes
Through
normal
business
processes

Section 13. Summary Summarise the findings of your EIA, including impacts,
recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal advice, and
next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision
maker.
The Council is submitting a Business Case to the Department for Transport through the Zero
Emission Bus Regional Area to secure funding for new zero emission buses and supporting charging
infrastructure in the Harrogate and Knaresborough area. Funding received through this bid will
enable 39 new zero emission buses to be delivered, along with supporting charging infrastructure, to
replace and redeploy 11 Euro 5 buses and 2 Euro 6 buses.
There are a number of other benefits including:






Air Quality
Health
Environmental
Economic
Social

Whilst the identified impacts are positive for a number of groups of people with protected
characteristics, one potential negative impact has been identified. As electric vehicles are quieter
than combustion engine alternatives, there is the potential for an adverse impact to blind and partially
sighted people.
The proposal is likely to deliver a number of positive impacts to a number of groups of people with
protected characteristics. The council will work local bus operators that already operate such
vehicles to identify if the potential adverse impact identified is likely to materialise and if so the council

Page 191

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/143

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 2
will work with the preferred bus operator partner to identify evaluate the benefits of interventions to
address this adverse impact, for example including artificial bus noise on the vehicles.

Section 14. Sign off section
This full EIA was completed by:
Name: Cathy Knight
Job title: Commercial Sector Service Development Manager
Directorate: Business and Environmental Services
Signature:
Completion date: 26/08/2021
Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature):
Date:

Page 192

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/144

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk

Page 193

Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment
Strategic Environmental Assessment
However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.

Title of proposal
Brief description of proposal

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Zero Emission Buses Funding Area Funding Bid
North Yorkshire County Council is submitting a Business Case to the Department for
Transport through the Zero Emission Bus Regional Area scheme to secure funding
for new zero emission buses and supporting charging infrastructure in the Harrogate
and Knaresborough area.
Business and Environmental Services
Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Cathy Knight
None
August 2021

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/145

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative
options were not progressed.
Options considered:
 Option 1 – Do Nothing: No Zero Emission Buses Investment
 Option 2 – Do Minimum: Local/third party Zero Emission Buses Investment
 Option 3 – Do Something: 20 single deck (10 with op charge, 10 without) 19 double deck (with op charge), depot infrastructure and 2
pantographs
Option 1 “Do Nothing” would see no deployment of zero emission vehicles in the defined area and the existing diesel engine vehicles would
continue to operate. This would result in worsening air quality, the region falling behind in the national decarbonisation agenda, a lack of
levelling up and investment in the region and no improvements for the transport user.

Page 194

Option 2 “Do Minimum” would see some deployment of zero emission vehicles in the defined area but on a much smaller scale and over a
longer period of time. As a result, there would be much slower improvements to air quality, improvements for the transport user and significantly
less levelling up and investment in the region. The region would not benefit from an acceleration of decarbonising the public transport network.
There would be no opportunity to monitor and evaluate a full depot conversion or support bus manufacture of the next generation of zero
emission battery electric double deck vehicles suitable for operation outside urban areas without the ZEBRA funding requested within this
business case.
A fourth option of “Do Everything: All operators in Harrogate” could be considered. During March 2021 North Yorkshire County Council
commissioned consultants to investigate and understand the county’s local bus operators’ preparedness for transitioning to zero emission bus
fleets. The six largest operators, representing approximately 95% of the public transport network in North Yorkshire, were asked to take part –
this included Connexions Buses. Comments to the commissioned consultants included Connexions Buses are not considering zero emission
bus investment at present. As part of its Bus Service Improvement Plan the council has committed to supporting operators facing difficulties
transitioning to zero emission vehicles.
Preferred Option
The preferred option is Do Something Option 3. The current carbon impact of each diesel vehicle to be replaced as part of this proposal is an
average 1282g CO2 per km compared to 438g per km for comparable emission electric vehicles to be procured. As such this option delivers
significant air quality improvements, has full support of the operator involved in the proposal – this includes £12,412,190 investment
representing 61% of the proposal costs. This option will convert the first North Yorkshire bus depot to full electric bus operation. Buses will be
both double and single deck vehicles and their operations having varying route lengths and operational terrain. The full conversion of a depot

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/146

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3
will provide the ZEBRA programme with a rare and unique opportunity to monitor and evaluate to ensure a better understanding of such a
significant conversion and subsequent information will be available for other operators and local authorities to learn from.
What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.
As part of the business case preparation and submission there will be minimal impact to council budgets. It is a requirement of the DfT ZEBRA
Standard Track – Supplementary Guidance that Local Transport Authority’s should have received external legal advice on their business case
proposal.

Page 195

In terms of project delivery, if the business case is successful the council will receive DfT funds and act as grant administrator for those funds.
In addition, the following cost categories exist for North Yorkshire County Council during delivery of the proposal:
 Project management and administration
 Monitoring and evaluation
 Communication / Marketing
 Financial oversight
 Other professional and technical support
These will be covered through existing staff and budgets.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/147

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Page 196

Minimise
Emissions
greenhouse gas
from travel
emissions e.g.
reducing emissions
from travel,
increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Emissions
from
construction
Emissions
from

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any plan to improve
negative impacts. any positive
Where possible/relevant please
outcomes as far as
include:
possible.
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

X

X

X

The proposal will replace 39 diesel
engine vehicles with battery electric
vehicles on a one for one basis. The
current carbon impact of each
combustion vehicle to be replaced as
part of this proposal is an average 1282g
CO2 per km compared to 438g per km
for the battery electric vehicles. This
positive impact will be ongoing over the
life of the new vehicles. There will also
be emission savings from road tanker
diesel delivery as this will no longer be
required.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
impact emissions from construction.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
impact emissions from running of
buildings.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/148

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any plan to improve
negative impacts. any positive
Where possible/relevant please
outcomes as far as
include:
possible.
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Page 197

running of
buildings
Other

X

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g.
reducing use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption
Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)

X

X
X

It is not anticipated that this proposal will
impact other emissions.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
minimise waste.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
reduce water consumption.
The current carbon impact of each
combustion vehicle to be replaced as
part of this proposal is an average 1282g
CO2 per km compared to 438g per km
for the battery electric vehicles. This
positive impact will be ongoing over the
life of the new vehicles. There will also
be emission savings from road tanker

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/149

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer
term positive impact. Please
include all potential impacts
over the lifetime of a project
and provide an explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and Explain how you
Explain how you
over what timescale?
plan to mitigate any plan to improve
negative impacts. any positive
Where possible/relevant please
outcomes as far as
include:
possible.
 Changes over and above business
as usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact
on the environment?

Page 198
Ensure resilience to the effects
of climate change e.g. reducing
flood risk, mitigating effects of
drier, hotter summers

X

Enhance conservation and
wildlife
Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape
Other (please state below)

X
X

X

diesel delivery as this will no longer be
required.
As electric vehicles are quieter than
combustion engine alternatives there will
be a reduction in noise pollution.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
impact resilience to the effects of climate
change.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
enhance conservation and wildlife.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
safeguard the distinctive characteristics,
features and special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape.
It is not anticipated that this proposal will
impact other.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/150

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal
meets those standards.
Not currently aware of any good practice environmental standards relating to this proposal.
Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts,
including any legal advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.
Options considered:
 Option 1 – Do Nothing: No Zero Emission Buses Investment
 Option 2 – Do Minimum: Local/third party Zero Emission Buses Investment
 Option 3 – Do Something: 20 single deck (10 with op charge, 10 without) 19 double deck (with op charge), depot infrastructure and 2
pantographs
Option 3 has been included as the preferred option within the business case.

Page 199

It is not anticipated that this proposal impact emissions from construction, running of buildings and other. It is not anticipated that this
proposal will minimise waste or reduce water consumption. . It is not anticipated this proposal will impact resilience to the effects of climate
change or will enhance conservation and wildlife or safeguard the distinctive characteristics, features and special qualities of North
Yorkshire’s landscape.
The proposal will have a positive impact and emissions from travel and will replace 39 diesel engine vehicles with battery electric vehicles on
a one for one basis. The current carbon impact of each combustion vehicle to be replaced as part of this proposal is an average 1282g CO2
per km compared to 438g per km for the battery electric vehicles. This positive impact will be ongoing over the life of the new vehicles.
There will also be emission savings from road tanker diesel delivery as this will no longer be required.
7.4
The proposal will have a positive impact on the pollution. The current carbon impact of each combustion vehicle to be replaced as
part of this proposal is an average 1282g CO2 per km compared to 438g per km for the battery electric vehicles. This positive impact will be
ongoing over the life of the new vehicles. There will also be emission savings from road tanker diesel delivery as this will no longer be
required. As electric vehicles are quieter than combustion engine alternatives there will be a reduction in noise pollution.

NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/151

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Appendix 3
Sign off section
This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Cathy Knight
Commercial Sector Service Development Manager
Travel, Environmental and Countryside Services
Business and Environmental Services
Cathy Knight
26/08/2021

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature):
Date:

Page 200
NYCC – 21 January 2022 - Executive Members
Department for Transport Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Scheme – Business Case Submission/152

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Agenda Item 11
North Yorkshire County Council
Business and Environmental Services
Executive Members
21 January 2022
NSIP A66 Northern Trans Pennine - National Highways
Report of the Assistant Director – Growth, Planning and Trading Standards
1.0

Purpose of the report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to set out:

An overview of the project.

The Consenting Regime

The County Council’s involvement in the project to date

The County Council’s working relationship with Richmondshire District
Council

1.2

Also that the BES Executive Member for Access authorises the Corporate
Director, BES to authorise the Local Impact Report, the Statement of Common
Ground and further representations in response to questions from the Examining
Authority on behalf of the County Council in relation to the proposal.

2.0

The Project

2.1

National Highways are proposing eight individual schemes along the 50 miles of the
A66:
1.
M6 junction 40 to Kemplay Bank
2.
Penrith to Temple Sowerby
3.
Temple Sowerby to Appleby
4.
Appleby to Brough
5.
Bowes Bypass
6.
Cross Lanes to Rokeby
7.
Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor
8.
A1(M) junction 53 Scotch Corner

2.2

There are two schemes in North Yorkshire which form part of a suite of schemes
across 50 miles of the A66.

2.3

The North Yorkshire schemes are Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor and A1(M) junction
53 Scotch Corner, which are referred to in the project as scheme 9 and scheme 11.
There are actually 10 schemes in all as some of the schemes within Cumbria are
broken down further for project management purposes. Any one of these schemes by
themselves could be considered an NSIP in their own right.

2.4

The timescales have been tight throughout the process. The NSIP has been given an
‘enhanced status’ meaning they have been allowed by PINS to shorten the pre
examination process. Whilst their timetable has slipped, the timeframe has still been
quicker than normal.

Members
Page 201NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive
NSIP A66 /1

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.0

The project and its need as described by the applicant

3.1

Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor
There are four miles of single carriageway on this section of the A66 in need of
improving to dual carriageway to improve safety, ease congestion and provide better
access for local communities. While the road is relatively straight, it rises and falls in
areas, causing visibility issues and requiring HGVs (HGVs) to accelerate to navigate
steep inclines.

3.1.1 Multiple access points present serious safety issues where vehicles attempt to join
the single lane A66 at high speeds. Additionally, drivers are put in a vulnerable
position when attempting to slow down and leave the A66, particularly when turning
right.
3.1.2 The proposals would see a new dual carriageway section created between Stephen
Bank and Carkin Moor Farm. The new dual carriageway will be to the north of the old
A66 and the properties at Fox Hall and Mainsgill Farm. The new A66 would then rejoin the old A66 to the east of Mainsgill Farm.
3.1.3

Proposals

Widen the A66 between Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor to dual carriageway

Raise the new A66 as it passes through the cutting next to the Carkin Moor
scheduled monument. This will help us better accommodate the retaining walls
to the north and south of the new A66 and reduce any impact on the scheduled
monument itself

Use the old A66 to the south of the new A66 route for local road access and
non-motorised users. This will provide access to Dick Scott Lane, Old Dunsa
Bank and Mainsgill Farm Shop

Provide a new underpass to the north of Dick Scott Lane to allow for access to
land north of the new A66

Provide an overbridge to link Collier Lane to the old A66. The grade separation
at Collier Lane means the new A66 will pass under Collier Lane, reducing the
visual impact on the landscape

Create a new compact, grade-separated junction to the west of Moor Lane to
provide safe and easy access to the old A66, the villages of East Layton, West
Layton, Ravensworth and Mainsgill Farm Shop

Moor Lane will be realigned to connect to Moor Lane junction, allowing access
to the new A66 and the old A66

The existing junction from the A66 on to Warrener Lane will be closed and
removed. Traffic will join the new A66 via a link road to Moor Lane junction

3.2

A1(M) junction 53 Scotch Corner
A1(M) junction 53 Scotch Corner is an existing grade-separated junction on the
A1(M) to the south of Darlington. The signalled roundabout junction serves the
A1(M), the A66 and the A6055 and provides access to Scotch Corner Motorway
Service Area.

3.2.1 The existing layout is considered to have sufficient capacity to accommodate future
traffic growth. As such we will only need to provide additional lane widening on the
Middleton Tyas Lane approach to the roundabout, with some revisions to the road
markings on the roundabout.

Page 202

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /2

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

3.2.3 These minor improvements at the A1(M) junction 53 Scotch Corner would ensure
that it meets the future needs of the area for years to come and can cope with the
increased capacity of the new A66 once the project has been completed.
3.2.4 Proposals

To widen the Middleton Tyas Lane approach to the A1(M) junction 53 at Scotch
Corner roundabout from one lane to two lanes. This will result in better access
to the roundabout at this priority approach

Relocate an existing footway, bus stop, signage and lighting columns onto the
southern verge of Middleton Tyas Lane to accommodate the additional
carriageway lane

Add an additional lane within the extents of the northern bridge cross section
on the circulatory carriageway with amended lane road markings on either side
of the bridge
4.0

The Consenting Regime

4.1

The project is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) due to its size and
nature. The County Council has had recent experience of the NSIP regime through
applications at the Drax and Eggborough Power Stations and so Members may be
familiar with the process, however, a review is as follows:

4.2

The planning application will take the form of a Development Consent Order (DCO),
which will be determined by the Secretary of State. So, whilst Richmondshire District
Council will remain the relevant planning authority for the discharge of the planning
requirements within the DCO, and North Yorkshire County Council is the Highways
Authority and will be a consultee, the decision whether to grant permission for the
development lies with the Secretary of State.

4.3

The Applicant is aiming to submit its application in May 2022. Once submitted an
Examiner will be appointed, the County Council will register its interest in the
application and the Examiner will ask for our advice on it through written submissions
and verbal submission at hearings. The aim is to work with the Applicant over the
coming months to have as few areas of disagreement as possible going into the
examination and hopefully none by the end of the examination period.

4.4

We will do that using familiar methods of mitigation either by requirement in the DCO
itself or through section 106 if necessary (at the time of writing this report no section
106 needs have been identified).

4.5

The Examination period will last for six months. The Examiner will then make a
recommendation to the Secretary of State who will have a further six months to
decide. The Applicant aims to have its decision in time for the Energy Capacity
Auction in November 2019.

5.0

Joint Working with Richmondshire District Council and the Planning
Performance Agreement (PPA)

5.1

The scheme spans different Local Authority areas, some more significantly affected
than others. Cumbria and Eden are working together under a joint PPA. Cumbria
County Council is the most heavily involved council in the NSIP with six main
schemes taking place in their area compared to the two within North Yorkshire, one
of which (Scotch Corner) is relatively minor. It includes Durham and then NYCC and
Richmondshire District Council.

Members
Page 203NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive
NSIP A66 /3

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.2

NYCC and Richmondshire DC are entering into a PPA with the applicant. The
main purpose of the PPA will be to secure funding to allow for WSP to act on our
behalf supporting the highways authority input. Capacity is low following the natural
staff turnover and the County Council does not have the capacity to respond fully to
what is essentially a highways scheme.

5.3

WSP have also been procured by Cumbria County Council to work on their response
and we have been able to use the same team of people which has helped for
continuity along the route.

5.4

Cumbria County Council have approached the NSIP differently to our previous
experience of such schemes in that they have secured funding from the applicant to
carry out independent surveys and reports for their own peace of mind, rather than
relying on the applicant to carry out the surveys and develop the plans for comment.
In some cases it is thought that the applicant would not have carried out the work and
therefore Cumbria County Council are forcing the issue and making it part of the
application prior to the examination.

5.5

There are a number of areas that present an opportunity for joint working with
Cumbria County Council which would in turn strengthen the case for mitigation
across the routes. The areas WSP have been asked to consider on behalf of the
NYCC Highways Authority (and to be funded by the applicant through the PPA) are:
1)
Active travel corridors – developing an east west link across the A66 linking key
settlements/destinations
2)
Detrunking – developing a principals document setting out what we
would/wouldn’t accept. What standard we expect the road to be brought up to.
3)
Socio economic matters and Accommodation strategy
4)
Diversion routes and construction impacts
5)
Environmental mitigation
6)
Technology – to support the resilience of the route e.g. cctv, VMS
7)
Signage strategy for the scheme

5.6

These areas for joint working have been agreed in principle by the applicant and
WSP are developing work programmes for the applicant to agree. Those will include
costs.

5.7

An officer working group has been established across the authorities and there is
scope for a working group at Member and senior manager level which met on 03
November 2021

5.8

Throughout the process County Council officers will work with Richmondshire District
Council to respond to the application jointly as ‘The Local Authorities’. Examples of
this will be to submit one Local Impact Report and to agree one Statement of
Common Ground with the Applicant.

5.9

This approach is favorable to the applicant and the Examining Authority. This is how
the County Council has worked with Selby District Council in the past. Together the
two Authorities have the necessary technical specialists to respond to the application
fully i.e. NYCC will respond as the Highway Authority and on ecology matters
amongst others. Richmondshire District Council officers will respond as Local
Planning Authority and environmental health matters such as noise and air pollution.

5.10

To date NYCC and RDC have attended the briefings together and have already
submitted the Local Authorities’ repose to the applicants scoping report and statutory
consultation.

Page 204

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /4

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

5.11

Consideration is being given to a joint local Impact Report and Statement of Common
Ground with the other Local Authorities involved in the project. At this point, officers
have agreed to work jointly where possible but must remain practical when
considering delegation, sign off and overall agreement with the tight timeframes of an
examination.

6.0

Statutory Consultation

6.1

The statutory consultation recently ran for six weeks ending on 05 November 2021.
The County Council submitted a joint response with Richmondshire District Council.
The County Council was also able to consider and support the response from
Cumbria County Council

6.2

A key element of the consultation at the Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor site is the
issue raised by the East and West Layton Parish Council. The parish council has
expressed concern that access to the new all movements junction via moor lane
would have an adverse impact on the area and asked that Moor Lane be closed to
traffic. The highways authority provided the following clear response on that matter
shown at para 6.3.

6.3

‘In response to concerns raised by East and West Layton Parish Council about the
connection and use of Moor Lane to the new all movements junction, North Yorkshire
County Council consider that if Moor Lane were to be closed to traffic, this would
force all residents and other road users to use Winston Cross roads to access the
A66 and deny users the opportunity to use a far safer all movements interchange as
proposed.’

6.4

Other technical matters have been raised as part of the consultation response, for
example the number and maintenance arrangement of drainage attenuation ponds.
There has been nothing raised by the County Council or Richmondshire District
Council to suggest that an objection should be raised.

6.5

Technical design meetings are ongoing with the County Council covering drainage,
structures and non-motorised user specific sessions.

6.6

Cumbria County Council and Durham County Council both raised significant design
issues, which would lead to objection of the schemes in their area if not rectified. The
submission of the application has been delayed until May in order to rectify those
issues.

7.0

Delegation

7.1

Leading up to the submission of the application to the examiner there will be
significant resource implications for the County Council hence the PPA. Once
submitted the examination timetable is set, creating its own time pressure. Officers
have found it helpful in the past to have agreement of documents such as the Local
Impact Report and the Statement of Common Ground delegated to the Director for
Business and Environmental Services.

8.0

Financial Implications

8.1

The completion of the Local Impact Report, the Statement of Common Ground and
further representations in response to questions from the Examining Authority on
behalf of the County Council, in relation to the proposal, will have no financial
implications other than officer time. As set out above, it is intended to enter into the
Members
Page 205NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive
NSIP A66 /5

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

PPA through which officers’ professional costs will be recovered. If the PPA was not
entered into, North Yorkshire County Council would still have to supply the relevant
advice in terms of NYCC’s view of the NSIP development but costs of doing this
would not be able to be recovered.
8.2

In terms of discharging the requirements of the DCO that relate to the land within the
administrative boundary of North Yorkshire, fees will be payable to Richmondshire
District Council as the relevant planning authority for the purpose of the DCO. The
County Council may also seek to agree appropriate planning obligations, in
conjunction with Richmondshire District Council, to address the impacts referred to
above, if considered necessary in planning terms.

8.3

There are no additional financial implications arising for North Yorkshire County
Council.

9.0

Legal Implications

9.1

The County Council is a Statutory Consultee and support for the scheme is subject to
agreeing the requirements in the DCO and section 106 Agreement if required.

9.2

The County Council will have further involvement in its role as Statutory Consultee
following submission of the application and during the examinations period, including
possible attendance at issue specific, and DCO public hearings.

9.3

The DCO and other legal documents will make reference and allow for Local
Government Re-organisation in relation to any of the above points where necessary.
It is note that Cumbria County Council is currently going through the LGR process as
well.

10.0

Equalities

10.1

Consideration has been given to the potential for any adverse equality impacts
arising from the recommendation. It is the view of officers that the recommendation
does not have an adverse impact on any of the protected characteristics identified in
the Equalities Act 2010. The initial Equalities Impact Assessment form is attached at
Appendix A.

11.0

Environmental Impact Assessment

11.1

The Application is not a County Council Scheme. A full Environmental Statement will
be prepared by the applicant and submitted as part of the application. Through the
application process Local Authority officers will respond on the scoping report and the
Preliminary Environmental Impact Report (PEIR) and finally the full Environmental
Statement. Our response to this will form a large part of our response to the
application. Initial document attached as Appendix B.

12.0. Recommendations
12.1

It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and
a)
the County Council supports this NSIP Development Consent Order
application in principle, subject to agreement in relation to specific and
localised matters of detail;
b)
the Executive Member for Access authorise the Corporate Director, BES to
authorise the Local Impact Report, the Statement of Common Ground and

Page 206

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /6

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

further representations in response to questions from the Examining
Authority on behalf of the County Council in relation to the proposal.

MATT O’NEILL
Assistant Director Growth, Planning and Trading Standards
Author of Report:

Michael Reynolds, Senior Policy Officer (Infrastructure)

Members
Page 207NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive
NSIP A66 /7

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A
Initial equality impact assessment screening form

This form records an equality screening process to determine the relevance of
equality to a proposal, and a decision whether or not a full EIA would be
appropriate or proportionate.
Directorate
Service area
Proposal being screened

Business and Environmental Services
Growth, Planning and Trading Standards
A66 Northern Trans Pennine - National
Highways

Officer(s) carrying out screening
What are you proposing to do?

Michael Reynolds
National Highways are proposing eight individual
schemes along the 50 miles of the A66:
1. M6 junction 40 to Kemplay Bank
2. Penrith to Temple Sowerby
3. Temple Sowerby to Appleby
4. Appleby to Brough
5. Bowes Bypass
6. Cross Lanes to Rokeby
7. Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor
8. A1(M) junction 53 Scotch Corner
There are two schemes in North Yorkshire which
form part of a suite of schemes across 50 miles
of the A66.
The North Yorkshire schemes are Stephen Bank
to Carkin Moor and A1(M) junction 53 Scotch
Corner
This report:
(a) seeks the support in principle of the
County Council for the project as a
Statutory Consultee (and relevant
Highways Authority) and
(b) asks Executive Members to authorise the
Corporate Director, BES to authorise the Local
Impact Report, Statement of Common Ground
and further representations by the County
Council.

Why are you proposing this? What
are the desired outcomes?

NYCC has a statutory role in the planning work
relating to a NSIP. The county has no reason to
object to the proposals and therefore is seeking
authorisation to express its support in principle.
The desired outcome is clarity to the Applicant
and to the other parties over the county council’s
role and position in regard to the application, and
to how items of work surrounding the application
will be undertaken.

Page 208

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /8

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX A

Does the proposal involve a
significant commitment or removal
of resources? Please give details.

NYCC resources will be met in part by National
Highways under the proposed Planning
Performance Agreement.

Impact on people with any of the following protected characteristics as defined by
the Equality Act 2010, or NYCC’s additional agreed characteristics
As part of this assessment, please consider the following questions:
 To what extent is this service used by particular groups of people with protected
characteristics?
 Does the proposal relate to functions that previous consultation has identified as
important?
 Do different groups have different needs or experiences in the area the proposal
relates to?
If for any characteristic it is considered that there is likely to be an adverse impact
or you have ticked ‘Don’t know/no info available’, then a full EIA should be carried
out where this is proportionate. You are advised to speak to your Equality rep for
advice if you are in any doubt.
Protected characteristic

Potential for adverse
impact
Yes
No

Age
Disability
Sex
Race
Sexual orientation
Gender reassignment
Religion or belief
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
NYCC additional characteristics
People in rural areas
People on a low income
Carer (unpaid family or friend)
Does the proposal relate to an area
where there are known
inequalities/probable impacts (e.g.
disabled people’s access to public
transport)? Please give details.
Will the proposal have a significant
effect on how other organisations
operate? (e.g. partners, funding
criteria, etc.). Do any of these
organisations support people with
protected characteristics? Please
explain why you have reached this
conclusion.
Decision (Please tick one option)

Don’t know/No
info available

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
No

No

EIA not
x
relevant or
proportionate:

Continue to
full EIA:

Members
Page 209NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive
NSIP A66 /9

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Reason for decision

APPENDIX A
The report asks for authorisation for technical
planning work to be undertaken within a clear
context. This will allow the application to be
developed further, in order that a planning
consent decision can be taken at some point in
the future.
The technical work will not of itself have any ‘on
the ground’ impact’. Therefore, it is not
considered that there will be any impact on any
of the people who fall within any of the
protected characteristic groups.

Signed (Assistant Director or
equivalent)
Date

Matt O’Neill
23/12/2021

Page 210

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /10

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX B
Climate change impact assessment
The purpose of this assessment is to help us understand the likely impacts of our decisions on the environment of North Yorkshire and on our
aspiration to achieve net carbon neutrality by 2030, or as close to that date as possible. The intention is to mitigate negative effects and identify
projects which will have positive effects.
This document should be completed in consultation with the supporting guidance. The final document will be published as part of the decision
making process and should be written in Plain English.
If you have any additional queries which are not covered by the guidance please email climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk
Please note: You may not need to undertake this assessment if your proposal will be subject to any of the following:
Planning Permission
Environmental Impact Assessment

Page 211

Strategic Environmental Assessment

However, you will still need to summarise your findings in in the summary section of the form below.
Title of proposal
A66 Northern Trans Pennine - National Highways
Please contact climatechange@northyorks.gov.uk for advice.
Brief description of proposal
1.1
National Highways are proposing eight individual schemes along the 50 miles
of the A66:
9. M6 junction 40 to Kemplay Bank
10. Penrith to Temple Sowerby
11. Temple Sowerby to Appleby
12. Appleby to Brough
13. Bowes Bypass
14. Cross Lanes to Rokeby
15. Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor
16. A1(M) junction 53 Scotch Corner
NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /11

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX B
There are two schemes in North Yorkshire which form part of a suite of schemes
across 50 miles of the A66.
The North Yorkshire schemes are Stephen Bank to Carkin Moor and A1(M) junction
53 Scotch Corner, which are referred to in the project as scheme 9 and scheme 11.
There are actually 10 schemes in all as some of the schemes within Cumbria are
broken down further for the sake of project. Any one of these schemes by
themselves could be considered an NSIP in their own right.

Page 212

Directorate
Service area
Lead officer
Names and roles of other people involved in
carrying out the impact assessment
Date impact assessment started

Business and Environmental Services
Growth Planning and Trading Standards
Michael Reynolds
21-12-2021

Options appraisal
Were any other options considered in trying to achieve the aim of this project? If so, please give brief details and explain why alternative options were not
progressed.

The proposal is put forward by National Highways. It is not an NYCC led project.

What impact will this proposal have on council budgets? Will it be cost neutral, have increased cost or reduce costs?
Please explain briefly why this will be the result, detailing estimated savings or costs where this is possible.

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /12

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX B

Resource implications on the Council will be covered by the proposed Planning Performance Agreement with the Applicant

Page 213

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions e.g.
reducing emissions from
travel, increasing energy
efficiencies etc.

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Emissions
from travel
Emissions
from
constructio
n
Emissions
from

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /13

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

APPENDIX B
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Page 214

running of
buildings
Other

Minimise waste: Reduce, reuse,
recycle and compost e.g. reducing
use of single use plastic
Reduce water consumption
Minimise pollution (including air,
land, water, light and noise)
Ensure resilience to the effects of
climate change e.g. reducing flood
risk, mitigating effects of drier, hotter
summers

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /14

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

N.B. There may be short term
negative impact and longer term
positive impact. Please include all
potential impacts over the lifetime
of a project and provide an
explanation.

Explain why will it have this effect and over
what timescale?

Positive impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
No impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)
Negative impact
(Place a X in the box below where
relevant)

How will this proposal impact on
the environment?

Where possible/relevant please include:
 Changes over and above business as
usual
 Evidence or measurement of effect
 Figures for CO2e
 Links to relevant documents

APPENDIX B
Explain how you plan to Explain how you plan to
mitigate any negative improve any positive
impacts.
outcomes as far as
possible.

Enhance conservation and wildlife

Page 215

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and special
qualities of North Yorkshire’s
landscape

Other (please state below)

Are there any recognised good practice environmental standards in relation to this proposal? If so, please detail how this proposal meets those
standards.

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /15

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX B

Summary Summarise the findings of your impact assessment, including impacts, the recommendation in relation to addressing impacts, including any legal
advice, and next steps. This summary should be used as part of the report to the decision maker.

This is not a County Council Scheme.

Page 216

The Application is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP).
A full Environmental Statement will be submitted as part of the application. Prior to submission the applicant will draft and consult upon the Preliminary
Environmental Impact Report. (PEIR)
County Council Officers together with officers from Richmondshire District Council have and will continue to engage with the application in the following
environmental areas which will include the completed project and construction impacts:
Ecology and Biodiversity
Historic Landscape and Heritage
Landscape
Minerals and Waste Planning
Air Pollution
Noise Pollution
Light Pollution
Land Contamination
Impact upon the highway
Drainage and water impact
Wider climate change impact
Socio Economic Impacts
To date the County Council has submitted a joint response to the applicants scoping report and been engaged in technical meetings on some of the above
topic areas.
Following assessment of the application when it has been received the County Council officers will seek to impact the application through:
Change of the application itself
NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /16

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

APPENDIX B
Development Consent Order requirements
Mitigation through S106 agreement

Sign off section

Page 217

This climate change impact assessment was completed by:
Name
Job title
Service area
Directorate
Signature
Completion date

Michael Reynolds
Senior Policy Officer (Infrastructure)
Growth Planning and Trading Standards
Business and Environmental Services
M Reynolds
21 December 2021

Authorised by relevant Assistant Director (signature): Matt O’Neill
Date: 07-01-2022

NYCC –21 January 2022 – Executive Members
NSIP A66 /17

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

This page is intentionally left blank

